
Cabinet

Wednesday 30 March 2022 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of the 
Council

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 8)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 February 2022 
(minutes attached).

Leader of the
Council

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of the 
Council

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 24 March 2022.

Please submit any questions to 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

A written answer will be provided for each written question received (to 

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


30 March 2022

be presented to the questioner and to Cabinet (in advance of the 
meeting). The questions and answers will be taken as read and will not 
be read out at the meeting. At the discretion of the Leader of Council, 
each questioner ( in attendance at the meeting) will be allowed to ask 
one supplementary question (in response to the answer given to the 
original question). 

A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the 
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the 
meeting.

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

Key Decisions

5 Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22 (Pages 9 - 24) Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member - Finance
and Change

6 Southfield House Semi-independent Accommodation and 
Support Services for Young People (Pages 25 - 48)

Cabinet Member -
Children's
Safeguarding and
Early Years

7 Market Shaping and Review of the Estates & Commissioning 
Strategies (Pages 49 - 82)

Cabinet Member -
Adult Social Care
Commissioning

8 Adult Social Care Technology Strategy 2022 - 2025 (Pages 83 - 
98)

Cabinet Member -
Adult Social Care
Commissioning

Cabinet Member -
Adult Social Care
Delivery

9 Concessionary fare system procurement (Pages 99 - 106) Cabinet Member -
Economy,
Education and
Skills



30 March 2022

10 Bus Back Better - Gloucestershire's Enhanced Partnership 
(Pages 107 - 116)

Cabinet Member -
Economy,
Education and
Skills

11 Social Value – sustaining the recovery and levelling up. 
(Pages 117 - 136)

Cabinet Member -
Economy,
Education and
Skills

12 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk 
Management  Plan 2022-2026 (Pages 137 - 204)

Cabinet Member –
Public Protection,
Parking and
Libraries

13 Schedule of Proposed Disposals (Pages 205 - 216)

Please note: this report contains both exempt and non-exempt
information.

To discuss the exempt information detailed in the appendices to
the published report, consideration must first be given to whether
the public and press should be excluded from the meeting b
passing the following resolution:-

In accordance with Regulation 4 (2)(b) of the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012, consideration must be given to
confirm whether members of the public and press should be
excluded from the meeting for this item of business because it is
likely that, if present there would be disclosure to them of exempt
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A
to the Act, and the public interest in withholding the information
outweighs

Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member - Finance
and Change

Cabinet
Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr David Gray, Cllr Philip Robinson, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, 
Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Vernon Smith, 
Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr Kathy Williams

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 

make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance ( 01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the 
meeting.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


30 March 2022

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324204/e-mail: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


CABINET

23 February 2022

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Minutes

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE - Leader of Council
Cllr Lynden Stowe – Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance and Change
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning
Cllr Dave Norman – Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries
Cllr Phil Robinson – Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills
Cllr Tim Harman – Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities
Cllr Vernon Smith – Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood
Cllr Kathy Williams – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery
Cllr David Gray – Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning 

-

Apologies:

Cllr Stephen Davies 

1. Apologies 

See above.

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on 26 January 2022 were agreed as a correct record.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations were made at the meeting.

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

A total of 8 member questions were asked at the meeting. No supplementary 
questions were asked. 

5. Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22 

Cllr Lynden Stowe provided an update on the year-end forecast for the 2021/22 
County Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets.

The forecast revenue year end position based on January 2022 (Period 10) 
forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year was an overspend of £946k all of which is 
non Covid-19 related.

A balanced position was forecast in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and income.

The largest non-Covid-19 budget variance was the £8.893 million forecast 
overspend in Children and Families – this overspend was partially offset by the 
£6.524 million underspend in Technical & Countywide. The overspend in Children 
and Families reflected the continuing pressure on external placements. Social care 
staffing and disability services were also over-spending. 

Capital –The forecast outturn position for 2021/22 is £137.910 million, against the 
budget of £153.404 million, giving a forecast in-year slippage of 15.494 million. 

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position based on January 2022
(Period 10) forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year is an overspend of
£946k all of which relates to non-Covid-19 expenditure, as we are
forecasting a balanced position in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and
income.

2. Note delivery of the £5.717 million of savings against a target of £6.761
million in 2021/22 or 84.6% of target.

3. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of December
2021 of £137.910 million against the current budget of £153.404 million.

4. Approve the £1.041 million increase to the capital programme as
outlined in Section C.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

6. The recommissioning of Children and Family Centres as the starting point for 
the development of Family Hubs across Gloucestershire for children aged 0-
19 years (up to 25 years where children have special educational needs or 
disabilities). 

Cllr Philip Robinson, on behalf of Cllr Stephen Davies, sought Cabinet permission 
to invite tenders for new contracts for Children and Family Centres from 1st April 
2023 as a starting point in the development of the Family Hub model for children 0-
19 (0-25 for SEND) across Gloucestershire.

This procurement would allow the Council to focus on developing an agreed 
multiagency vision and principles for Family Hubs, starting with a focus on 0-11 with 
a view to incremental (age and stage) transition that was aligned with the wider 
transformation within children’s services and partner agencies.

Recently the Family Hub model had emerged nationally as an effective integrated 
model which was being encouraged by various policy initiatives

This would provide a different balance been universal and targeted services and 
was the first year of a three year incremental approach. 

Members noted the equality impact assessment provided alongside the report. 

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years, to:

a) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of one or more contracts 
for the supply of Children and Family Centres that will begin the new Family Hubs 
model across Gloucestershire. The proposed contracts shall continue for an initial 
period of 7 years and include an option to extend its/their term for a further period of 
not more than 2 years;

b) Award such contract(s) to the preferred tenderers.

2. Delegate power to the Assistant Director for AMPS to grant leases for the 16 
sites to the preferred tenders as required.

7. Local Welfare Provision 2022-2024 Contract Extension 

Cllr Tim Harman, on behalf of Cllr Stephen Davies, sought Cabinet approval to 
exercise an option to extend the term of the council’s existing Gloucestershire 
Welfare Support contract for a period of 2 years (2022/23 & 2023/24), following the 
expiry of its initial 3 year term.  He outlined the background within the report and the 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

options that had been available. Option one to continue with the contract had been 
put forward.

Applications to the Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme could broadly be 
categorised into two:

 Crisis awards: awards which helped alleviate extreme pressure on the 
health/safety of an individual or family

 Care awards: awards that helped people moving back into the community to 
settle i.e. Care leavers, homeless individuals

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Approve the exercise of a 2 year extension option (commencing 01/04/2022) under 
a contract with Auriga Services Ltd for the provision of Local Welfare Support 
services in respect of the Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme for eligible 
adults, families and young people that was awarded pursuant to a decision by 
Cabinet dated 18/07/2018.

8. Health and Social Care Independent Advocacy Services for Adults, Children 
and Young People 

Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin and Cllr Kathy Williams, sought Cabinet permission to 
invite tenders for new contract(s) for Children’s and Adults advocacy services from 
30th September 2022 and to award such contract(s). The proposed model provides 
for a contract divided into the following 2 lots:

Lot 1. Independent Advocacy Health and Social Care for Adults.
Lot 2. Independent Advocacy for Children and Young People.

This would allow an alignment of Independent Advocacy services across Health 
and Social Care for Adults, Children and Young people to meet the Council’s 
statutory duties laid down in the Mental Health Act 1983, the Mental Health Act 
2005, the Care Act 2014 and the Children Act 1989, in addition to the Human 
Rights Act of 1998.

This aligned contract(s)for the duration of the term and saved resources for 
Commissioning and support services in a joint procurement exercise. In addition, it 
had the potential to gain more interest in the marketplace.

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Delegate authority to the Executive Director for Adult Social Care and Public Health 
in consultation with the Executive Director of Children’s Services, the Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning, the Cabinet Member for Adult Social 
Care Delivery and the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of the following two lots:

a) Lot 1: The provision of Independent Advocacy services across Health and Social 
Care for Adults; and

b) Lot 2: The provision of Independent Advocacy services across Health and Social 
Care for Children and Young people. Such lots may be awarded to the same 
tenderer or awarded to two separate tenderers. The contract(s) shall continue for 
an initial period of five years and include an option to extend their terms for a further 
period of not more two years.

2. Reserve the council a right under the above-mentioned contract (Lot 1) insofar as 
it relates to Independent Advocacy Services for Adults to modify its provisions 
following the introduction of anticipated legislative changes Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards and Liberty Protection Safeguards, changes arising from the Mental 
Health White Paper and the expectation of increased demand for advocacy for self-
funded clients. It is anticipated that such changes will result in increased 
requirement to commission additional volume of existing statutory advocacy for 
adults (up to an additional 50%), depending on yet to be released Government 
guidance.

3. Award such contract(s) to the preferred tenderer(s) for the specified period of five 
years.

4. Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of the contract(s) for 
a further period of not more than 2 years on the expiry of the initial 5-year term.

9. Gloucestershire’s Holiday Activity and Food Programme 

Cllr Philip Robinson, on behalf of Cllr Stephen Davies, sought Cabinet approval for 
the commissioning of the Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) programme.

The Council had received the grant determination letter in December 2021 
confirming the allocation of £1,594,880 for delivery of the HAF during 2022- 2023 
and would do annually for each year of the programme. The new national 
programme consisted of six weeks, for four days a week of services spread out 
over the main school holidays, (one week at Easter, four weeks during the summer 
and a final week during the Christmas school holidays). 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

During 2021, the Council had worked with District Lead Organisations and local 
providers successfully delivering the Holiday Activities and Food programme. The 
Programme reduced holiday loneliness, hunger, and the loss of education. With 
over 140 activity providers, children, and young people across Gloucestershire, 
kept active and engaged and had access to healthy food, during the school 
holidays.  The programme reached, 37% of children and young people eligible for 
Free School Meals at Easter, 57% in the summer school holidays and 49% during 
the winter school holidays.  

The Council therefore intended to commission the Holiday Activity and Food 
Programme in Gloucestershire and meet DFE requirements in 2022 – 2023 and 
beyond subject to future funding being available using the following approach:

 To allocate grants to six District lead organisations and local providers for Easter 
2022

 establish a modified framework for commissioning of the Holiday Activity and 
Food Programme in Gloucestershire summer 2022 onwards and award call-off 
contracts thereunder

 To allocate funding to meet the requirements of the HAF programme
 To allocate 10% of the budget to cover the administration of the programme.

This would ensure that the Easter 2022 HAF Programme was commissioned within 
tight timescales.  This created a three-year modified framework to enable the 
commissioning of HAF related activities from six district lead organisations and 
provided the Council with the flexibility to secure the participation of a wide range of 
local providers, based in communities across Gloucestershire, ensuring that they 
met the requirements of the HAF programme. This approach ensured the Council 
had the flexibility to fund activities to the meet the requirements of the HAF 
programme.

Members commented that they were pleased to see the scheme continue in the 
future. One member commented on the management of 140 activities and asked 
whether there was an opportunity for the Council to seek benefits of scale by 
reducing the numbers of providers. In response it was explained that this was a 
good point, but that the programme was affectively managed by the six districts. 

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Approve the allocation of £239,232 from the £1,594,880 received by the council 
from the Department for Education (“DfE”) pursuant to a Section 31 Grant 
Determination for the Holiday Activities and Food Programme (HAF) 2022 -2023 
(No: 31/5854) (referred to in these Recommendations as the “HAF 2022 -2023 
Funding”) for the provision the Holiday Activity and Food Programme during the 
Easter School holiday period (11th – 14th April 2022) as follows:

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

1.1 £187,674 shall be apportioned between the six Gloucestershire districts based 
upon the number of children and young people who are eligible to receive Free 
School Meals (“FSM”) in the relevant district as set out in Annex One. £36,230 from 
such sum shall be provided as grants to district lead organisations for the purpose 
of developing the delivery of the Holiday Activity and Food Programme in their 
district. £151,444 shall be allocated to a grants pot that will be used by local public, 
private and voluntary sector organisations to deliver enriching activities and food to 
children and young people who are eligible to receive FSM.

1.2 The remaining £51,558 shall be allocated to funding the delivery of the HAF 
programme during the Easter Holiday period 11th April to 14th April 2022, by funding 
activities to meet the requirements of the programme and with a view to providing 
nutritional education, family support, tickets for local attractions, activity packs and 
other such items in line with the funding guidance from the DFE. The opportunity to 
receive such grants will be advertised and made available by way of an online grant 
application and due diligence process using the council’s online procurement 
system and local voluntary and public sector networks.

2. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning to award the grants and funding described in Recommendations 
1.1 and 1.2 above.

3. Approve the allocation of £159,488 (i.e., 10% of the £1,594,880 HAF 2022 -2023 
Funding) to support the council’s administration costs in relation to the delivery of 
the Holiday Activity and Food Programme across Gloucestershire during the period 
1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023.

4. Delegate Authority to Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years to:

4.1 Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a multisupplier three 
year (2022 – 2025) Modified Framework Agreement under which public, voluntary 
and private sector organisations shall be engaged by the council (subject to receipt 
by it of additional DfE funding) to co-ordinate the council’s future HAF programmes, 
comprising the provision of holiday activities, food ; family support; nutritional 
education, and such other related deliverables as may be required during school 
holidays (referred to in these Recommendations as the “HAF Deliverables”). Such 
Modified Framework Agreement shall remain open throughout its term to enable 
further tenderers to be admitted to it on a rolling basis.

4.2 Appoint each of the council’s preferred tenderers to such Modified Framework 
Agreement.

4.3 Allocate £988,368 from the £1,594,880 HAF 2022 -2023 Funding to fund the 
provision of the HAF Deliverables in line with DFE requirements during the period of 
the Summer 2022 school holidays (1st August to 26th August 2022) and Christmas 
2022 school holidays (19th to 22nd December 2022).

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

4.4 Conduct mini-competition processes in respect of as many Call-Off Contracts 
under such Framework Agreement as may be required for the purpose of procuring 
HAF Deliverables described in Recommendation 4.3 and then award such Call-Off 
Contracts to the preferred tenderers. If the value of any single proposed Call-Off
Contract under such Framework Agreement exceeds £500,000, a separate Cabinet 
decision shall be required to authorise the procurement of such Call-Off Contract.

5 Allocate £207,791 from the £1,594,880 HAF 2022 – 2023 Funding to the delivery, 
in accordance with DFE of funding guidance, of the HAF programme in the financial 
year of 2022 - 2023 for the purpose of filling any gaps and shortfalls in delivery that 
may exist in relation to the HAF deliverables procured under Recommendations 4.3 
and 4.4.

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 10:25

Page 8



REPORT TITLE: Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22

Cabinet Date 30th March 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Deputy Leader/Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2021/22 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Recommendations

That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position based on February 2022 
(Period 11) forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year, which is an underspend 
of £640k all of which relates to non-Covid-19 expenditure. The Covid-19 
related expenditure and income outturn is forecast to be a balanced 
position.  

2. Approves one-off funding of £480k to support the Education, Health and 
Care plans (EHCP) and Education Psychology (EP) service, funded from 
general reserves. The short-term one-off investment will place the service 
in a stronger position to undertake its service transformation programme 
and prepare for the Local Area SEND Inspection anticipated in 2023.

3. Approves the acceptance of the Homes England capital grant of £1.5m via 
Tewkesbury Borough Council for M5 Jct.9 development costs should we 
be successful in the bid. 

4. Approves, in principle, the acceptance of the Active Travel Fund Tranche 3 
DfT grant whilst awaiting confirmation of its award and value.  Any funding 
will have to be accounted for before the end of March 2022.

5. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of January 2022 
of £130.023 million against the current budget of £153.425 million.

6. Approves the recommended transfer of £4.7 million of the Local Council 
Tax Support Grant to the Rates Retention Reserve as referred to later in 
this report. 

7. Approves the £70k decrease to the capital programme as outlined in 
Section B. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



Reasons for 
recommendations

To ensure that Councillors and the public are made aware of the Council’s 
current financial position. 

To utilise funding provided by the Government across a number of financial 
years, in line with the purpose of the grant.

To reflect the effects of minor changes within the Capital Programme.
Resource 
Implications

These are detailed within the report

Background 
Documents

MTFS Report to 12th February 2021 County Council and Financial Monitoring 
Report to Cabinet 21st July 2021, 22nd September 2021 10th November 2021 
22nd December 2021, 26th January 2022 & 23rd February 2022

Statutory Authority

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

County Wide

Officer Alistair Rush, Interim Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
 Alistair.rush@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926

jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Timeline Not applicable

Page 10

mailto:Alistair.rush@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Revenue Expenditure 2021/22

A. Revenue Forecast Outturn Position 2021/22

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position is an underspend of £640k 
against the revenue budget of £483.008 million, based on forecasts in February 2022 
(Period 11) after utilising grants for Covid-19 expenditure. 

2. The largest non-Covid-19 variance is the £8.665 million forecast overspend in 
Children and Families – this overspend is partially offset by the £6.524 million 
underspend in Technical & Countywide. 

3. The Council’s forecast cost of the Covid-19 pandemic (excluding expenditure funded 
from specific grants) is estimated to be £22.472 million in 2021/22 which is funded by 
£11.526 million 2021/22 Covid-19 Emergency Grant and £10.946 million carried 
forward from the 2020/21 Emergency Grant. A balanced position is therefore forecast 
for Covid-19 related activity.   

4. In addition to the £22.472 million of general Covid-19 grant funding detailed above, 
the Council has also received specific Covid-19 related grant funding. The specific 
grant allocations for 2021/22 total £30.933 million with an additional £16.632 million 
carried forward from 2020/21. Details are in the table below; -

Page 11



Other Covid -19 Related Grant Analysis

Forecast 
spend 
21/22        
£m

Carry 
forward 
for 22/23     

£m

Grants to be 
paid back 

£m

Received 
for 21/22 

£m

Brought 
forward 

21/22     
£m

Infection Control Grant  7.620 7.620
Department of Health & Social Care Workforce Recruitment 
and retention 4.875 4.875

Department for health and Social Care-Rapid Testing 4.605 4.605

Department for health and Social Care-Omicron Support 0.632 0.632

Test & Trace 0.751 -0.675 1.426

Covid-19 Bus Service Support Grant 0.180 0.180

H2ST DFE grant 0.373 -0.203 0.237 0.339

DHSC -Contain Outbreak Management fund 10.480 -5.893 3.036 13.337

Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Winter Grant Scheme 0.524 0.524

Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Local Support Grant 1.396 1.396
MHCLG Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV) people
Tranches 1-4 .  1.435 0.205 1.230

Community Testing 0.819 0.819 0.000

Holiday & Activities Fund 20/21 2.035 2.035 0.000

DWP - Household Support Grant 3.692 3.692 0.000

Practical support payment 1-6 1.376 1.255 0.121

Other Covid -19 related grant 40.794 -6.568 -0.203 30.933 16.632

5. The following additional grant allocations have been confirmed since the previous 
Cabinet Report

 Department for Health & Social Care Community Testing net increase £28k

6. The assumption in this report is that relevant expenditure will not exceed the value of 
these specific grants – any underspend will either need to be returned or carried 
forward to be spent in accordance with the grant conditions in future years.

7. An analysis of the current forecast outturn position is provided in the table and 
narrative below. 

Page 12



Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position February Forecasts 2022 (P11)

Variance

Revised 
2021/22 
Budget

%
Forecast 
excluding 
Covid-19

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 155,751 155,932 181 0.12% 2,361 -2,180 

Prevention & Wellbeing 35,113 34,844 -269 -0.77% 12 -281 

Children & Families 125,985 145,132 19,147 15.20% 10,482 8,665 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 76,158 78,340 2,182 2.87% 2,482 -300 

Community Safety 19,997 20,091 94 0.47% 114 -20 

Corporate Resources 36,903 43,864 6,961 18.86% 6,961 0 

Total for Services 449,907 478,203 28,296 6.29% 22,412 5,884 

Technical & Countywide 33,101 26,637 -6,464 -19.53% 60 -6,524 

Total 483,008 504,840 21,832 4.52% 22,472 -640 

Additional Funding Covid-19 including 
carry forward to be allocated 22,472 0 -22,472 -22,472 

Revised Total 505,480 504,840 -640 -0.13% 0 -640 

Covid-19 
Forecast

Service Area

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance

Page 13



Adult Social Care 

8. Adult Social Care is reporting an overspend of £181k which includes £2.361 million 
for the COVID-19 costs. Excluding the COVID-19 costs the underlying underspend 
amounts to £2.180 million. The underspend relates to the increasing pressures of 
recruiting and retaining staff across Adult Social Care teams, creating a one-off 
underspend position in 2021/22. The service has identified funding for a recruitment 
campaign to fill posts ahead of the significant changes that implementation of the 
Government’s Build Back Better: Our Plan for Health and Social Care  reforms will require.  
Work is being carried out to understand the resources required to stabilise the current 
workload across the operations teams which ahead of the start of the next MTFS 
cycle is not funded. If the closedown process allows, a proportion of this underspend 
will be requested to recruit additional staff and support the funding transition. 

9. Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £9.879 million. The reserves continue 
to be held as Vulnerable Adults Reserve at £5.430 million, with £4.449 million carried 
forward from 2020/21 anticipated to be used in 2022/23, primarily due to delays 
caused by COVID-19.

10.There continues to be a number of significant risks that are ongoing which mainly 
relate to: COVID-19, S117 backdated payments with £428k being paid to date, 
responding to winter pressures, as well as the Adult Single Programme (ASP).

11.The forecast cost of the COVID-19 response for 2021/22 within Adults is made up of:
 £1.166 million of additional support to care providers
 £0.121 million miscellaneous spend across a range of budgets
 £1.074 million ASP savings at risk

£2.361 million funded by General COVID-19 Grant

 17.733 million of: Infection Control Fund; Rapid Testing and Vaccine 
Grant; Workforce Recruitment and Retention Grant; Omicron Support  

12.Learning Disabilities (LD) External Care is projecting a £2.608 million underspend. 
The £2.608 million relates to £1.714 million of MTFS funding which is not expected to 
be used during 2021/22 because of delays relating to COVID-19 and a further £894k 
of underlying underspends.  Although this funding is not needed in this financial year 
it is incorporated in the full position for the Transforming Care Programme and is 
therefore needed in next financial year.

13.Older People (OP) and Physical Disabilities (PD) is reporting a £6.335 million 
overspend. The overspend is split across individual service budgets with OP showing 
as £3.601 million and PD £2.734 million. The current overspend relates mainly to the 
brought forward underlying financial position, voids relating to homes run by a major 

Page 14



provider, increased cover for bad debts, additional demand and winter pressures, and 
support to the external market.

14.The Mental Health position is a £1.165 million overspend as calculated by the 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHST Finance Team, net of unallocated MTFS 
growth and savings held by the Lead Commissioner. A long-term plan is being 
developed with Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Trust to address the underlying 
overspend.

15.Community Equipment and Telecare is reporting an underspend of £1.044 million. 
The Community Equipment Service (CES) pooled Budget is reported online.  Funding 
held by the Programme Director – Housing, Health and Care is reporting an 
underspend of £798k.  Telecare is reporting a £246k underspend due to delays in 
progressing the move from an analogue to a digital service, now anticipated to be a 
cost in 2022/23.

16.Other Services is comprised of all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as 
several specific commissioned contracts. The position for these services nets to a 
£4.295 million underspend, including these significant variances of:

 £384k overspend in Commissioning EIO due to additional beds.

 £4.679 million of underspends: £541k Care Act due to delayed 
projects/recruitment; £316k Safeguarding due to vacancies; £326k 
Gloucestershire Integrated Brokerage due to vacancies; £298k OP Hub due 
to vacancies; £1.664 million OP/PD Integrated Social Care Management 
(ISCM) largely due to vacancies; £603k LD Assessment, Support Planning & 
Management mainly due to vacancies; £424k In-House Provision (LD) due to 
vacancies; and £507k made up of other smaller variances. 

17.Unallocated Budget is reported as £552k underspent which is being utilised to offset 
some of the overspend in External Care

Prevention and Wellbeing 

18.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number of 
smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants. In total Prevention 
Services are £269k under-spent but this includes £12k of Covid-19 general 
expenditure. 

19. In total Covid-19 grants either carried forward or allocated in year to the Council total 
£20.033 million. The funding will be targeted at continuing the containment and 
management of the outbreak through testing and tracing, supporting vulnerable 

Page 15



groups and communities. Of the total funding available, £6.568 million is committed 
in 2022/23.

20.The underlying non-Covid-19 position for Prevention and Well Being is a £1.864 
million under-spend. Public Health services are funded by a ring-fenced grant, which 
if unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific reserve. The Public Health 
(PH) position, excluding Covid-19 expenditure, is forecast to be £1.583 million under-
spent and this will be transferred to the PH reserve at year end. Therefore, the 
forecast non-Covid-19 underspend net of the transfer to the PH Reserve is £281k 
relating to prevention hub activities and supporting people contracts.

21.The forecast under-spend for Public Health is due to lower take-up for health checks 
as fewer people are currently accessing the service, dispensing costs for substance 
misuse, activity against the substance misuse and healthy lifestyles contracts (both 
affected by COVID) and the cost of staff involved with the COVID response being 
charged to grants instead of the Public Health grant. The estimated cost for Agenda 
for Change pay awards (£199k) in 2021/22 is offset by these under-spends.

Children & Families

22.The current outturn forecast for non-DSG funded services is an over-spend of 
£19.147 million (15.19% of budget). Included within these figures is the forecast 
additional cost of the impact of Covid-19 on budgets which totals £10.482 million 
giving an underlying over-spend of £8.665 million. The over-spend continues to be 
primarily against the external placements budget, due to increasing numbers of 
children in care, partly linked to the pandemic but also linked to the number and cost 
of placements. Social care staffing, disability services and home to school transport 
are also over-spending. 

23.Additional forecast expenditure for the impact of Covid-19 covers three key areas 
which are external placement costs including the additional cost of accommodation 
for care leavers, cost of social care staff and support to vulnerable pupils. A significant 
part of this forecast includes the continuing impact on social care and education 
services even though lockdown measures have eased. Covid-19 grants totalling £8 
million are forecast to be spent including the Winter Grant, Local Support Grant, 
Holiday Activities Fund and Household Support Fund. 

24.Activity levels within social care continue to cause significant budgetary pressures 
and in particular against external placements. At the end of January 2022 children in 
care numbers were 836, compared to 754 at the end of April 2020. Gloucestershire’s 
number and rate of children in care is above statistical neighbours but remains below 
the England average.

Page 16



25.The current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget is £15.373 
million (49.4% above budget). The forecast also includes the current and future 
impact of Covid-19 on placement numbers which totals £8.42 million, resulting in an 
underlying over-spend of £6.953 million. The underlying over-spend is due to the 
number of residential, fostering and supported living placements and also the cost of 
complex residential placements. The current forecast average unit cost of a 
placement is £114,800 per annum, (residential/supported living average unit cost of 
£183,500). There are currently 474 external placements, of which 111 are residential 
and 139 supported living placements. 

26.To address this position the strategy is to bring the child in care population more in 
line with statistical neighbours over the coming years.  This will involve a range of 
measures, aimed to impact on both numbers and associated costs, including  
 further developing our edge of care offer to support children at home and to 

prevent their escalation and entry into care;
 increasing the number and proportion of children placed with in-house foster care;
 continuing to develop our own placement provision with providers to exert a 

greater influence on the market and control costs;
 continuing to develop our permanence planning to reduce drift and delay and 

ensure children can leave our care in a timely manner by achieving permanence 
or reunification as appropriate.

27.Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast over-spend of £963k (5.1% 
above budget) with an underlying position net of COVID of £517k. Effective 
management of the workforce, improved processes for recruitment, more effective 
advertising and the support and training provided by the social work academy should 
address the current cost pressure. Turnover of staff is rising and has been between 
20.3% and 22.4% over the last six months and at the end of January there were 118 
agency workers in post which is an increase on previous months. 

28.Home to School transport is reported as £803k overspent and is due to the number 
and cost of the transport for SEN pupils, due to procuring new routes and the number 
of solo journeys required.

29.Services for children with disabilities are forecasting to over-spend by £1.445 million 
due to the increased cost of care packages, including s.76 contracts with Health, and 
disability service staffing costs.

30. In-house fostering and adoption services are under-spent by £766k due to activity at 
the start of the year being below budgeted assumptions. 

31.The service that assesses children for Education, Health and Care plans (EHCP) is 
under increasing pressure due to the actual increase in requests for support being far 
above what was anticipated and the MTFS resource allocated for 2022/23. This is 

Page 17



putting a severe strain on a service that already has a significant backlog of reviews 
and assessments to complete, resulting in delays to the support these vulnerable 
pupils receive, alongside challenging staff recruitment and retention issues. To 
address the backlog in the short term, it is proposed that one-off funding of £480k is 
allocated to the EHCP and Education Psychology (EP) service. For both services this 
will provide additional casework capacity to enable the service to begin tackling the 
annual review amends backlog, support those currently coming into the service. The 
short-term one-off investment will place the service in a stronger position to undertake 
its service transformation programme and prepare for the Local Area SEND 
Inspection anticipated in 2023.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

32.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent by 
£19.967 million in 2021/22, which includes the deficit carry forward of £13.67 million 
and the deficit budget for High Needs of £4.093 million including adjustments between 
Local Authorities. The deficit budget results from setting realistic budgets within high 
needs services, reflecting growth trends and existing activity demands on special 
school and independent provision and top up budgets. High needs top-up budgets for 
colleges, special schools, primary and secondary schools are forecasting a £2.718 
million overspend due to increased demand.

33.Gloucestershire’s high needs block, like most LAs nationally, is currently in deficit. 
The increase in the allocated funding for 2022/23 of an additional £6.968 million and 
a further £2.989 million Supplementary Grant will be required to meet forecast 
demand pressures for additional special school places and support to mainstream 
schools. The LA and Schools Forum are looking at proposals on how to resolve this 
deficit, and initiatives to tackle need more effectively and reduce costs in the long run. 
A financial recovery plan is being developed alongside this review. 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure

34.Economy, Environment and Infrastructure are currently forecasting an overspend 
position of £2.182 million (2.9% of the budget).  This is made up of £2.482 million due 
to the impact of Covid-19, as set out in the paragraphs below, offset by a non covid 
related £300k underspend.

35.Loss of income is forecasted to be £1.262 million which is split between £206k from 
Registrations and Libraries, £1.000 million from parking related income and £56k from 
other income.

36.Covid-19 costs are forecasted to be £1.220 million made up of £188k for the 
Economic Recovery Strategy, £15k for PPE and social distancing related spend, 

Page 18



£792k for additional Covid related expenses against Highways, £150k of other spend 
across the directorate on a range of issues and £75k of unachievable savings relating 
to Libraries. 

37.Vacancies across the EE&I directorate have resulted in a forecasted £300k 
underspend.  

38.Cabinet approval to accept a Homes England capital grant via Tewkesbury Borough 
Council of £1.5m for use against M5 Jct.9 is recommended. The grant will have 
conditions to spend against capital in 21-22 and we will use the Capital fund to carry 
forward the equivalent amount as revenue funding into 22-23.  The 22-23 revenue 
fund will be earmarked to be used against the M5 Jct. 9 Outline Business case. A 
decision on the bid is expected mid-March so this approval request is subject to a 
successful bid outcome.  

Community Safety Directorate

39.The Community Safety Directorate is forecasting an overspend of £94k (0.47% of budget). 
Estimated costs attributed to Covid-19 amount to £114k so excluding these, a minor 
underspend of £20k is forecast. 

Corporate Resources

40.Corporate Resources are forecasting an overspend of £6.961 million (18.86% of the 
budget). Included within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of 
COVID-19 on budgets which totals £6.961 million, therefore the underlying forecast, 
excluding the impact of COVID-19, is a balanced position.

41.The additional forecast expenditure of £6.961 million arising from the impact of Covid-
19 incudes £178k in the Asset Management & Property Services budgets, £90k 
against Occupational Health, £85k Information Management Service, £40K in Policy 
& Performance, £1.294 million Legal costs and 180k in the Directorate budget, 
together with a contingency allocation of £5.049 million which is available to support 
known Covid-19 related commitments in 2022/23.

Technical and Countywide

Page 19



42.The forecast outturn position for Technical and Countywide budgets is a £6.464 
million underspend, included within these figures is a £60k additional cost of the 
impact of Covid-19. The main areas of variance are highlighted in the paragraphs 
below.

43.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances are forecast to produce a £1.035 million 
under spend during the year. This is lower than previous years as a result of lower 
interest rates introduced to mitigate the economic impact of Covid-19. 

44.The 2021/22 budget includes a savings contingency. This was approved by Council 
to reflect the high-risk nature of some of the savings programmes in demand led areas 
in 2021/22. £1.229 million is being used to support the overall budget position for 
2021/22. 

45.The 2021/22 budget includes a Pay & Price provision to fund unexpected price 
increases during the financial year, £1.200 million is being released to support the 
overall budget position for 2021/22. 

46.There is a forecast underspend on the corporate Insurance budget totalling £425k 
based on trend analysis of insurance premiums.

47.An underspend of £1.685 million within the Capital Financing Budget is now forecast 
following reductions in projected capital financing costs due to slippage on approved 
capital schemes.

48.Other County Council Contingencies are currently reporting underspends, mainly  the 
LGPS Employers Contributions Contingency. 

49.The Council has received additional funding in 2021-22 to help to offset prior, current 
and future year issues with lower collection amounts from Council Tax Income.  The 
funding is by way of a Local Council Tax Support Grant and totalled £4.7 million.  Due 
to the uncertainties around future collection levels, part of this funding (£1.7 million) 
is being used to balance the 2022-23 Budget, offsetting some of the deficit on the 
Collection Fund and lower tax base increases, so it is proposed to carry forward this 
element to the Rates Retention Reserve. This will leave residual funding from the 
grant of £3 million that is un-ringfenced, and it is proposed that this also is transferred 
to the Rates Retention Reserve. 

B. Capital Expenditure 

Page 20



Current Spend 2021/22

50.The current capital budget for 2021/22 is £153.425 million. Actual spend against the 
capital programme as at the end of January 2022 (period 10) is £90.806 million.

Budget and Forecast Outturn Position 2021/22

51.The forecast outturn position for 2021/22 is £130.023 million, against the budget of 
£153.425 million, giving a forecast in-year slippage of £23.402 million.

Service Area

Reprofiled
Budget
2021/22

Current
Year

Spend
2021/22

% Current
Year

Spend
Against

Reprofiled
Budget

Forecast
Outturn
2021/22

Forecast
Year-end
Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0
Adults 8,817 4,578 52 8,572 -245
Childrens Services

Schools 40,857 29,790 73 37,592 -3,265
Non-Schools 520 141 27 455 -65

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Highways 63,927 46,693 73 63,529 -398
Strategic Infrastructure 4,809 389 8 3,103 -1,706
Waste Disposal 608 117 19 184 -424
Libraries 417 189 45 320 -97

Community Safety
Fire and Rescue Service 772 586 76 621 -151
Trading Standards 39 0 0 0 -39

Corporate Services
AMPS 10,409 6,158 59 10,447 38
ICT Projects 8,436 1,878 22 4,881 -3,555
Business Service Centre 227 82 36 227 0
Archives & Information Management 113 19 17 79 -34
Digital Innovation (Customer) 974 186 19 13 -961
Investing In Self Funded Income Schemes 12,500 0 0 0 -12,500

Total 153,425 90,806 59 130,023 -23,402

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2021/22

Children’s Services Capital Programme 2021/22

Page 21



Schools

52.The Schools Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £3.265 million against the 
realigned 2021/22 budget. This is mainly due to delays to the new Bishops Cleeve 
Primary School, as previously reported, and further slippage across various projects.

Economy, Environment and Infrastructure Capital Programme 2021/22

Highways

53.The Highway Capital Programme is forecasting an in-year slippage of £398k against 
the realigned 2021/22 budget.  This relates to highway works at Llanthony now being 
delivered in the next financial year.

Strategic Infrastructure

54.The Strategic Infrastructure Programme is forecasting slippage of £1.706 million 
against the realigned 2021/22 budget. £1.645m of this relates to Broadband and is 
linked to delays from contracts awarded as part of the Fastershire delivery 
programme.  The remaining £61k is made up of £110k slippage on Flood Alleviation 
schemes which is due to change in focus of certain schemes and delays in project 
milestones by multiple factors including Covid restrictions and £49k advance spend 
against the Multi Modal Transport Model.

Waste Disposal

55.The Waste Disposal Programme is forecasting slippage of £424k against the 
realigned 2021/22 budget. This relates to the Hempsted HRC flood alleviation 
programme which has taken longer to agree the designs (due to the complexity of 
excavating in and around a landfill site), and the refurbishment work at Wingmoor 
Farm HRC has been delayed because the revision of the site’s red line area for waste 
operations requires a revision of the planning permission and this is yet to be granted.

Corporate Services Capital Programme 2021/22

AMPS

56.The AMPS Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £369k against the current budget, 
mostly relating to delays in the Planned Capital Maintenance programme.

ICT

57.The ICT Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £3.6 million against the current 
budget, mostly relating to: -

Page 22



 £2.5 million the project to replace the Wider Area Network (connecting 
buildings) with the Local Area Network (inside buildings including updates to 
Wi-Fi) has been delayed by 4 months. The roll out is planned to commence 
early March, with a quarter of sites connected by the 31st March. The costs 
for the remaining sites will move into next financial year.

 £631k on Desktop devices due to procurement delays.

Digital Innovation (Customer)

58.The Digital Innovation (Customer) Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £961k 
against the current budget, mostly due to: -

 £650k (as reported to December Cabinet) relates to slippage on the Business 
Analytics procurement.

 £291k Business Analytics due to procurement issues a data partner has not been 
secured which has resulted in delays to the programme. 

Investing in Self-Funded Income Schemes

59.The Investing in Self-Funded Income Scheme is forecasting £12.5 million slippage.  This 
will be carried forward for investment in self-funded income schemes in the future.

Other Services Capital Programmes

60.All other services are forecast to spend within £250k of the current budgets.

Changes to the Capital Programme in 2021/22 and future years

Schools

61. It is proposed that Cabinet approves a decrease of £90k in the Schools Capital 
Programme relating to the Leckhampton High School project. This relates to the cost 
of transporting High School pupils to and from their temporary provision located at 
Balcarras School pending the opening of the High School in September 2022. These 
costs will be paid through the children’s services revenue budget and funded by a 
transfer of £90k from the capital fund reserve.  

Highways

62. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £20k in the Highways Capital 
Programme funded by an £11k developer contribution for tree planting and £9k 
additional contributions from parish councils to fund Community Offer projects.

63. It is proposed that Cabinet approves, in principle, to accept the Active Travel Tranche 
3 DFT capital grant and increase the Capital Programme by the same amount.  The 

Page 23



exact value and conditions for the grant, at the time of writing, are due to be confirmed 
imminently by the DFT. 

Overall

64.As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will decrease by 
£70k. 

Page 24



REPORT TITLE: Southfield House Semi-independent Accommodation and Support 
Services for Young People

Cabinet Date 30 March 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies - Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval for the re-modelling of Southfield House, to 
support the implementation of the Sufficiency Strategy, by developing 
quality semi-independent accommodation and support services for 
vulnerable young people.

Recommendations

That Cabinet:

1) Approves an allocation of £3.35million of capital funding to the proposed 
remodelling of Southfield Site (both Main and Old House buildings) for the 
purpose of delivering accommodation for care experienced young people 
who may also be in employment, training or apprenticeships.

2) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Children’s Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, 
and the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years to:

a) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract for 
the delivery of day-to-day delivery of accommodation and support 
services, with 24/7 staffing to support the young people placed. The 
successful tenderer for such services will also finance all ‘fit out’ costs 
for the re-modelled accommodation. Such contract shall continue for an 
initial period of 5 years and include an option to extend its term for a 
further period of 2 years.

b) Award such contract to the preferred tenderer.
c) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of such 

contract for a further period of 2 years on its fifth anniversary.

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



3) Delegates authority to the Assistant Director for AMPS in consultation with 
the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change to:

a. Conduct a competitive procurement process under the Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Major Project Framework (or its replacement) in 
respect of a call-off contract for the supply of remodelling works in 
respect of:

 Southfield Main House:  for the purpose of providing the       
following accommodation for care leavers.

o 13 studio flats, 2 two-bedroom flats
o 2 well-being flats
o 1 single bedroom flat (used as an emergency/Police And 

Criminal Evidence bed) 

 Southfield Old House: for the purpose of providing the following 
accommodation for young people who are in employment, 
training, or apprenticeships

o 7 one bed flats
o 1 two bed flat
o 1 crash pad

b. Award such call-off contract to the preferred tenderer.

Reasons for 
recommendations

This proposal joins up a number of key strategic priorities 
for Gloucestershire’s Children Services in regard to the 
implementation of the Sufficiency Strategy:

a) Provide quality provision for young people in county.
b) Provide services that support young people throughout their pathway 

to independence.
c) Reduce the number of high-cost semi-independent placements.
d) Improve the council’s ability to place the most vulnerable 

young people in placements that comply with regulatory 
requirements

e) Builds on the success of Trevone House by building high 
quality in County accommodation and support for care 
leavers.

Page 26



Resource 
Implications

This project has both capital and revenue implications:
Overall Costs 

Capital Costs: 

Note:

a. that £2.35 million capital funding for Southfields site is included in the 
approved capital programme.

b. that £1 million capital is provided and approved via the CCG
Revenue Costs:

*young people that would have otherwise been placed in external semi-
independent placements. 

The estimated running costs for Southfield Main House and Old House 
total (over 7 years): £14,692,832 

Southfield Main House:

The indicative costing for the 20 beds at Southfield Main House is based on the 
annual cost of Trevone House.
This is calculated (all costings exclude inflation):
 £1,816,200 (2021/2 annual cost of Trevone) / 52 (weeks per 

year) = £34,926
 £34,926/ 20 (beds at Trevone and Southfield) = £1,746

These costs include the provision of 2 well-being suites, the creation costs of 
which are contained within the Main House capital costs, additional revenue 
will be applied for from the CCG when required and based on the individual 
needs of the young person. Also included in the revenue costs will be a 
Staying Close offer which will support young people when they move off 
the Southfields site and in to independent accommodation in order for 
them to make a seamless and successful transfer. 
The total value of the revenue costs (over 7 years) is anticipated to 
be £12,713,400
The table in Appendix 1 shows the expected annual contract cost for 
Southfields Main House together with the current costs for the 20 young 
people identified from the Commissioning Hub Placement Tracker and placed 
in external semi-independent provision who could be expected to move to the 
new provision. The current average cost of these placements is £2,607 per 
week compared to £1,746 per week at Southfields. Over the expected length 
of the contract (7 years) the expenditure on Southfields together with those 
young people not placed out of the initial 20 due to the lower occupancy at 
the start up phase, identified results of £4.368 million of cost avoidance 
versus the cost associated with those young people remaining in their 
current placements.  

Southfield Old House:

The support needs of the young people in Southfield Old House will be 
markedly less than those accommodated in the Main House, support staffing 
has therefore been estimated at 25% of the Main House (i.e. rather than 4 
members of staff on duty 24/7 there would be 1 member of staff on duty 
24/7). There is an expectation however that additional housing and 
employment support may be required which has been estimated as the 
equivalent of an additional of 16 hours per day and has been included in the 
expected revenue costs in the table Appendix 2. Overall this still results in a 
substantially reduced weekly cost when compared to the Main House. 

As before a sample of young people has been taken from the Placement 
Tracker to provide an indicative comparison. If GGC continued to fund the 
previous placements for the young people calculated in the figures below, the 
cumulative cost per year over 7 years would be £4,919,593 for the 10 beds. 
The cost of the Southfield Old House compared to existing spend equates to 
a cost avoidance of £2,448,201. 

Total value of contract is anticipated to be £1,979,432

Overall Costs
The costs of maintaining and refurbishing Southfields Main and Old House in 
order to provide a 20 bedded semi-independent provision together with 10 move 
on flats when balanced against the continued external spend associated with the 
young people the service is intended for results in an overall cost avoidance of 
£6.82 million over the life of the contract, a table showing this is attached as 
Appendix 3.

Capital Cost Source of Funding
Southfield  
House (Main 
and Old House 
buildings) 

£3.35 million Southfields Capital Budget 

Total Revenue Cost (over the 
potential 7-year contract)

Source of Funding 

Southfield Main 
House (see table 
1 below)

£12,713,400 Approved existing 
external 
placement 
budget*

Southfield Old 
House 

£1,979,432 Approved existing 
external 
placement 
budget*

Page 27



Background 
Documents

To consider the future of selected care homes in Gloucestershire and the 
relevant consultation 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1149

To consider the future of selected care homes in Gloucestershire and the 
relevant consultation 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=923

Care Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulations 2010.
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-
care-planning- placement-and-case-review

Sufficiency Strategy for Children and Young people 2018-2021 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s50668/Item%207%2
0-
%20Sufficiency%20Strategy.pdf

Childrens Commissioner report 2020 - unregulated provision 
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/09/cco- unregulated-children-in-care-living-in-semi-
independent-accommodation.pdf

Unregulated Government Response 2021 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ 
attachment_data/file/962686/Unregulated_government_response_Final.pdf

Childrens Commissioner Stability index 2020 
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/report/stability-index-2020/

Statutory Authority Children Act 1989

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Cllr Dr David Drew, Stroud Central

Officer Wendy Williams
Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families Commissioning Tel: 
01452 328526 Email: wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline March/April 2022- To conduct a mini competition under the 
Gloucestershire County Council approved Major Project Framework (or 
such replacement Framework) for the building works.
May 2022- Upon conclusion of the mini competition, and in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Skills and Growth, enter into a 
contract with the preferred provider evaluated as offering the Council best 
value for money for delivery of the capital works
June – October 2022- To conduct a compliant tender process for the 
operational delivery of the service and upon completion, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Children’s services, enter into a contract with 
the preferred provider evaluated  as offering the Council best  value for 

Page 28

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1149
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=923
%2520https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-
%2520https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-placement-and-case-review
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s50668/Item%207%20-%20Sufficiency%20Strategy.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s50668/Item%207%20-%20Sufficiency%20Strategy.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s50668/Item%207%20-%20Sufficiency%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/cco-unregulated-children-in-care-living-in-semi-independent-accommodation.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/cco-unregulated-children-in-care-living-in-semi-independent-accommodation.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/cco-unregulated-children-in-care-living-in-semi-independent-accommodation.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/cco-unregulated-children-in-care-living-in-semi-independent-accommodation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/962686/Unregulated_government_response_Final.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/962686/Unregulated_government_response_Final.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/report/stability-index-2020/
mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


money for delivery of the services.
 November 2021 – February 2023- Mobilisation with service fully    
operational, from March 2023.

Page 29



Background

1. This paper outlines Gloucestershire’s ambition to build on the 
success of Trevone House (measured by the outcomes described in 
the ‘options’ section of this report), by proposing plans to use 
Southfield House for services to children and young people. 
Southfield House is owned by Gloucestershire County Council and 
was utilised as an older people’s residential home. The building has 
been declared surplus to requirement by Adult Social Care (ASC) 
and is currently empty.

2. All local authorities with responsibilities for Children’s Services have a 
duty to provide or procure placements for Children in Care (referred 
to as children looked after in legislation) and this clarity is explicit in the 
Children Act 1989. This has since been strengthened by the 
introduction of Sufficiency Statutory Guidance (2010) and the Care 
Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulations 2010.

3. This duty of “sufficiency” requires local authorities and partners to 
ensure that, through direct provision or commissioned services, a 
range of placements sufficient to meet the needs of all children are 
available locally, or that there is a plan in place to move towards that 
position. Gloucestershire’s Sufficiency Strategy (Right Placement, 
First Time) was launched in 2019 and describes our ambitious plans 
regarding how GCC intends to provide sufficient care placements for 
its Children in Care. This Strategy has been received very positively 
by our partners and the market.

4. The guidance also requires that the commissioning standards on 
securing sufficient accommodation for children in care, also apply to 
children in need who are at risk of care or custody (referred to as 
children on the edge of care). This is important since it is preferable, 
where it is in the best interest of the child, to provide support to avoid 
the need for them to become Children in Care.

5. A key part of Gloucestershire’s Sufficiency Strategy is to implement a 
wider range of local accommodation options, as well as highly specialist 
services to support children and young people who are at the ‘Edge of 
Care’, and where more in-depth   preventive work may delay or avoid 
Care and offer the opportunity to re-unify and stabilise families. The 
opportunity to re-purpose the use of Southfield House (previously used 
as older people’s  accommodation)  to establish  both accommodation 
and therapeutic  day provision,  ensures  we can continue  to deliver on 
our strategic objectives  for Children  in Care and avoid potential  high-
cost placements.

6. Accommodation for the 16 – 25 age groups is particularly needed, 
and this proposal will provide accommodation for 16-25 year olds. 
This age group are the second biggest cohort to enter care and 
have the poorest outcomes.

Page 30



7. Placements for this cohort are scarce and generally high cost and 
there is a real need for higher quality placements at a reasonable 
cost. Currently, these placements are causing budget pressures on 
the external agency budget;

 The average weekly supported living fee has fluctuated over the past 3 
years1, comparison figures for 2021/22 are not yet available but previous 
years are noted below:

                 2018/19 = £1,930
2019/20  = £2,168
2020/21  = £1,521

 These figures are based on the average cost incurred by GCC for the 
provision of semi-independent accommodation over the past 3 years. This is 
evidence that with the introduction of Trevone House in 2020/21 the average 
cost reduced, as we moved many complex young people into Trevone.

8. The table below demonstrates the clear increase in demand for semi-
independent accommodation. A large number of these are complex 
placements for young people within supported living settings who are 
receiving additional support which is having an adverse effect on the 
budget  position.  The COVID pandemic has also seen an increase in 
the number of over 18’s remaining in placements (which are included 
in these figures).

1 Figures from FOI responses 2021/22

Supported Living Placements

Month 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Apr 21 14 8 19 29 37 55 66 121
May 21 12 6 19 35 39 60 80 120
Jun 22 12 12 23 32 38 63 83
Jul 22 10 14 29 32 43 67 92
Aug 16 9 14 25 34 43 66 92
Sep 14 8 15 23 34 39 71 102
Oct 13 8 15 24 37 39 68 100
Nov 11 7 14 21 41 47 65 104
Dec 12 6 18 26 37 54 67 101
Jan 12 8 18 28 35 56 58 107
Feb 14 5 16 36 35 57 61 110
Mar 15 7 20 34 33 52 61 73

Page 31



2017/182016/17
2021/22

2015/16
2020/21

2014/15
2019/20

2013/14
2018/19

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Supported Living Placements

9. Procurement exercise will be undertaken to seek a provider to manage 
the centre and work with all partners such as the Council, 
Gloucestershire Health and Care trust, Police and the voluntary sector 
in order to deliver a holistic offer for children and young people, to meet 
their education, health and social needs. Any procurement process 
will require providers to evidence a strong track record of running 
good to outstanding provision for children and young people, and 
able to foster good relationships with the local community.

10. The report arising from our Ofsted Focussed Visit in February 2020 
stated – 

“Astute commissioning is undoubtedly having a positive impact on the 
lives of some children and young people, but a lack of sufficiency in 
terms of the range and type of placements available for children in 
care, particularly in an emergency, is a significant problem. Lack of 
placement choice severely restricts the ability to match children and 
carers properly and increases the potential for placement disruption. It 
also results in the sporadic use by the local authority, when all else fails, 
of unregistered or unregulated placements, although never without an 
appropriate level of senior management oversight.” 

Page 32



The refurbishment of Southfield House presents an opportunity to 
address the issues identified by Ofsted.

11. Options

Option One: Remodelling of Southfield Main & Old House

 To authorise the decisions set out in the Recommendations section of this report. 
This includes:

a. Undertaking a compliant competitive tender exercise and 
appointing a provider for the remodelling of Southfield House (to 
include the main Southfield building and the Southfield Old House). 
The proposed remodelling will provide a resource centre for 
children and young people, provision of a health assessment unit, 
an educational day service and apartments for young people to be 
able to learn the skills of daily living to prepare them for adulthood.

b. In addition to the remodelling works, undertaking a compliant 
tender exercise, and appointing a provider for the day-to-day 
delivery of the accommodation and support services. The provider 
will be expected to finance all “fit out” costs for the re-modelled 
provision. The length of contract proposed will be for five years 
with an option to extend for a further two years.

Southfield Main House

This model has three key service elements.  The well-being 
provision will be registered by the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC):

Area 1: flexible semi-independent provision (maximum 18 
young people aged 16 plus, plus 1 emergency bed)

 The flexible semi-independent provision will have support staff present at all 
times, with group space for activity sessions, independence training and office 
space. The core accommodation will consist of 13 studio flats on the ground, 
first and second floor; there are two stairwells, which access all three floors. 
There will also be 2 two- bedroom flats, to either support young people moving 
to independence, providing the opportunity to have shared training flats, or, for 
more complex young people, offering the flexibility of 24/7 intensive support if 
required, as staff can be accommodated within the two-bedroom flats. This will 
reduce the need for 2:1 staffing, as the site will already have staff on duty 24/7 
to support all young people in placement. Finally, on the ground floor there will 
be 1 self-contained single bed flat, this will be used as an emergency/Pace And 
Criminal Evidence bed for young people needing a same day or diversion from 
custody. Staying Close will also offer outreach support for young people 
moving into their own tenancy, to allow young people to have the support they 
need from staff they know well and trust.

Page 33



Area 2: designated “drop in” service

 This will comprise a dedicated drop in space for care leavers and care 
experienced young people. It will offer a local resource in partnership with the 
leaving care and local services, as space for care leavers to get support, as 
well as space for education and therapeutic and activity sessions. This is for 
young people who are not accommodated at Southfields but will allow for 
dedicated support that is young people focused and delivered locally. A 
comprehensive programme will deliver services to young people with the 
flexibility where required for space at weekends and out of hours activities. 
This initiative supports a more “place based” model offering young people a 
local resource in Stroud rather than expecting them to travel into central 
Gloucester.

Area 3: wellbeing flats

 This area will comprise two self-contained flats over first and second floors. 
The accommodation is for young people needing assessment or step-down 
accommodation from Tier 4 Health beds with placements reviewed jointly by 
social care and Health and where additional support is required this will be joint 
funded with Health. The well-being suites will be registered with the CQC.

 This design allows for the project to accommodate a number of young people 
with differing needs and level of support. Previous evidence from Trevone House 
suggests that at any one time there would only be four young people needing 
high support (1:1) leaving the remainder of the building to support young people 
with medium and low needs. This is to create an environment of aspiration, so 
young people have positive role models, for independent living, education, 
employment and training.  It also allows young people to grow and develop 
within the project rather than having to move placement and provider once they 
begin to flourish.

 Young people will be able to stay within the Southfield complex (Main House 
and Old House) or a Staying Close arrangement from the ages of 16yrs to 
25yrs, allowing them to develop in their own time as they journey into adulthood.  
This will take out additional transition points and allows for a trauma informed 
commissioning model, allowing young people to feel safe, cared for and 
develop a real sense of belonging.

 Using this model there will be a maximum capacity to accommodate up to 20 
young people at any one time and a minimum capacity of around 13 young 
people. 

 Please note the financial profiling for this project assumes that occupancy of the 
complex will be incremental: 

Year Occupancy 

Page 34



Level 
Year 1 75%
Year 2 80%
Year 3 
(onwards) 95%

 This will ensure the project has a mobilisation period and young people are 
placed in a timely and planned way. This has been slightly expanded from 
Trevone as the actual occupancy numbers were higher than expected.

Southfield Old House

 Southfield Old House is linked to the main Southfield building, it will offer 
accommodation for care experienced young people who are in employment, 
training or apprenticeships, enhancing the whole offer at Southfield, providing 
move-on accommodation for young people in their final stages of requiring care.

 This additional offer will include:
 7 one bed flats
 1 two bed flat (for a care experienced person with a child/or shared 

custody.
 1 crash pad, for a young person over 18yrs who is potentially homeless
 Dedicated communal space for the young people living in the facility

Capital Costs

The renovation of the Southfield Site £3.35 million which is broken down into:  

a) The main House which will cost £2.5 million.
 
b) The additional refurbishment costs of Southfield Old House estimated at £850K. 

The capital costs will be funded via £2.35 million from the approved Council 
capital programme and £1 million grant from the CCG Capital Programme.

Opportunities

Delivering both Southfield Main and Old House may result in cost avoidance of 
approximately £6.82m over 7 years when compared to the costs of maintaining 
existing placements.

Risks

 The most immediate risk is we will continue placing young people needing 
semi- independent accommodation in high cost poorly regulated provision, 
which is scattered around the county and very often further afield, adding 
further cost pressures to the external placement budget.

Page 35



 Through a robust leasehold contract, risks related to the management of the 
building will be minimised.

 There is a risk that a good to outstanding provider will not be identified to take 
on this contract, however, this risk will be minimised through market 
engagement and a compliant procurement process designed around the 
requirements of this new service.

 There are minimal risks related to planning, due to no material change to the 
use of the building. One risk is around local residents and their potential 
opposition to children and young people residing in Southfield House. This risk 
will be mitigated through early engagement with the local community.

 There is a risk that GCC will not be able to fill the facility with young people 
and will therefore have excess capacity. The overheads of running both the 
Southfield Main House and Old House, will stay the same regardless of the 
level of occupancy.

 It could be the case that GCC is unable to appoint a good to outstanding 
provider to run the service on its behalf. 

Option 2: Remodelling of Southfield Main House Only

 The development of Southfield Main House only will have a direct impact on 
the usage and development capacity for Southfield Old House, potentially 
leaving the Old House derelict for the life time of the Main building contract. 
Additional security and maintenance for the Old House would be required.

 The service delivery costs for the Old House are £1.979m.  This option will 
reduce the overall cost of the offer.

Risks

 Option 2 will limit the realisation of the full potential benefits of the site as a 
whole.

 This option could potentially have a negative impact on supporting young 
people throughout their pathway to independence.

 If Southfield Old House is empty, there will be an additional cost for the security 
and maintenance of the empty old building. 

 By not utilising both buildings, there could be a reduction in our sufficiency 
offer to young people.

Option 3: Development of Southfield site but run by the Council 

Page 36



Risks:

 GCC has little recent experience of running a complex semi independent 
provision such as Southfields.

 The development of the internal structures to support Southfields (identifying 
and recruiting staff, management and governance arrangements, etc) would 
be time consuming and more expensive than outsourcing.

Option 4: Do Nothing (continue as we are)

Risks:

 Option 4 potentially could limit GCC’s fulfilment of its Sufficiency Strategy by:

 The continuation of funding high cost out of County placements.
 The placement of young people at a distance away from their support 

networks.
 This option will hinder GCC’s provision of services that support young 

people throughout their pathway to independence.

Preferred option: option 1

 In order to meet the recommendations made by Ofsted, Option 1 is the 
preferred option. It will enable GCC to widen the range and type of placements 
available for young people, achieving a higher level of sufficiency.

 It will offer our young people high quality accommodation and support which is 
lacking within the current provider market.

 Through the development of Trevone House, more young people have been 
placed in county; there is greater flexibility in provider support to our young 
people, particularly those with more complex or challenging needs.

 This option will create additional capacity for emergency / Police and Criminal 
Evidence and crash pad provision for young people at times of crisis.

 Trevone House has already enabled some significant improvements for the 
young people who live there. These include;

Reduction in ‘Missing hours’ (time missing from placement)

 In this context the term ‘missing hours’ can be defined as, the amount of time 
that a young person is not in their registered placement. More specifically, 
from the point that they are registered missing to the police until they have 
been found.  The data below is relevant because it represents a significant 
reduction in the overall missing hours of specific young people prior to them 

Page 37



being placed in Trevone House compared to when they were placed in 
Trevone House. 

 Data taken from the young people living at Trevone House over the past 
year:

Number of Missing Hours
6112 Prior to Trevone
430 At Trevone House

93%
Reduction in Missing

Hours

Longest Hours a Young Person
is Missing

1784 Prior to Trevone
40 At Trevone House

98%
Reduction in Missing

Hours

Young Person with Highest
Missing Hours

5382 Prior to Trevone

11
Current Missing 

Hours

100%
Reduction in Missing

Hours

Health

 All of the young people at Trevone are registered with a GP, some of whom 
had not previously been registered for years. An onsite mental health nurse 
forms part of the core offer, which gives young people access to health 
advice and support.

Education, Employment and Training

 63% of young people living at Trevone House are in education, 
employment or training

 It is anticipated that all of the above improvements will be replicated at 
Southfield House.

 In addition there are wider efficiencies as young people are within county, 
therefore there is less travel for professionals to carry out visits and 
activities. At times of crisis or concern professionals can visit young 
people in a prompt and timely manner.

Page 38



 Young people are also able to remain in contact with their families and 
friends, having provision in county allows them to maintain strong 
community connectedness

 The Staying Close facility has been more successful than anticipated within 
Trevone House, young people have moved on quicker from the main 
building due to this dedicated support, creating through-put within the main 
building that enables young people to transition to adulthood. Given this 
success the funding will be included from year one at Southfield.

Potential service benefits

 In terms of budgetary pressure on the placement budget, Southfield House 
will reduce the need for Gloucestershire County Council to commission 
high cost, out of county placements and enable children and young people 
to remain in county, close to their families, education provision and local 
networks.  This will support cost reduction whilst offering quality 
accommodation. It will provide multi-purpose function of placements, and 
dedicated support for care leavers.  There are currently no buildings, other 
than Trevone that could offer this flexible accommodation to meet varying 
needs of children and young people.

 Given the current climate of increasing numbers of children in care, with 
an 78% increase in the number of children in care since March 2012 with 
just 461 children in care, as of December 2021 there are 829 children in 
care, this provision will support increased demand.

Potential property benefits

 The property is classified for planning purposes as Class C2 Residential 
Institution – residential accommodation and care to people in need of 
care, residential schools, colleges or training centres, hospitals and nursing 
homes. Therefore, there would be no material change of use.

 The property has been declared surplus to requirement by Adult Social 
Care (ASC) and therefore is ready to be utilised.

 The proposed model is for Asset Management and Property Services to 
conduct a mini competition under the Gloucestershire County Council 
approved Major Project Framework (or such replacement Framework) for 
the building works. There will be a separate compliant tender process to 
procure an experienced provider to deliver the operational services, with a 
lease for the building.  This provider will also fund all fit out cost and 
services. The cost of the fit-out is based on the same calculation as the 
figure for Trevone House.

 With careful planning, the property can be developed to generate positive 
outcomes for the local community, with thoughtful landscaping to make 
Southfield House an attractive part of the residential environment.

Page 39



Strategic property context

 Southfield House is currently a three storey, 40 bedroom accommodation 
for older people, within central Stroud, offering independent parking and a 
private garden. It is a good quality building; however it is surplus to the 
future needs of older people provision.

 Southfield House offers the opportunity to develop a multi-purpose 
therapeutic resource centre for young people. Other building options have 
been explored; however they do not offer the same opportunity in terms of 
space and multiple usage. Other properties identified would require a 
change of use in terms of planning process and they would require building 
purchase using capital funding.

Financial implications

 Data used to inform the placement sufficient strategy emphasises the need 
to develop high quality placements that offer value for money, in order to 
support better outcomes for children and young people and drive 
efficiencies within the placement budget to be able to meet demand.

 The estimated running costs of this facility over the full lifetime of the project 
(5 years + 2 years) is:

o Southfield Main House: £12,713,400

The maximum assumed bed usage of 95% will result in a reduction of 
savings achievable. However this will still result in a potential cost 
avoidance of £4,368,831 compared to placement costs incurred 
without the provision of Southfield Main House.

o Southfield Old House: £1,979,432

As above the maximum assumed bed usage of 95% will result in a 
lower level of achieved savings. However this will still result in a 
potential cost avoidance of £2,448,201 compared to placement costs 
incurred without the provision of Southfield Old House.

 Taken together it is anticipated that the opening of Southfields Main and 
Old House as described above will result in a total potential cost 
avoidance of approximately £6.81 million when compared to the costs of 
maintaining existing placements. This equates to a potential cost 
avoidance over 7 years of £974,000 each year.

 This estimate of costs avoided does not include reductions in costs where 
young people are eligible for housing benefit, or the cost savings 
associated with reduced travel time for Social Workers and other 
professionals when young people are placed locally.

Page 40



 Capital funding of £3.35 million for the Southfield House refurbishment and 
building works will be required. Of this a maximum of £2.5 million has 
already been approved in the MTFS (by County Council February 2021). 
Since that decision the CCG has agreed to provide £1million from their 
capital programme to enable Southfields refurbishment to be fully funded.

 Asset Management and Property Services will create the specification for 
all capital works in partnership with Children’s Services. This joint working 
will also create the formal lease agreement for the building, which will 
support the lifetime of the operational contract. It will include a break clause 
whereby any break or breach in delivery will automatically affect the 
building lease.

 All fit out costs for the whole development will be met by the new 
operational provider and will remain their responsibility throughout the 
lifetime of the contract.

 The rationale for this approach is both timely and cost effective. It will allow 
for both tender processes to be undertaken in an efficient and timely 
manner.

Climate change implications

 Southfield House is an existing (older) building, the specification for the 
refurbishment will include adapting it in order to increase its energy 
efficiency and reduce CO2 emissions. 
  

Equality implications

 An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed and has found the 
impact of these proposals to be positive, with opportunities to improve 
services provision for a group of young people for whom the Local Authority 
have legal responsibilities for. Learning from the implementation of Trevone 
House recommends early engagement with the local community to mitigate 
any potential concerns that residents may have.

 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact 
Assessment in order to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due 
regard has been given.

. Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

 Data Protection Impact Assessment is a legal requirement. Commissioners 
are working with the Information Management Service to complete and 
identify data risks.

Social value implications

 This service seeks to ensure that this vulnerable group of young people is 
offered the opportunity to contribute to their local communities and to 

Page 41



recognise the social value they can bring. In particular, the housing and 
employment staff at the site will be the basis for supporting the young 
people into seeking employment, which will therefore contribute to the 
local employment market. 

 The implementation of the Sufficiency Strategy will deliver additional 
social, economic and environmental benefits to Gloucestershire. An 
emphasis on keeping our young people within county will help to foster 
positive social networks within Gloucestershire. 

 Effectively leveraging both the works and service contracts will provide 
skills and employment opportunities for the local environment, supporting 
and enhancing health and wellbeing.  

Consultation feedback

 In developing the Sufficiency Strategy, we consulted with care experienced 
children and young people.  They told us their placement experiences, 
which shaped and informed our ambitious approach.

 For the development of Trevone House Youth Ambassadors supported in 
the design of the project, sharing their lived experiences, working with us to 
build the right accommodation and services for future care leavers.

 Consultation has begun with both the Youth Ambassadors and young 
people currently living in Trevone House, for them to share their ideas, 
wishes and feelings to develop the good quality leaving care 
accommodation.

Officer recommendations

 The Officer recommendation is that Cabinet agrees to Option 1 above and 
that Cabinet;

 Approves an allocation of £3.35million of capital funding to the 
proposed remodelling of Southfield Site (both Main and Old House 
buildings) for the purpose of delivering accommodation for care 
experienced young people who may also be in employment, training 
or apprenticeships.

 Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Children’s Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and 
Skills, and the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years to:

Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract 
for the delivery of day-to-day delivery of accommodation and 
support services, with 24/7 staffing to support the young people 
placed. The successful tenderer for such services will also finance 
all ‘fit out’ costs for the re-modelled accommodation. Such contract 

Page 42



shall continue for an initial period of 5 years and include an option 
to extend its term for a further period of 2 years.

 Award such contract to the preferred tenderer.

 Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of 
such contract for a further period of 2 years on its fifth anniversary.

 Delegates authority to the Assistant Director for AMPS in consultation 
with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 
to:

 Conduct a competitive procurement process under the 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Major Project Framework (or its 
replacement) in respect of a call-off contract for the supply of 
remodelling works in respect of:

 Southfield Main House:  for the purpose of providing the       
following accommodation for care leavers.

 13 studio flats, 2 two-bedroom flats
 2 well-being flats
 1 single bedroom flat (used as an emergency/Police And 

Criminal Evidence bed) 

 Southfield Old House: for the purpose of providing the following 
accommodation for young people who are in employment, training, 
or apprenticeships

o
 7 one bed flats
 1 two bed flat
 1 crash pad

 Award such call-off contract to the preferred tenderer.

 The recommended option will enable the council to develop much needed 
good quality semi-independent provision in county to address the rising 
spend, poor outcomes and sufficiency issues that are faced in respect of 
vulnerable young people in care and care leavers.  The proposal is based 
on a strong model of efficiencies (including non-financial efficiencies) from 
Trevone House. 

 It is the only option that builds best practice in county. The project increases 
the likelihood of the council being able to address its issues of sufficiency 
and increased spend. However, the proposal does not guarantee complete 
success and must be viewed as an integral part to implementing the wider 
ambitions of the Sufficiency Strategy for Gloucestershire.

Page 43



Performance management/follow-up 

 A robust performance framework will be developed as part of the 
contractual arrangements, offering clear oversight of this service. In 
principle it will focus on the following areas (please note this may change 
once the final contract is in place):

o Compliance with regulatory requirements, to ensure all 
provision is of good to outstanding quality.

o Avoidance of escalation of need, reduced crisis 
presentations requiring less than satisfactory responses, 
which can compound problems or issues.

o Creating a Whole Child in Care placement pathway – 
reducing placement moves, creating stability.

o Demand management, matching of needs and allocation of 
resources, will all be done in partnership with Children 
Services.

o Robust pathway planning so placement demand is well 
known, appropriate and reduces the risk of voids.

o Needs lead support that enables ALL young people to 
move successfully to independence.

Page 44



Appendix 1

Revenue Costs for Southfiled Main House

Year Expected 
Southfields 
Contract Cost 
based on 
Trevone 
contract 

Current cost 
of 20 external 
placements 

Estimated 
Southfields 
occupancy 
level (number 
or beds used)

Annual cost 
of remaining 
external 
placements 
not placed in 
Southfields 

Cost avoidance

Yr 1 £1,816,200 £2,711,465 75% (15) £677,866 £217,399

Yr 2 £1,816,200 £2,711,465 80% (16) £542,293 £352,972

Yr 3 £1,816,200 £2,711,465 95% (19) £135,573 £759,692

Yr 4 £1,816,200 £2,711,465 95% (19) £135,573 £759,692

Yr 5 £1,816,200 £2,711,465 95% (19) £135,573 £759,692

Yr 6 £1,816,200 £2,711,465 95% (19) £135,573 £759,692

Yr 7 £1,816,200 £2,711,465 95% (19) £135,573 £759,692

Tota
l £12,713,400 £18,980,255 £1,898,024 £4,368,831

Page 45



Appendix 2

Revenue costs for Southfield Old House

Year Expected 
Southfields 
Old House 
Contract 
Cost 

Estimated 
costs of 10 
external 
placements 

Estimated 
Southfields 
occupancy 
level 
(number of 
beds used)

Annual cost 
of remaining 
external 
placements 
not placed in 
Southfields 

Cost 
avoidance 

Year 1 £282,776 £702,799 75% £175,700 £244,323

Year 2 £282,776 £702,799 80% £140,560 £279,463

Year 3 £282,776 £702,799 95% £35,140 £384,883

Year 4 £282,776 £702,799 95% £35,140 £384,883

Year 5 £282,776 £702,799 95% £35,140 £384,883

Year 6 £282,776 £702,799 95% £35,140 £384,883

Year 7 £282,776 £702,799 95% £35,140 £384,883

Total £1,979,432 £4,919,593  £491,960 £2,448,201

Page 46



Appendix 3

Southfield Revenue Costs over 7 years

Cost of Service (including continuing residual 
external placements)

Contract cost Residual 
Placements

Total

Cost of 
maintaining 
external 
provision in 
lieu of 
Southfields

Cost avoidance

Southfields 
Main House £12,713,400 £1,898,024 £14,611,424 £18,980,255 £4,368,831

Southfields 
Old House £1,979,432 £491,960 £2,471,392 £4,919,593 £2,448,201

Total £14,692,832 £2,389,984 £17,082,816 £23,899,848 £6,817,032

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TITLE: Market Shaping and Review of the Estates & Commissioning Strategies
Cabinet Date 30th March 2022

Cabinet Member Councillor Carole Allaway-Martin Adult Social Care Commissioning

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report The purpose of the report is to provide feedback on the Market Engagement 
Review and seek approval for the recommendations to influence and aid 
the sustainability of the Independent Health & Social Care Market of 
Gloucestershire in light of the initial and ongoing impact of the Covid19 
pandemic.

Recommendations

That Cabinet:

1) Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care Commissioning,: 

a) To agree the revised purchasing model for the volume and 
location of care home beds that support frail individuals awaiting 
hospital discharge under the Enhanced Independence Offer, as 
approved by GCC Cabinet June 2019. The EIO programme of 
change  is currently underway. Initial findings much of which is 
predicated on learning from the pandemic, indicate that future 
purchasing patterns and procurement processes will require a 
more flexible approach combining the benefits of both block and 
spot purchasing.

b) To agree the revised purchasing model for a blended model for 
Home Care and Reablement, currently being developed under 
phase 2 of the Enhanced Independence Offer, to support 
collaborative working and therefore investment in Domiciliary 
care providers 

2) Support and stabilise the care home market by approving 
consultation on the proposed decommissioning and closure of four 
homes within the Gloucestershire Care Partnership:

a) Orchard House, Bishops Cleeve, Tewkesbury 
b) Westbury Court, Westbury, Forest of Dean
c) Bohanam House, Gloucester
d) The Elms, Stonehouse Stroud

3) Consult on the proposed closures and the potential impact of the 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



closures 

4) Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care Commissioning, to enter into an agreement with 
Gloucestershire Care Services to ensure continuity of care for 
residents during the consultation period set out in 
Recommendation 2 and other ancillary matters, including 
reimbursing Gloucestershire Care Partnership for agreed additional 
costs incurred that arise as a direct result of the consultation 
process.

5) Agrees, following consultation, to return to Cabinet to consider the 
outcome of the consultation and agree how to take forward 
outcomes of the consultation.

Reasons for 
recommendations

To ensure that, as outlined in the Care Act 2014, Gloucestershire County 
Council is actively working to shape the local care market to encourage 
quality, choice, and sufficiency of provision by

(a) Consulting on the proposal of continuing to use the council’s Estate 
Strategy to stimulate market shaping so Gloucestershire’s provision 
more clearly meets the future needs of persons falling within the 
demographic profiles of adult social care; and
 

(b) Consulting on the specific proposal of decommissioning the four care 
homes recommended, the impact on the residents of these homes, 
their families, friends and wider network of stakeholders

(c) Undertaking work with the Domiciliary Care Market which builds on the 
Gloucestershire Commissioning Strategy’s aim to have supports and 
services which support people to remain independent at home for 
longer

(d) Meeting the wider aims and long-term visions of Gloucestershire’s 
commissioners in the wider Integrated Care System (ICS) of adopting a 
Home First policy for those in the hospital system both through the. 
‘Home First, Reablement ‘service and through the Pathway 2 beds 
which focus on a re-abling model of care, ensuring therapy and the 
ethos to return home is an integral part of hospital discharge 
conversations: promoting independence and reducing the potential 
impact of institutionalisation and dependency on people. 

Page 50



Resource 
Implications

If, following the consultation, the Cabinet decides to proceed to close the care 
homes, the costs associated with the closure of each care home are currently 
estimated to be between £200k - £300k per home.  This is estimated using 
the costs associated with the previous closures and the decommissioning of 
care homes within the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP) contract and 
includes costs of the consultation process.  The funding for the closures is 
held within the Vulnerable Adults Reserve and will be drawn down through 
the Budget Monitoring process if the closures proceed.   
A proportion of those costs will arise, regardless of whether the Cabinet 
decides to proceed or not.  These costs are necessary to ensure the ongoing 
safe running of the homes as the consultation proceeds and to ensure the 
residents continue to have the necessary levels of care and support. The 
costs include the ongoing support for the consultation process as well as the 
cost of retaining and engaging staff during the consultation period.  
The beds purchased through the GCP block contract and the GCC’s In 
House services that support the Enhanced Independence Offer (EIO) Bed 
Based pathway, are not expected to change and the costs will be covered 
within the EIO Project’s financial envelope.  Any revision to the numbers will 
be agreed in discussion with the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group who jointly fund the EIO.  
Work has commenced to support the development of the Community Based 
pathway within the EIO, and this includes the blended model of Home First 
and Reablement provision.

Background 
Documents

Cabinet Report Nov 21 – Market Shaping and Review of Estates & 
Commissioning Strategies
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s76193/Cabinet%20Repo
rt%20Market%20Shaping%20and%20Review%20of%20Estate%20Commis
.._%203.pdf 

market-position-statement-older-people-2015.pdf (gloucestershire.gov.uk)

market-position-statement-for-older-people-2018.pdf 
(gloucestershire.gov.uk)

Statutory Authority Care Act 2014

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Page 51

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s76193/Cabinet%20Report%20Market%20Shaping%20and%20Review%20of%20Estate%20Commis.._%203.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s76193/Cabinet%20Report%20Market%20Shaping%20and%20Review%20of%20Estate%20Commis.._%203.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s76193/Cabinet%20Report%20Market%20Shaping%20and%20Review%20of%20Estate%20Commis.._%203.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083974/market-position-statement-older-people-2015.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083902/market-position-statement-for-older-people-2018.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083902/market-position-statement-for-older-people-2018.pdf


Officer Brenda Yearwood – Head of Integrated Commissioning - Integrated 
Brokerage & Market Management.

brenda.yearwood@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Tel. 07990 675275
Timeline 30 March 2022- Cabinet Meeting

April 2022- Subject to the Cabinet agreeing the recommendations set out in 
this report, consultation with residents and their families or representatives 
and/or advocates on the preferred options for home closure and the impact of 
the closures 

May 2022- Evaluation of Consultation

June 2022- Referral to the Cabinet for consideration about the outcome of 
the consultation regarding the preferred options.

Human Rights Public Authorities have a duty under the Human Rights Act 1998 not to act 
incompatibly with rights under the European Convention for the Protection of 
Fundamental Rights and Freedoms (the Convention) when they are carrying 
out ‘functions of a public nature. 
The proposed consultation regarding the future of the four homes in itself  
should not result in the violation of any person’s rights under the European 
Convention on Human Rights. Three Articles of the European Convention are 
capable of being relevant to any proposed decision to close a residential care 
home and relocate residents. These are

 Article 2 which provides that everyone’s right to life will be protected by 
law,

 Article 3 which provides that that no one shall be subjected to torture or 
inhuman or degrading treatment and 

 Article 8 under which everyone has the right to respect for his family life 
and his home. 

The outcome of the consultation exercise will provide an opportunity for 
further analysis of any human rights implications, which will be reported to the 
Cabinet for consideration following the conclusion of the consultation.

Page 52

mailto:brenda.yearwood@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

Introduction

1. As part of the council’s requirements under the Care Act 2014 Gloucestershire 
County Council has a statutory duty to not only meet the needs of people eligible for 
care, but also to shape the local care market to encourage quality, choice, and 
sufficiency of provision. The Council has and continues to work closely with the local 
care market and the local NHS in order to achieve this. 

2. Over the last five years the council has transformed the way in which it delivers 
adult social care; with the focus shifting to supporting independence so that people 
are supported to remain in their own homes for as long as possible. This aim was 
outlined in Gloucestershire Market Position Statements 2015 & 2018 and re-
enforced by the implementation of the Enhanced Independence Offer, (EIO), 
(approved by Cabinet in June 2019). It is worthy of note that the EIO programme of 
change was developed and funded with Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group as a joint endeavour. As Gloucestershire moved to becoming an Integrated 
Care System (ICS), the emergent ICS ratified this programme of change, and it is 
currently one of the key deliverables for our shared Health & Social Care system. 
Our citizens repeatedly remind us that they want to be able to live in their own 
homes for as long as possible. The Enhanced Independence Offer introduced the 
new Home First/Reablement pathway which promoted the idea of individuals being 
supported to remain at home and, for those in the hospital pathway, to be supported 
to return to home either through the:

a. Home First Reablement Service or

b. Pathway 2 Discharge to assess beds

3. Both routes reflect the jointly shared approach between Health & Social Care as 
individuals are supported by a therapy led model of care which aims to assist the 
individual to regain the level of independence they enjoyed before their incident or 
hospital stay.

4. Part of the transformation of adult social care is also focused on the work to find the 
best possible housing choice for people. To this end in February 2021 Cabinet 
approved a Housing with Care Strategy. Once again, this strategy was developed 
as a whole system and is a shared document and programme of change between 
Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucestershire district councils and the local NHS. 
The aim of the strategy is to ensure that we facilitate the key support at the right 
time to prevent a crisis situation. This approach can help facilitate hospital discharge 
and also means people can maintain their independence within their communities. 

5. Housing with Care Strategy- Covid19 has highlighted the impact of housing 
inequality on the health and wellbeing of individuals, families, and communities. As 
Gloucestershire County Council and the local NHS moves away from the 
commissioning of traditional residential care and nursing homes towards housing 
with care, any learning from Covid19 needs to be considered in the planning of 
future developments. Working closely with district, borough and city council 
colleagues, the aim of the strategy is to provide a range of accommodation for 
people in the county to help them remain independent and lead fulfilling lives. This 

Page 53



strategy has been produced following extensive consultation with interested groups 
and individuals across Gloucestershire.

6. The workstreams within the Housing with Care Strategy are in line with the wishes 
and stated intentions of our residents. Early indications and outputs from the 
strategy implementation groups are positive and have contributed to the reduction in 
the number of people entering traditional residential care, reduced the length of stay 
when people do enter residential care and meant that people typically only enter 
care when their needs become more complex. 

7. Within Gloucestershire the ongoing increase in the number of vacancies across the 
care home market along with geographical gaps in the domiciliary care market 
brings a level of concern when considering the care and support needs of our 
citizens. It should be noted that Gloucestershire is not alone in the matter, many 
other local authorities face the same issues and are reviewing their market 
management strategies. 

8. In response to the above there have been recent two papers on the subject of the 
local market that have been received by Adult Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee (July and September 2021). In the latter of those meetings 
there was a broad consensus (as reflected in the minutes) of the ‘need to ensure 
that county’s care offer remained sustainable within the current financial context, the 
council aims to continue to invest in supporting the development and sustainability 
of the care market’. Furthermore, in the Adult Social Care and Community Scrutiny 
Committee meeting on Sept 9th 2021 it was noted that ‘the need for fewer long term 
residential placements from which it is anticipated that the shrinking market was 
likely to result in the closure of some establishments.’

9.  As the needs of the current population change the council will continue to work with 
providers to ensure we are developing support and services that will meet those 
changing needs and the demands of the Integrated Care System. This will require 
the development and delivery of care and support services which: 

a. support hospital and community health system flow, 

b. keep people independent at home for as long as possible

c. deliver support which actively promotes individuals’ physical and mental 
wellbeing. 

10.The Gloucestershire Integrated Care System, (ICS), has done much to support 
market sustainability over the lifetime of the Covid 19 pandemic, supplying financial 
support locally, distributing national funding, supporting training and distribution and 
interpretation of guidance on aspects of infection prevention and control; PPE, 
(personal protective equipment), testing, vaccinations. In addition to this, partners 
within the ICS and the Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum have directly 
supported independent Health & Social Care providers through the distribution of 
supplies of PPE, access to testing, delivery of prioritised local vaccination sites, 
mobile vaccination and testing sites and transport where necessary for those unable 
to access any of the above options.

11.The 2020-22 Covid 19 pandemic has presented many challenges for care providers 
in Gloucestershire not least the increased demands for managing infection. The 

Page 54



challenge of managing infection has been particularly difficult for care homes where 
premises were not built with PPE and sanitiser stations in mind; buildings with 
limited ability to cohort and isolate those with Dementia or behaviours that 
challenge, and communal areas not designed with social distancing in mind. 
Residential providers need to have the capability to easily implement measures to 
protect residents and staff from Covid19, flu, and Norovirus whilst maintaining 
sufficient occupancy to be viable, sustainable businesses. 

12.The implementation of the Health & Social Care EIO programme has been 
negatively impacted by the Covid 19 pandemic and resulting lockdowns which have 
prevented the service from achieving its aims for the Home First ethos. In addition to 
this high Covid 19 surges have increased the number of care home beds accessed 
by the system to support hospital discharge and flow. Despite this, vacancy rates in 
care homes have remained high at around 20-25%. There is therefore a real risk to 
market sustainability in not working with the market to manage the implementation 
of EIO as we recover from the impact of Covid 19. The EIO programme of change 
will enable us to both reduce the number of beds jointly purchased and increase the 
numbers of people supported in their own homes and improve hospital flow as we 
won’t be reliant on care homes which we know can be closed during infection 
outbreaks.

13.Financial contributions from Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group and national grant funding have assisted in mitigating 
some of the cost pressures associated with increased vacancies or void beds in 
care homes and the associated infection control costs for the wider sector, e.g. 
Domiciliary Care providers. 

14.However, we are aware that national guidance relating to closure during outbreak 
and measures in relation to staff isolation have had a detrimental impact on the 
sustainability of businesses, with many homes having to close to new admissions 
for significant periods. At the same time domiciliary care providers have had to take 
steps to implement their business continuity plans reverting to delivering only 
essential or reduced care calls when staffing levels have dipped due to staff 
isolation or absence. Capacity issues in the independent market have not only 
impacted on the care businesses and our ability to meet need in a timely manner, 
they have also greatly impacted on the hospital flow.  The reduced access to 
community provision increases the reliance on the use of care home beds which in 
turn are subject to the ‘stop-start’ of being open due to infection control again 
reducing overall access to formal care provision.

15.Cabinet agreed to undertake a focused, comprehensive review of the care market in 
light of the Covid19 Pandemic in November 2021. The aim of this review was to 
gain a better understanding of the initial impact of the pandemic on the external care 
market. The engagement programme aimed to test whether the assumptions made 
by commissioners in response to informal communications were correct in that the 
global pandemic had exacerbated pre-existing concerns in relation to market 
capacity and sustainability. These concerns were outlined in the November 2021 
Cabinet report referenced above:

a) Covid 19 has given rise to issues in terms of the adequacy and suitability of 
some of the care facilities in relation to managing infection control measures 

Page 55



indicating that some provision is no longer fit for purpose in a post-Covid 
world, for example, infection prevention and control resources being easily 
accessible in corridors as staff enter and leave rooms. Providers need to 
have the capability to easily implement measures to protect residents and 
staff from Covid19, flu, and Norovirus. In addition, many of the homes were 
built at a time when expectations for homes (including care homes) were 
different from now, hence many do not have the modern conveniences that 
people now expect as standard (such as en-suite bathrooms and flexible 
accommodation that can adapt as needs of individuals change and develop). 
There will always be a need for care facilities with shared bathrooms to 
support those requiring assisted bathing etc., however the shape of the care 
market is changing, and work is necessary to ensure ongoing market 
sustainability.

b) Covid 19 has also brought with it an element of market instability in the 
reduction in the number of people who wish to move to a care home. Many of 
the council’s care home providers had stated that they have incurred 
significant losses during the pandemic, and most are declaring that self-
funding requests for residential services have reduced to the point where it 
has become necessary for them to consider the viability of their businesses. 
The business model for residential care relies on a good balance between 
publicly funded and self-funded placements; the loss of self-funders brings a 
significant risk to the market and the overall sustainability of all care home 
providers. As a result, some care homes are carrying a high number of 
vacancies. In total there are over a 1000 empty care home beds at any one 
time in Gloucestershire and a surplus of beds in five of the six districts. 
Conversely there has been a greater demand for domiciliary care for people 
who wish to continue to live in their own homes. This change has already 
caused some care homes to close and for others it means a lack of financial 
stability.

c) The increasing number of surplus beds, particularly in the disability and 
mental health sections of the market means that other local authorities often 
place their residents within Gloucestershire. Often the County Council is not 
advised of these placements, but it still has a responsibility to ensure that 
everyone who lives in Gloucestershire is safe and to be aware of all 
placements within its boundary. These placement impact on the wider health 
& social care resources of the county, GP’s, hospitals, districts nurses, Rapid 
Response teams etc., putting additional strain on the resources available to 
meet the needs of the residents of Gloucestershire.

16. It also aimed to open discussions to enable us to work with independent providers 
on ideas to shape the market; to influence and aid the sustainability of the Health & 
Social Care Market in for the short, medium and longer term. 

17. In light of our shared approach and shared responsibilities with our local NHS 
partner(s) in relation to market management, the outline information of the impact of 
Covid 19 on the independent sector was presented to GCCG Governing Body and 
the contents were noted. The CCG have continued to receive analysis with regards 
to the provision and sustainability of our local market. Our Health sector colleagues 
are supportive of the move to promote an ethos of Home First and individual 

Page 56



independence and continue to work jointly with us on the quality and quantity of care 
provided across the county.

Market Engagement Outcome

18.The market engagement programme consisted of a full market survey and a series 
of targeted focus groups with Independent Care Sector providers, including 
Residential & Nursing Homes, Supported Living, Domiciliary Care, Extra Care, Day 
Care Personal Assistants and Staff Agencies. The survey gave providers an 
opportunity to tell us how the following areas of their businesses had been impacted 
by the pandemic:

a. Business Model, 
b. Staffing and Recruitment, 
c. Infection, Prevention Control, 
d. Testing and Vaccinations,
e. Other - any areas they felt were not covered but had been impacted

19. In addition to the survey, providers were invited to take part in a number of focus 
groups. The full analysis of the market engagement survey along with analysis 
gained from ongoing market engagement undertaken can be found in the Appendix  
of this report.

20.  Out of the 103 responses 86% told us that they had been negatively impacted 
because of the Covid19 pandemic. All areas of the county reported a similar 
experience with minimal differences in the numbers ranging between 78% - 100%. 

Overall Impact of Pandemic 1

21.Areas of identified impact were found to be broadly similar across all types of 
provision. Providers told us that loss of income had negatively impacted on their 
business with 70% stating that this had had a moderate-high impact. It is indicated 
that this was not just a direct loss of income but also attributable to increased costs 
in other areas of the business including the costs of staffing and equipment.  For 

Page 57



care homes the loss of resident income from both private and public funded sources 
negatively impacted financial viability and their previous business delivery model 
which supported commissioning assumptions on care home sustainability.

22.Recruitment, and retention of staff, as expected, was seen as a key challenge 
across the entire care market, with a particular focus around nursing staff for both 
care homes and for those requiring complex care in their own homes - a trend we 
have seen reflected at a national level across the health and social care sector. 

23.Providers have also stated that increased costs at the start of the pandemic related 
to equipment and PPE but that the ongoing impact has continued to increase as 
testing has increased the number of staff absent or isolating.  This has resulted in 
increased need to use agency staff; the cost of which has also increased. Providers 
also told us that the staffing structures have changed with the need for them to 
employ additional staff to be able to support with Infection Prevention & Control 
measures, as well as the testing and reporting requirements brought in as part of 
the management of the pandemic. 

24.Though not directly related to the pandemic care providers took the opportunity to 
outline that the move for individuals to remain in their own home for as long as 
possible has increased the cost of care delivery. The additional costs are linked not 
just to staff competencies, skills and training -  it has also increased the need for 
additional equipment to support individuals at home safely. This was also 
referenced by care home providers where there is often a requirement for extra 
space, equipment and training linked to the individual care and support in order to 
meet more complex needs. Providers felt that the forward impact of the pandemic is 
likely to exacerbate these costs.

Care Market Overview

25.Gloucestershire has had a surplus of care home beds for several years and has 
previously worked with the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP), a joint venture 
company set up by The Order of St John Care Trust and Bedford Pilgrim Housing 
Association for the purposes of providing and managing care homes. The 
partnership covers the lease of properties where care is provided; arrangements for 
the development of those, as well as provision of new properties where care will be 
provided, to meet the need for appropriate residential care facilities in the county. 

26.Within the GCP contract an Estates Committee was established to manage the 
Estates Strategy to include the development of new homes; the refurbishment of 
individual homes and when homes should be considered for refurbishment or 
closure. At the outset of the contract GCP was providing care within 21 care homes 
in Gloucestershire.  They are currently providing care across 13 homes, 4 of which 
have been developed and built as part of the Estates Strategy. At the 
implementation of the GCP contract the options for care and support at home was 
more limited and many people expected to enter residential care when they started 
‘having difficulty with day to day living’. The improvement in technology and 
equipment has widened the options open to people to stay independent in their own 
homes. At the same time feedback gathered when compiling information to inform 

Page 58



the Market Position Statements 2015 & 2018 demonstrated that, where there is 
choice, people want to remain in their own homes and in their own communities.

27.Through the Estates Strategy we have previously managed care home capacity, 
tested models of delivery and stabilised access to specific types of care. For 
example, whereas all of the GCP homes have Nursing provision it was recognised 
that many of the independent providers were de-registering nursing provision at a 
time when Gloucestershire’s commissioning intentions, as outlined in the Market 
Positions Statements 2015 & 2018 indicated that more people wanted to stay 
independent at home for longer and therefore care homes would need to consider 
delivery of more complex care, (indicating a level of nursing need).

28.Even at the point of entering residential care the aim is to keep individuals 
connected to familiar atmospheres, sights, sounds, accents & people. Recent 
market mapping undertaken to support the engagement programme shows that the 
spread of care beds across the county is not evenly distributed; most care homes 
being based in the two urban areas Gloucester & Cheltenham. Consequently, when 
the decision is taken to enter a care home there can be increased difficulties in 
procuring an appropriate placement which assists in the aim to keep people in their 
local communities to maintain connections and relationships. 

29.The Covid19 pandemic has placed additional pressures on hospital discharge flow 
for individuals requiring further support or assessment of needs following an 
admission to hospital. Closures of services due to either a shortage of staff, 
outbreak or other pressures has impacted on hospital flow and the ability to 
discharge individuals to designated assessment units, care homes or to their own 
home with a suitable package of support. We therefore need to review the way we 
purchase both community and residential based care in order to strengthen the 
market, minimise waste and maximise the sustainability of independent care 
provision.  

Care Home District Profiles 

30.Cheltenham: The 25 homes have the potential to offer 998 care home placements 
and currently 204 of these are vacant. The current occupancy level for care home 
beds in Cheltenham is 73%. Cheltenham has the highest level of domiciliary care 
requests in the county. There are 35 providers of home care working in this district 
delivering to 371 clients yet there is still a struggle with provision in some areas of 
the borough.  At the time of writing we have 28 individuals waiting for care in the 
borough.

31.Cotswolds:  There are currently 14 care homes operating within this district. These 
homes have the potential to offer the potential of 438 placements. The Cotswolds is 
approximately a third of the land mass of the county with a similar population to the 
other districts.  Therefore home care providers when working to the current model of 
delivery find it difficult to maintain a viable business. There are 26 agencies 
delivering care to 213 individuals. The waiting list for home care is 14.

Page 59



32.Forest of Dean: This District has the lowest care home capacity in the county, with 
only 10 care homes currently. Therefore, occupancy levels are high the 
demographic profile for this area is also rapidly changing in relation to age and 
identified care needs.  As a result, the area has become more attractive to persons 
choosing to move to Gloucestershire as part of their retirement plan. With the 
development of a new community hospital in Cinderford, it is expected that there will 
be increased demand for services which support individuals being discharged from 
hospital by offering appropriate care beds and assessment units to maximise and 
increase independence. Many of the homes in the Forest of Dean are built in older 
premises which would not be financially viable if they had to be modernised to 
respond to current or future expectations. We are therefore seeking to identify sites 
within the Forest of Dean that could be used to continue the development of the 
Estate Strategy.

33.Recent mapping of domiciliary care providers has shown that some areas of the 
Forest of Dean have no provision and no potential for cross border working from 
Herefordshire and parts of Wales. The rural and diverse economic demographic 
profile of the Forest of Dean area means that the care market can differ across the 
district, with different demands and challenges. This often results in individuals 
being placed in care homes in the urban districts; taking individuals out of their local 
communities to be able to meet their care needs.

34.Gloucester:  As one of our urban areas of Gloucestershire, Gloucester has an 
excess of care beds. There are currently 24 Care Homes in the Gloucester Locality. 
The current occupancy level for care home beds in Gloucester is 72%. Gloucester 
city is the second largest user of home care, yet has the highest concentration of 
providers.  Therefore, competition between providers is high that maintaining a 
sustainable business is compromised by a competition-based purchasing model. 
There are 44 agencies working within Gloucester City, however we still have 23 
individuals waiting for a service.  By mapping providers we aim to identify the 
reasons for having a waiting list with this concentration of providers and will be 
working with providers to seek solutions.

35.Stroud: While Stroud has several care homes beds available it does not have the 
necessary care home facilities to meet the needs of the demographic profile of its 
residents, including the rising numbers of those with high levels care needs or 
advanced dementia. This often results in individuals being placed in care homes in 
the urban districts and taking individuals out of their local communities to be able to 
meet their care needs. Stroud has the highest level of domiciliary care requests in 
the county for a rural district. There are 36 providers of home care working in this 
district however there are still gaps in care delivery.  At the time of writing there are 
46 people waiting for home care in this district.

 
36.Tewkesbury: Tewkesbury Borough holds a unique position in the county as much 

of the wider Borough surrounds the two urban areas of Cheltenham & Gloucester, 
hence many residents living in the wider Tewkesbury Borough tend to access 
services in the urban areas of the county rather than travelling to Tewkesbury Town.  
We currently have 11 residential homes in the Tewkesbury district with overall 
occupancy at 80%. However, the geography of the Borough means that many 
residents living in the wider Tewkesbury Borough tend to access residential care in 

Page 60



the urban areas of the county. The home care market for wider Tewkesbury both 
gains from, but also suffers from, being close to the urban districts. For example, 
Bishops Cleeve benefits from being near to Cheltenham, whilst providers struggle to 
deliver in other areas of the Borough which more closely border the Cotswolds than 
Cheltenham. There are 36 providers working in the wider Tewkesbury Borough and 
there are currently 23 people waiting for home care.

 
Reasons for change 

37.The Covid19 pandemic had demonstrated that residents in care homes are the most 
vulnerable members of our community in relation to an outbreak of communicable 
disease. The very nature of a multiple residencies of frail individuals with long term 
conditions or complex needs increases the requirement for exemplary standards, 
processes and systems in the management of infection prevention and control. With 
more individuals remaining independent at home those entering care homes will 
naturally have a higher level of need and vulnerability.  

38.Evaluation of the market engagement and analysis has demonstrated that 
Gloucestershire County Council needs to assist in market sustainability, to 
strengthen and shape the care market in Gloucestershire to be ready for the current 
and projected future needs of the population.  Covid19 has given rise to issues in 
terms of the adequacy and suitability of some of the care facilities particularly in 
relation to managing infection control measures. The impact of the pandemic on our 
care sector indicates that some provision is no longer fit for purpose in a post-Covid 
world.  For example, infection prevention and control resources being easily 
accessible in corridors as staff enter and leave rooms. Many homes also found it 
difficult to group residents into cohorts during outbreaks and others were challenged 
with implementing social distancing. 

39.The expectation of families and individuals entering residential care has changed.  
Many now see care homes as the last option as care at home, (utilising technology 
and equipment), and housing with care options become ever more readily available. 
Gloucestershire’s commissioning intentions have long supported our citizens’ aims 
of remaining in their own homes and communities. Introducing logistics modelling to 
domiciliary care along with better access to technological solutions will help us 
achieve this aim.  Gloucestershire County Council has previously reviewed, 
decommissioned, and repurposed services within its direct ownership or influence, 
to ensure that the council was able to comply with its statutory responsibilities in 
relation to Adult Social Care market management and market shaping. The Covid-
19 pandemic has reinforced the need to undertake these responsibilities in a 
collaborative partnership with our provider base, commissioned and un-
commissioned. The market shaping and market management roles outlined under 
the Care Act 2014 are more important than ever as the council works towards aiding 
the sustainability and sufficiency of the wider independent care market for 
Gloucestershire.

Conclusion

Page 61



40.Over the last five years the council has transformed the way in which it delivers 
adult social care; with the focus shifting to supporting independence so that people 
are supported to remain in their own homes for as long as possible.
 
We take our duty to manage the market seriously, which is why we chose to engage 
extensively with our markets before recommending any decision. The main thrust of 
this paper is with regards to reviewing the future size, scope and direction of travel 
of our purchasing within the care home market. However, this is within the context of 
both our agreed policy direction, as outlined in our Mission Statement 2018 and the 
Enhanced Independence Offer, (approved June 2019). Of equal importance we 
needed to take into consideration the impact on the market of the global pandemic. 
Namely:

a) It is clear that there is overcapacity in parts of the market, which potentially 
destabilises it.

b) Care homes are very likely to close in a destabilised market, particularly as 
the Covid financial support across the system comes to an end.

c) Our ability to intervene is primarily through our major contracting and 
purchasing patterns

d) Covid has given rise to issues in terms of the adequacy and suitability of 
some of the care facilities particularly in relation to managing infection control 
measures. The impact of the pandemic on our care sector indicates that 
some provision is no longer fit for purpose in a post-Covid world.  By carefully 
selecting the least viable homes we can remove some of the oldest homes, in 
order to facilitate the protection of the wider market. 

e) As a result, we propose to consult on the closure, and its potential impact, of 
four of the existing county council owned homes, managed under the GCP 
contract. Importantly we propose to commission the building of three new 
homes:  two to provide general residential and nursing care and one 
specifically for dementia care.  We also plan to undertake detailed analysis of 
forecasted demand for a jointly commissioned specialist neurological support 
with a care facility which may result in the conversion a further care home.

Options

Option 1:  Do nothing

41. If we were to do nothing, there is a greater risk to the sustainability of the care 
market in Gloucestershire. Gloucestershire has an oversupply of care beds in some 
parts of the county, and a lack of affordable, appropriate provision in others. As 
people choose alternatives to a care home placement to meet their needs 
Gloucestershire risks the surplus care home provision being used for inappropriate 
inter-county placements as providers seek alternative means to maintain their 
business viability. 

Page 62



42.Gloucestershire citizens are choosing to remain in their own homes to receive care 
and support, as opposed to taking up a care home placement. However, there is a 
continued need for residential placements for those who require 24-hour care or 
those that lack the capacity to make the right choices in relation to their health or 
safety.  There is therefore a need to support care home providers to remain 
sustainable by working with them to manage the offer and the number of 
placements available in the county.

43.There is also a financial risk to the council due to the number of beds we purchase 
per district under the GCP contract, should we continue to block purchase these 
beds for services we know have a built in obsolescence in their appeal to the 
families and individuals seeking residential care. The current provision available in 
some of the homes within the Estate under GCP Contract is not suitable for the 
complex and advanced care needs we are now seeing when individuals require a 
care home. In seeking to close homes with a limited lifespan and invest in new 
provision we are aiming to match the trends in care against our demographic profile.  

Option 2: To consult on the proposed decommissioning and closure of four 
homes within GCP Estate to support sustainability for the wider market

44.Decommissioning some of the older homes in the estate and introducing a new 
Estate Strategy built on current research and understanding of our demographic 
profile would support the sustainability and strengthening of the whole independent 
care sector market post pandemic, removing some of the current additional capacity 
in the short term whilst preparing to develop more appropriate provision in those 
areas we believe will see an increased demand over the next five to ten years. This 
strategy involves selecting for closure the least viable homes - those with the 
greatest number of voids pre-pandemic and those that could not be developed as 
into long term financially sustainable options which meet current and emerging care 
needs. 

45.The locations chosen have also been identified as having the greatest impact on 
market sustainability based on their location, the number of vacant beds within GCP 
contracted homes within commutable distance and vacancies within the wider care 
home market. In addition to this the current GCP contract requires the Care Provider 
to offer nursing in all of the homes operating under the contract.  In closing some of 
the older homes the care provider will be able to consolidate the nursing services 
they provide in order to better utilise the nursing workforce and to facilitate the 
protection of the wider market. This option also supports the council in meeting its 
obligations under the Care Act 2014

46.Gloucestershire’s ability to directly influence the market lies in its in-house provision 
(which is limited) or in the homes managed under the GCP contract as these 
properties are managed and run-on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council. The 
GCP Contract and the supporting Estate Strategy has previously been used to 
support not just the Older People’s care home market but to meet the future needs, 
wider aims and long-term visions of Gloucestershire’s commissioners in the 
Integrated Care System. As we emerge from the Covid19 pandemic, the aim is to 
consider alternative developments for new purpose-built facilities, which would 
enable us to commission suitable care placements which supports the aims and 

Page 63



wishes of our citizens and is in line with our stated commissioning intentions. This 
requires us to consider decommissioning those facilities that would not be 
sustainable or financially viable if they were refurbished and redeveloped to meet 
the current needs and expectations of those entering care; people living with 
advanced dementia or complex care needs and those with long term conditions 
entering older life.

47.The four homes proposed for closure and the reasons for identifying them are: 

a) Orchard House – Bishops Cleeve Tewkesbury.  Though based in the wider 
Tewkesbury Borough the decommissioning of this home would benefit the 
Cheltenham Care market.  Residents of Bishops Cleeve more closely identify 
themselves with Cheltenham.  The home is a short drive from the 
Cheltenham Racecourse and many residents of the village tend to shop and 
socialise in Cheltenham. The home has low occupancy and is not in a 
position where it could easily be developed to meet current and future 
expectation. Despite utilising beds within the GCP homes to support the 
hospitals with the discharge to assess pathways, Tewkesbury districts homes 
are still falling under the contractual 60% occupancy levels. We are therefore 
incurring significant costs for beds that are not being utilised. On average 
occupancy in Orchard House is 40%.

b) Bohanam House – Gloucester. The Gloucester market has a high number of 
care home vacancies.  This home has fluctuating occupancy and is not in a 
position where it could be easily redeveloped to meet current and future 
expectations. However, there is a section of the care home currently 
dedicated to being a regional office so there is some scope for development 
though this is likely to be costly for what could be a small gain.

c) The Elms – Stonehouse.  The decommissioning of this home is linked to the 
potential of redeveloping the site as a care facility that meets current and 
proposed future care and support needs. The site has the potential for a 
number of options for either a care home or a housing with care facility, or 
potentially both. The Stroud district demographics would indicate that we will 
require a level of Dementia and Nursing Dementia care residential provision 
post 2025. In proposing to decommission the current building, where there is 
little potential to increase the footprint to introduce Dementia friendly, 
infection control ready facilities, we are proposing to utilise this site and the 
former Stonehouse library site for future development. Initial thinking would 
suggest that a care facility on this site could also support a community facility 
thereby connecting the wider community to the new provision.

d) Westbury Court – Forest of Dean.  Though based in the Forest, where we 
have the least number of vacancies, the Westbury Court site attracts people 
from the west of Gloucester City and the proposed de-commissioning relates 
to the long-term potential for the home rather than capacity within the Forest. 
The site has limited development potential and if the interior were developed 
to meet current expectations the loss of rooms would make the home 
financially unviable. There is however potential for the site to be developed 
for housing with care.  At the time of proposing de-commissioning this site, 
Gloucestershire County Council is undertaking a feasibility study on a site in 

Page 64



Coleford and researching other options for developing new care provision in 
the Forest of Dean district.

Option 3: Develop & modernise the 4 homes in the GCP Estate to ensure that 
they are suitable for the longer term

48. It would require significant investment to modernise and develop these homes to a 
standard that would be adequate for now and be flexible to meet the longer term 
needs of the population. These would need to include en-suite facilities and modern 
amenities that would need to be adaptable as conditions progress and needs 
change. From a property, and development perspective the space required to 
improve facilities would involve the removal of several bedrooms from the properties 
which in turn would mean that the homes would no longer be financially viable.  

A decision to develop and invest in homes that are currently unsustainable, while we 
currently have a high number of vacancies in homes with adequate facilities, could 
have an impact on the costs of care beds in the short term and would conflict with 
the council’s responsibilities for market management and market shaping under the 
Care Act 2014. 

Risks 

49.There are risks both in undertaking the proposed action and in choosing not to act. 
The closure of care facilities as we exit a pandemic may seem counter intuitive but 
leaving a scarce staffing resource spread across a large number of facilities risks 
the overall sustainability of the market. The facilities on which we are consulting 
have a limited lifespan in relation to their market appeal and the cost, feasibility and 
ongoing viability were the homes to be brought up to the expected standards. 

50. In developing new residential care facilities to replace those we are proposing to 
decommission there is also the potential to destabilise the market raising 
expectations and potentially oversubscribing the specifications of residential care 
thereby limiting options for those seeking the traditional style of care home.

Financial implications

51. If, following the consultation, the Cabinet decides to proceed to close the care 
homes, the costs associated with the closure are currently estimated to be between 
£200k - £300k per home.  This is estimated using the costs associated with the 
previous closures and the decommissioning of care homes within the 
Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP) contract and includes costs of the 
consultation process to ensure the ongoing stability and safe running of the care 
homes including the costs of providing a package of measures to encourage the 
existing workforce to remain with GCP during the consultation period.  An 
appropriate agreement will be entered into with GCP regarding these arrangements 
during the consultation period. The funding for the closures is held within the 
Vulnerable Adults Reserve and will be drawn down through the Budget Monitoring 
process.   

Page 65



52.The beds purchased through the GCP block contract and the GCC’s In House 
services that support the Enhanced Independence Offer (EIO) Bed Based pathway, 
are not expected to change and the costs will be covered within the EIO Project’s 
financial envelope.  Any revision to the numbers will be agreed in discussion with 
the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group who jointly fund the EIO.  

53.Work has commenced to support the development of the Community Based 
pathway within the EIO, and this includes the blended model of Home First and 
Reablement provision.

 
Climate change implications

N/A

Equality implications

54.An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared.  However the proposed 
consultation will be used to refine and strengthen the details in this as the current 
analysis is based on the wider demographic profile of the county

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

55.  A DPIA may be required post consultation and we are planning to work with the 
Information Management Service to identify and mitigate risk should this be the 
case.

Social value implications 

56.Any contract awarded for the building or redevelopment of properties will contain a 
requirement for the provider to demonstrate social value in line with 
Gloucestershire’s procurement policies and processes with a focus on employment 
opportunities, engagement with the local community and improving the lives and 
outcomes of individuals.

57.Any future care provision commissioned will also need to demonstrate social value 
in relation to community engagement and employment opportunities in the short, 
medium and longer term.

Consultation feedback

58.Earlier parts of this report set out the engagement undertaken with the market.

59.The proposed engagement and consultation about whether to decommission and 
close the four homes set out in the recommendations will include a variety of forums 
to make them accessible for all residents and their families.  This will include face to 
face meetings, virtual meetings, surveys and 1:1 sessions.

Page 66



60. It is recognised that, by embarking on the consultation exercise about the proposed 
decommissioning of the four homes, there will be a period of uncertainty for 
residents, their families and carers who provide care within the homes.  Therefore, it 
is important that during this period, the Council ensures not only that residents 
continue to receive the support they require, but also that stability is provided for the 
workforce to encourage them to remain with GCP to provide continuity of care for 
residents. Therefore, the Council will be working with GCP to ensure a suitable 
package of measures are introduced during the consultation period to retain the 
existing carers and enable appropriate agency support where carers choose to 
leave before the Cabinet makes a final decision regarding the care homes.  

Officer recommendations

Our preferred option is:

Option 2: To consult on the proposed decommissioning and closure of four 
homes within GCP Estate to support sustainability for the wider market

61.This option allows Gloucestershire to manage the short-term impact of the 
pandemic through the removal of surplus beds. The proposed decommissioning of 
these homes responds to the outline concerns voiced during the engagement 
programme.  Our providers requested that we invest across all providers and all 
provision, (many citing and praising the additional steps Gloucestershire took to 
make crisis payments to the market during Covid). The proposal to decommission 
beds in homes that would not be responsive to the changes or would not be 
financially viable following necessary refurbishment or investment whilst 
redevelopment and commissioning new facilities demonstrates that Gloucestershire 
is considering an active role in market management.  In closing some of the older 
homes the care provider will be able to consolidate the nursing services they 
provide in order to better utilise the nursing workforce and to facilitate the protection 
of the wider market. It also demonstrates that the council have listened to the 
concerns of the market as outlined in recent conversations and that we wish to work 
with the independent health and social care sector to reach a mutually agreeable 
solution in the short and longer term. This option also builds on the analysis shared 
last year with our local Health sector colleagues who are in support of this direction 
of travel.

62.Covid has given rise to issues in terms of the adequacy and suitability of some of 
Gloucestershire care facilities, particularly in relation to managing infection control 
measures.  As we learn to live with this and other viruses, we need to work with 
providers to develop facilities that manage this ongoing threat, keeping our most 
vulnerable citizens safe and able to have a meaningful and fulfilled life both before 
and after entering formal care. The impact of the pandemic on our health and care 
sector has made people question their care choices, with many who would 
previously has entered residential care choosing to purchase in retirement villages 
and other forms of housing with care. Any actions taken now will demonstrate that 
as the Local Authority with health and social care responsibility we still recognise 
there is a viable and valuable need for residential care. This in turn should help to 
strengthen and build confidence moving forward.

Page 67



Performance management/follow-up 

63.The consultation will be managed by Gloucestershire County Council Operations 
and Commissioning Teams in conjunction with representatives from the 
Gloucestershire Care Partnership. 

64.The timeline provided in the introduction sets out next steps regarding consultation 
with the relevant care homes and wider stakeholders together with further 
consideration by the Cabinet. Evaluation of consultation feedback will be undertaken 
by the project group who undertook the initial evaluation of the engagement survey 
and focus groups supported by stakeholders from Gloucestershire County Council, 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and Gloucestershire Care 
Partnership.

Page 68



Market engagement review & analysis of the Gloucestershire care market  

 

Introduction  

We undertook a comprehensive and focused review of the care market to better understand 

the initial and ongoing impacts that the Covid-19 pandemic has had on the care sector and 

the opportunity for providers to propose solutions and suggestions on how we as an 

integrated care system can further support providers to aid sustainability and recovery   

Care sector providers were given the option to complete a market engagement survey via 

our engagement ‘have your say’ portal which was open for 6 weeks.  

Providers were also given the opportunity to attend a virtual focus group session to engage 

further in discussion regarding the impact of the initial and ongoing impact of the covid-19 

pandemic.  

The survey and focus groups gave options to evaluate and discuss the type and scale of 
impact, with particular focus in the following areas: Business Model, Staffing and Recruitment, 
Infection, Prevention Control, Testing and Vaccinations, the survey also included a ‘other’ 
option to give opportunity for providers to tell us of any areas they felt were not covered but 
had been impacted.  
 

 

Survey Response Rate 

• They survey ran from the 14th of December 21 
until 23rd January 22 (40 days)  
 

• We had 103 respondents to the survey  
 

• We had responses from Care Homes, Day 
Care, Supported Living and Domiciliary Care 

 

 

 

Focus Group Response Rate 

• 59 survey participants expressed an interest in 
attending a virtual focus group, 24 accepted an 
invitation but only 9 joined 

 
• Care Homes, Day Care and Supported Living 

were represented in the groups. No one joined 
the Domiciliary Care session 

 

 
            

 
 

 

Care 
homes

39, 38%

Domiciliary 
care

26, 25%

Supported 
living

30, 29%

Day care
8, 8%

Survey participants by provider 
type

Care Home
4

Day 
Care

3

Supported 
Living

2

Focus group participants by 
provider type

Page 69



2 
 

 

Overall Impact   

Out of the 103 responses and those that attended the focus groups, 86% of providers told us 

that the pandemic had negatively impacted their business. 

 

 

Analysis of the overall impact data across each district, recorded a similar picture with 

providers experiencing a negative impact ranging between 78%-100%  

 

 

The data across provider type was also similar, with a negative impact ranging between 

83%-88% 

Negative 
88%

No Impact 
6%

Positive Impact …

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Gloucester Cheltenham Stroud Forest of
Dean

Tewkesbury Cotswolds

Impact per district

Negative Positive No Impact

Page 70



3 
 

 

Areas of Overall Impact  

Loss of Income  
Providers told us that the loss of income had negatively impacted their business with 70% of 
providers telling us that this was a moderate-high impact. It is indicated that loss of income 
has come from increased costs in other areas of the business including staffing, and 
equipment.  Providers also told us that the loss of resident income from both private and public 
funded sources has also negatively impacted their financial viability and business model. 
Some of the ‘other’ issues providers informed us of were relating to reduced occupancy and 
a fall in admissions to care homes, and other business-related costs such as utilities, and 
insurance.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

87% 88%
83%

88%

5% 8% 10% 13%
8%

4% 7%
0%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Gloucester Cheltenham Supported Living Day Care

Impact per provider type 

Negative Positive No impact

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Public
funded
sources

Private
funded
sources

Increased
costs

Change of
staffing

structure

Other

Care homes

High impact Moderate impact Low impact No impact

Page 71



4 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Staffing and Recruitment  
Recruitment, and retention of staff was seen as a key challenge across the entire care market, 
with a particular focus around nursing staff a trend we have seen reflected at a national level 
across the health and social care sector, however the geographical position of Gloucestershire 
seems to have exacerbated the staffing shortages particularly in the border areas of the 
county. Providers stated that the biggest impact was the loss of staff to other sectors, 
hospitality, retail, logistics with over 80% of providers rating this as a moderate-high impact. 
Providers gave the following reasons for staff leaving: 
 

• Lack of pay or low pay rates  

• Long hours  

• High pressure work & stress levels  

• Increased responsibility  

• Low morale and lack of appreciation 

• Feeling undervalued  

• A move to agency working increased flexibility with higher rates of pay 

• Uncertainty of the service remaining open/being sustainable 

• Mandatory vaccinated 

• Insufficient time to have meaningful engagement and deliver added social value 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Public
funded
sources

Private
funded
sources

Increased
costs

Change of
staffing

structure

Other

Domiciliary care

High impact Moderate impact Low impact No impact

Page 72



5 
 

 
 

 
 

Workforce disparities   
Providers told us that they and their staffing teams felt undervalued and that there appeared 
to be a lack of recognition at a national level for the independent care sector workforce when 
compared to those working in public sector Health & Social Care. Little recognition of their 
roles in supporting the wider health and social care system. All of which had been 
strengthened by the messages being promoted during the pandemic. The mandatory 
vaccination of care home staff in November 2021 is thought to be an indication of this and 
was a further challenge for providers as staff losses of approximately 30% as they entered 
winter again had a detrimental impact.   

 
Increased Costs  
Increased costs have had an impact on providers, and the following key areas are where 
providers told us they have had the biggest impact:  

• Agency costs 

• New equipment 

• Additional staff members  

• Sickness costs  

• Overhead Costs  

• Training costs 
 
Providers have told us extra staff have been necessary to be able to support with enhanced 
IPC measures and additional tasks that have been necessary during the pandemic. Such 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Recruitment
& retention

Increased
agency costs

Increased
staffing costs

Loss of staff
to other
sectors

Other

Staffing (Domiciliary) 

High impact Moderate impact Low impact No impact

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Recruitment
& retention

Increased
agency costs

Increased
staffing costs

Loss of staff
to other
sectors

Other

Staffing (Care Homes) 

High impact Moderate impact Low impact No impact

Page 73



6 
 

measures also increase the need for adequate, and suitable storage, and PPE stations in line 
with government guidance have contributed to increased costs.  
 
Providers reported an increased reliance on agency staff., This is largely due to the loss of 
staff from the sector, increased sickness levels due to covid-19 and self-isolation 
requirements. As a result, providers are often required to be ‘block book’ agency staff to 
attempt to keep continuity and reduce the risk of staff working in multiple settings. However, 
providers told us that this is challenging, and can often increase pressure further due to the 
time needed to induct, and support agency staff. Providers also told us on occasions agency 
staff although booked in advanced will often not arrive for their shift.  

 
Payments 
There were several areas where providers felt that payments have impacted their business 
these including the following: 

• Low rates from health & social care system. 

• Payment lead-times 

• Lack of gross funding 

• Negative relationship with council regarding payments 
 

Providers did acknowledge and appreciated the support off one off funding pots and several 
grant agreements that have been made available which have supported the care sector 
during the pandemic and aided them to remain to some extent sustainable, yet funding is 
due to end March 2022. While the extra streams of funding were vital to providers the 
additional administration tasks required to obtain several grants has been tough along with 
the further very strict conditions attached to them.  
 

Domiciliary Care Overview 

Individuals wishing to remain in their own homes for as long as possible, with an increased 
drive for independence has grown.  Many individuals with care and support needs are more 
likely to stay in their own home and receive support rather than going into a residential 
placement. Therefore, the need for domiciliary care has risen, along with the need for these 
providers to have a sustainable, and upskilled workforce to be able to respond flexibly to 
demand, and to care for the number of individuals living at home with complex conditions.  
 
We have found that in certain areas of Gloucestershire it can be particularly challenging to 
procure a suitable package of care, the average wait time for a provider to pick up a package 
of care is 2 months, with many individuals waiting anything up to 5 months for a package of 
care from referral.  
 

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

In
d

iv
id

u
al

s 

Length of time awaiting a domicillary care package

5 Months +

3 Months +

2 Months +

1 Month +

Page 74



7 
 

 
 
Review of the market engagement feedback has further demonstrated the additional 
pressures and challenges providers are facing due to the negative impact the pandemic has 
had on their business and staffing structures resulting in them becoming less sustainable and 
impacting on the support they are able to provide in promoting independence and community 
care and increasing dependence on residential beds in the short term. 
 
Geographic location is another crucial challenge when procuring packages of domiciliary care. 
Identified areas in Gloucestershire are continuing to be problematic, locations that are more 
remote often add additional travel time for providers. 
 
 

 
Figure 1 Dom Care Provider Locations (Spots for areas where provision is hard to source) (see full sized map Appendix 1) 

Recruitment and retention in the health and social care sector has been a continuing challenge 
for some time and has has been further exacerbated by the pandemic.  
 

 
  

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Business
model

Loss of
income

Staffing IPC Testing &
vaccination

Domiciliary care pandemic impact

High impact Moderate impact Low impact No impact

Page 75



8 
 

Domiciliary care providers rated staffing as having the greatest negative impact on their 
business, along with loss of income and business model. Recruiting staff locally is often not 
possible, this increases time spent travelling travel and can reduce the amount of capacity and 
care time providers are able to deliver. Without the staffing resource providers are unable to 
support new clients, which is impacting on a loss of income and existing business model. 
 

 
We are frequently utilising care home beds for individuals who have been assessed as 
needing a package of care in their own home. This is due to the lack of sufficient domiciliary 
care provision in Gloucestershire, and our responsibility to support in assisting hospital 
discharge flow and keep individuals safe. The utilisation of these care beds in the absence of 
domiciliary care, can bring about an increase in dependency and reduce individuals’ wellbeing 
and quality of life.  
 

 
Figure 2 -Dom Care provider locations in Gloucestershire (see full sized map Appendix 2) 

The rise in the number of individuals able to remain in their own homes for longer has 
increased the need for more complex domiciliary care packages or packages with increased 
numbers of visits and hours. This also requires staff to be up skilled, and competent to care 
for these individuals and adds a greater responsibility for the home care providers’ work force. 
 
 
Care Homes 
 
In Gloucestershire it has been identified that we have an excess of care home beds, then what 
are necessary to support the needs of individuals requiring a residential or nursing placement 
in a care home. 
 
Market analysis has also evidenced that the spread of care beds across the county are not 
evenly distributed with most of the care homes in the two urban districts, Gloucester & 
Cheltenham.  
 

Page 76



9 
 

 
Figure 3 Care Homes in Gloucestershire with Vacacnies (see full sized map Appendix 3) 

Market engagement has shown that there are still many vacancies in care homes in 
Gloucestershire which has been the picture for some time. Providers told us that both public 
funded placements, and private have significantly reduced overtime. 
 
The support required to assist hospital flow during the pandemic, and due to the lack of 
necessary domiciliary care provision, several of the beds that have been occupied in care 
homes are not by individuals who have residential or nursing needs and were placed to keep 
them safe.  

 
 

The introduction of increased Infection, prevention, and control measures, in addition to the 
implementation of regular covid testing for staff and residents has presented further pressure 
on care homes.  

225

109

59

163 174

55

0

50

100

150

200

250

Cheltenham Cotswolds Forest Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury

N
u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
v
a

c
a

n
c
ie

s

District

Gloucestershire Care Home Vacancies

Total

Page 77



10 
 

 
 

 
The management of covid-19 outbreaks and the difficult issues that outbreaks have 
presented have greatly impacted providers. The closure of services due to outbreak has 
impacted negatively in numerous areas, which the biggest impact including loss of income 
from new residents 
 
The introduction of regular testing particularly for residents has also impacted, providers told 
us that the intrusive nature of the tests, make it uncomfortable for residents and the extra 
staff resource required to undertake the resident testing and take the time to support the 
residents and console them at a difficult time when staffing was already at a minimum. 
 
Visiting in care homes has also been affected, and providers told us similarly to above that 
they are requiring additional resources to manage and encourage safe visiting, with the 
introduction of the covid passport, evidence, or support to under a negative LFT test, 
booking and cleaning regime of visiting room.   

 
The introduction of mandatory vaccinations for care staff has also had considerable impact on 
an already unstable and diminished workforce. Providers told us that staff were already leaving 
the care sector for reasons stated above, and the mandating of vaccinations has unfortunate 
seen a further loss of staff who wished to not be vaccinated.  
 

 

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Staff sickness
costs

Closure of service
due to outbreak

Increased costs
for new

equipment/IPC
facilities

Other

Infection, prevention & control measures

High impact Moderate impact Low impact No impact

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Recruitment
& retention

Increased
agency costs

Increased
staffing costs

Loss of staff
to other
sectors

Other

Staffing impact (Care Home)

High impact Moderate impact Low impact No impact

Page 78



11 
 

Care homes further support: 

As an result of the engagement survey and focus groups, providers expressed significant 

concerns  about the interface between their business and provision of services and 

commissioning decisions made at a strategic level across Gloucestershire. In essence 

providers were keen to explore a future state with the County Council that focused in on a 

placed based agenda, rather than the historic block contracting arrangements designed and 

implemented in a different era from a provider, commissioning and service user perspective. 

An example of this was the decision to purchase the Pathway 2 beds from our block provider 

which disadvantaged the independent care sector market in Gloucestershire. There was 

considerable unease that this decision was taken against the backdrop of a global 

pandenmic that by its very nature reduced an income source (self-funders) that providers 

had relied on as part of their business planning and sustainability.   

Futher support  

Providers told us that they felt they could be supported further in the following areas: 

• Support with filling vacancies in care homes across Gloucestershire 

• Further support for smaller independent providers  

• Extra opportunities for outcome focused support for adults with disabilities 

• Support to enable building transformations to provider better and more suitable 
care for individuals living with dementia  

• Enable digital transformation to achieve efficiencies and higher quality care 

• Re-design, and new specification for new services to support individuals  

• Improved relationships and payment processes 

• Review current rates so placement more closely reflect true cost of care  

• Additional support and funding with recruitment and retention of staff 

• Consider consolidating nursing services into fewer homes 
 

 

 

  

Page 79



Appendix 1: Domiciliary Care Provider Locations 

 

P
age 80



13 
 

 

Appendix 2: Domiciliary Care provider locations in Gloucestershire 

 

  

P
age 81



14 
 

 

Appendix 3: Care Homes in Gloucestershire with Vacacnies 

 

P
age 82



1

REPORT TITLE: Adult Social Care Technology Strategy 2022 - 2025

Cabinet Date 30th March 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Adult Social Care Commissioning and
Cllr Kathy Williams, Adult Social Care Delivery 

Key Decision No

Purpose of Report This report introduces the Adult Social Care Technology Strategy 2022 -
2025, and asks that it is adopted. 

The Strategy sets out the vision and ambitions for the role of technology in 
supporting people to live independently.

Recommendations To approve the adoption of the Adult Social Care Technology Strategy 
2022-2025.

Reasons for 
recommendations

1. Technology and digital innovation can help more people to sustain or 
regain independent living and promote their own wellbeing.

2. It can also help our staff and care providers to work more effectively 
and bring about improvements in efficiency which helps us to improve 
the quality of care. 

3. The time is right as the COVID-19 pandemic, though unwelcome, has 
created a unique opportunity for change. People have adopted 
technologies to monitor their own health, to help them with activities of 
daily living, and to stay connected with loved ones at an accelerated 
rate and with a high degree of success. Sustaining this momentum will 
be important in enabling us to continue to meet people’s needs in 
future.

Resource 
Implications

The one-off cost of delivering the Technology Strategy will be £1.43m and is 
met within existing resources and from the Care Act budget.
This investment will support improvements in productivity and efficiency and 
enable prevention of escalating demands on the external care budget.

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



2

Background 
Documents

Gloucestershire County Council  Digital Strategy 2018-2023
Gloucestershire County Council Strategy 2022- 2026 – Building Back 
Better in Gloucestershire
Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social 
care for all White Paper

Statutory Authority Care Act 2014

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:  Louise Holder, Strategic Lead for Adult Social Care Transformation
Tel. no: 01452 328515
Email: louise.holder@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Timeline The Strategy covers the period 2022 to 2025.

Page 84

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/1519646/2018-2023-digital-strategy.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/building-back-better-in-gloucestershire/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf
mailto:louise.holder@gloucestershire.gov.uk


3

Background 

1. The Adult Social Care Technology Strategy sets out the vision and ambitions for the 
potential of technology in transforming care and changing lives. We want technology to 
be a part of everyday life for vulnerable people in Gloucestershire, and part of everyday 
practice for adult social care professionals.

2. Our aim is to continue to improve the experiences of people who use services, and of 
our workforce, through the exploration, development and implementation of technology 
which promotes and enhances independence and creates working efficiencies through 
the lifetime of the strategy.

3. Over the last 5 years, the Adult Single Programme has delivered a comprehensive 
programme of efficiency, change and improvement. This Strategy builds on that 
success and provides a framework for the ongoing transformation of adult social care in 
Gloucestershire.

The Adult Social Care Transformation - Technology Strategy 2022-2025

4. This Strategy reflects an increasing focus on our role in helping people to remain 
independent and healthy through activity which emphasises prevention. It sets out the 
Council’s commitment to delivering that aim through the use of technology. It builds on 
the transformation already delivered through the Adult Single Programme and aligns 
with the national direction of travel as set out in February 2021’s Health and Care White 
Paper, Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and care for all.

5. Technology is already reshaping the way adult social care services can be delivered, 
with the expectation of more changes on the horizon. The health and care landscape 
has changed rapidly because of Covid-19 with all system partners required to find 
innovative solutions to new problems. Technology Enabled Care (TEC) provides a vital 
tool for enabling us to better understand individuals’ needs in this context and offers 
new practical remote and digital options to help both improve people’s lives and meet 
the challenges we face in recovering from the pandemic.

6. The adoption of digital technologies within social care and more widely during the 
pandemic has raised the profile of technology and with it the expectation that we could 
do more to harness its potential to do more to support individuals, carers, professionals 
and services. Recent experience has highlighted benefits such as remote monitoring of 
health conditions, video consultations with health and care professionals, and proactive 
support for those who are socially isolated.

7. The move to digital technologies will also shift our thinking towards the ability to behave 
more proactively and preventatively. By using tools which enable predictive analysis, 
we could better understand the circumstances when detrimental events may occur, 
allowing us to put in place effective measures before a crisis even happens. This 
approach aligns with Gloucestershire’s strength-based model of practice, reduces 
demand on the system and most importantly helps people to lead fuller and more 
independent lives. 

Page 85



4

8. The Health and Care White Paper emphasises the importance of integration through its 
intended creation of Integrated Care Systems. This is likely to generate a new impetus 
to develop digital technology which supports shared goals across the health and social 
care sectors and a drive to make better use of the data we collectively hold to deliver 
personalised services.

9. This Strategy will enable us to fully consider and respond to the national move from 
analogue to digital infrastructure, known as the digital switchover. By the end of 2025, 
the traditional telephone network will be switched off, affecting every landline in the 
country. This change will mean most of our existing telecare devices cease to be 
reliable or usable, and we will therefore need to act in good time to ensure people 
continue to be supported to live safely and independently by adopting new digital 
technology. 

Proposed Changes

10.The overall aim is to increase the part that technology plays in adult social care to 
achieve better outcomes for people. The Strategy proposes the following key areas of 
focus:

11.Prevention and Self-help. To deliver this, our priorities will include:

- developing and improving our digital information offer to help people to find 
personalised advice about the most appropriate local service or assistive 
technology for them while maintaining ways for customers to get help and 
information by phone and in person, including those that lack digital skills and 
online access; 

- enabling people to purchase equipment, assistive technology or services through 
a digital marketplace and through the development of an online ‘virtual smart 
home’; 

- and, continuing to invest in our Digital Innovation Fund to work with the voluntary 
and community sector enabling use of technology which supports independence 
and digital inclusion.

12.Sustained Independent Living. To deliver this, our priorities will include:

- Promoting and using digital tools to help people keep in touch with loved ones 
and professionals, reducing social isolation and promoting inclusion. 

- Rolling out technologies which support the delivery of care in people’s homes. 
This could include devices such as sensors placed in people’s homes which 
send alerts when behaviour changes are detected. Or, for example, apps which 
support people with mental ill health and/or autism to progressively manage their 
condition with less professional intervention, or the use of a QR code-based 
technology to help people with learning disabilities by supporting them to 
independently do daily tasks like making simple meals or cleaning their home. 

- Exploring the potential of enabling a portal into our case management system 
which allows people with an active social care case to view and interact with 
their care record and social worker online. 

Page 86



5

-

13.Facilitating Recovery. To deliver this, our priorities will include:

- Extending the use of telehealth, telecare and digitally enabled care to people in 
the Home First Service (including rapid installation of equipment to allow remote 
monitoring to be quickly set up)

- Supporting people in the community and following discharge from hospital by 
integrating technology into their care and support plans

- Enable reablement workers to remotely view people’s care notes and update 
them in the field through the provision of new devices and software

14.Sustainable Workforce To deliver this, our priorities will include:

- Introducing digital shared care records. The development, implementation and 
regular use of shared care records will give the care workforce a step change in 
their ability to deliver efficient, effective, high quality care.

- Exploring technologies which can play an active role in frontline care delivery. 
This might include using AI to better schedule care visits in localities, eliminating 
wasted journeys and freeing up valuable time for the carer to spend with people 
receiving their support. 

- Considering the use of collaborative robots (cobots) to help the carer (either paid 
or unpaid) to work more independently and with reduced risk of sustaining an 
injury. 

Options

15.Option 1 – adopt the Adult Social Care Technology Strategy. This option will enable 
Gloucestershire’s citizens to benefit from the potential that new technologies have to 
support independence, connect people with their communities and proactively support 
our care and support workforce. It will also support us to meet our Care Act duties (to 
prevent, reduce and delay need) and those as described in the Integration and 
Innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all White Paper (to 
better integrate systems, processes and data).

16.Option 2 – not adopt the Adult Social Care Technology Strategy. This option would 
mean that Gloucestershire would be left behind and unable to innovate to help 
vulnerable people. Our ability to meet Care Act duties, such as the duty to prevent, 
reduce and delay need, as well as those emerging in the White Paper would also be 
compromised. 

Risks 

17.Some people may not yet be familiar or confident with technology, and this could inhibit 
their desire to use it, both preventatively and as needs progress. This particularly 
applies to older people, people with disabilities and those living in rural areas. Some 
technologies are also not easily affordable for people who would be likely to benefit 
from them. Over time, as technology becomes more and more a part of everyday life, 

Page 87



6

these issues will naturally reduce although there are likely to remain pockets of digital 
exclusion for some time. Through targeted support to our community and voluntary 
organisations we will help to increase people’s knowledge, skills and access to 
technology which can enrich their lives and slow the dependence for formal 
interventions. We will continue to invest in providing training, awareness and education 
at a very local level to ensure we are able to target our support where it is most needed. 
We will also focus any investment in digital technology on devices and applications 
which maximise accessibility to help overcome digital exclusion.

18. Connectivity, especially in the more rural areas of Gloucestershire can be challenging, 
so we will continue to identify areas of low or non-connectivity and feed this information 
into the Fastershire programme, as well as seeking technologies which are responsive 
to our environment. We will ensure any technology we use takes account of and 
responds to our geographical challenges. 

19. It will be challenging to get to the point where social care practitioners are confident and 
knowledgeable in the use of technology, particularly at a time when workloads are 
already significant in response to the pandemic. Moving technology to the forefront of 
interventions will require a significant cultural shift. Increased use of digital technology 
which is novel for the Council will also require a cultural step in terms of positive risk 
taking around procurement, information governance and ICT. We will therefore develop 
a training programme for internal staff and those working in the independent sector to 
upskill the workforce and include in our plans technologies which are intended to be 
simpler and more effective to use.

20.While giving us new opportunities to intervene earlier and improve people’s lives as a 
consequence, increasing the role of personal data to inform practice can be vulnerable 
to misuse. We will work closely with our Information Management Service (IMS) to 
balance the benefits and risks of new ways of working in order to mitigate this risk. 

21. The technology enabled care market is immature and fragmented, making identifying 
future useful technologies challenging in terms of scale, availability and longevity. The 
cost of investment in some technologies is also considerable, but there is a lack of 
robust evidence of return on investment. To overcome this, we will continue to scope 
and test technologies before we invest more substantially, ensuring we make evidence-
led decisions about which technologies are best for Gloucestershire.

22. Our system partners do not always use the same operating systems as us or each 
other, making it difficult to maximise the impact of change. We will continue to work 
closely with internal and external colleagues to best align our work with competing 
pressures and where possible implement solutions which allow connectivity across a 
mixed technology estate. Legislative proposals, as outlined in the Health and Care 
White Paper, endorse this approach.

Financial implications

23.As set out in the ASC Commissioning Intentions annex to the MTFS agreed at Council 
in February, the strategy forms part of the overall Adult Single Programme and its twin 
drivers of improving outcomes for people by helping them to live independently whilst 

Page 88



7

achieving better use of resources. The costs of delivering this Strategy are fully covered 
from within the Care Act budget.

24.The £1.43 million funds will cover the following elements:
 Trialling new technologies (£400k)
 Digital Innovation Fund (£400k)
 Review of Assistive Technology (£295k)
 Systems upgrade and support (£334k)

Climate change implications

25.Greater use of technology has potential positive implications on climate change. The 
ability to monitor people’s condition remotely, our staff having mobile working enabled 
in the field and people being able to virtually engage with support in their communities 
would all save unnecessary journeys in a geographically large county, for example.

Equality implications

26.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes. This identified that, 
in time, this Strategy is anticipated to have a positive impact on people with protected 
characteristics. It also identified that older people and those with disabilities are typically 
less likely to have engaged with the internet. We have therefore put in place a 
programme of community level work led by the VCS to deliver skills in local areas to the 
people who will need most support. 

27.Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order 
to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

28. Individual DPIAs will be conducted for each relevant area of the Strategy as the 
implications will vary according to the technology and data used. In general terms, we 
will ensure that personal and sensitive data continues to be held and managed safely 
while exploring how we can make better use of the potential of shared data sets to 
personalise services and support positive outcomes. 

29.Clear protocols for the collection and use of data will be put in place which are 
understood by individuals and their families, including guidelines for governing our use 
of data. IMS are currently working on a Research Governance Framework which will 
encompass the Technology Enabled Care Trials described in the Strategy.

Social value implications

30.The implementation of the Adult Social Care Technology Strategy will have positive 
implications for social value. The changes created aim to, for example, connect people 
more effectively with their communities, promote their independence and improve 
wellbeing and skills as well as creating value for the wider health and social care 
system.

Consultation feedback

Page 89



8

31. Senior Management teams across Adults (Operations and Commissioning) have been 
consulted, as have key individuals such as the Executive Director for Corporate 
Resources, the Director of People and the Head of Digital and Business 
Relationships. All received it positively, and their feedback has been included in the 
Strategy.

32. A Tech Champions Group has been established within the Adult Social Care 
Operations Team which includes representation from every locality, and meets 
regularly to discuss the use of technology in practice to ensure that ongoing feedback 
about the implementation of the Strategy is recognised.

33. A new Community of Practice has established a direct link between those identifying, 
prescribing and receiving technologies to inform the future direction of travel use of 
technology in adult social care and create a shared understanding around the 
different perceptions about the use of technology. The development of this Strategy 
has been shared and is influenced by their input.

34. The Technology Strategy has also been shared for consultation with the members of 
the Digital Delivery Group of Gloucestershire’s Integrated Care System.

Officer recommendations

35.Officers recommend that the Adult Social Care Technology Strategy 2022 -2025 is 
approved and adopted as outlined in Option 1. 

Performance Management/Follow-up 

36.The implementation of the Strategy will be driven and monitored as part of the existing 
governance process for the Adult Single Programme.

37.Where a need to procure specific systems or services, or put in place other measures 
which require Cabinet or senior officer approval, the appropriate authorisation will be 
sought.

Page 90



1

Adult Social Care Technology Strategy – 2022-2025

Introduction

In its White Paper People at the Heart of Care: adult social care reform, the Government sets out that “When technology is 
embedded seamlessly into care and support services, it can be transformative, helping people to live happy, fulfilled lives in their 
homes and communities. …

The use of technologies in social care should:

 enhance the quality of care
 free up time for meaningful human interactions
 create stronger connections between people and their friends, family and care networks

We must ensure that technology reduces rather than exacerbates loneliness and isolation, and that it supports the mental health 
and wellbeing of people and carers. And, while not all people will want to use technology as part of their care or daily life, we must 
make sure that professionals and care teams have the right digital tools and data to provide the outstanding, safe care that all 
people deserve.”

This document sets out our ambition to deliver this vision, building on the progress we have already made in transforming how 
Gloucestershire embraces technology and digital tools to deliver higher quality, more efficient, safer and more joined-up social care 
to improve people’s lives.  It is our aim to continue this momentum for change through the work described in this Strategy 
recognising that the drive for improvement must reflect both quality and effectiveness.

We also need to recognise the breadth of issues covered under the label of technology and that they will develop and be 
implemented at different paces.  These include (but are not exhaustive):

 Online platforms and communications for access to all care and to address social inclusion
 Assistive technology deployed in people’s homes

P
age 91



2

 Predictive analytics to identify vulnerability prior to crisis
 A technically empowered workforce.

For some issues/solutions this is a future vision, but for some the future is already here or soon will be and thus the Strategy also 
sets out how we’ll understand the difference; being both ambitious in our planned improvements and reflective of the need that we 
must do so acting safely and ensuring that we are enhancing the quality of care.    

Drivers and challenges
One of our most important services as a society is adult social care. We want Gloucestershire’s elderly, vulnerable and disabled 
people to live independent and fulfilled lives for as long as possible and know that this is a priority not only for citizens but for their 
families, carers and the wider health and social care system.

We know that by 2027 almost 21% of the UK population will be aged 65 and above1 and that people with disabilities have thankfully 
longer life expectancies. If this trend continues, it is estimated that almost 1 in 6 adults would be required to work in adult social 
care by 2038 to meet demand2, which would be unrealistic in a balanced Gloucestershire economy. We are already experiencing 
shortfalls in the workforce available in parts of Gloucestershire and in some sectors of care, a picture which has become more 
pronounced during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Proposed changes to legislation also place new duties on local authorities and the cost of social care is increasing while local 
authority budgets are constrained, so we need to think innovatively and radically to find the right solutions. 

The power of technology can help us meet these challenges and improve lives. 

Technology through the care journey 

It is our aim to increase our use of technology throughout people’s care journey wherever there is an identified need that can be 
met, in part or in whole, by new technologies. 

1 Office of National Statistics
2 James Bullion, ADASS President, 2021

P
age 92



3

Prevention and self-help
Whilst Gloucestershire’s population is ageing, most older people do not need or want regular care. The same is true for other 
vulnerable groups, such as people with physical disabilities who do not want to rely on intrusive care schedules. This means 
more extensive (but selective) use of technology has an important role to play, opening  up opportunities for self-purchase by 
people who want to take early action to protect their independence. Prevention in social care is about encouraging people to 
be more proactive about their health and wellbeing. We must make prevention and early intervention a much stronger 
element of our model of support and of care pathways as part of a decisive focus towards improving population health.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the use of digital technologies transformed the delivery of care and helped people stay 
connected with friends and family. Although digital solutions have been a lifeline for millions of people, it has also laid bare 
inequalities in access. Recent research by Age UK highlighted that the older population are still less likely to be digitally 
included; among those aged 75+, more than 40% do not use the internet and Office for National Statistics (ONS) data shows 
that 14.9% people with a disability have never used the internet, compared to 6.3% of the UK population. Recent research 
also showed that, nationally, 23% of care home staff cannot access the internet consistently at work. 

Our priorities will be to:

 Develop our digital directory, Your Circle, plus chatbots to help people to find personalised advice about the most 
appropriate local service or assistive technology for  while maintaining ways for customers to get help and information 
by phone and in person, including those that lack digital skills and online access . As people increasingly manage 
their care through personal budgets we need to ensure that it is as easy as possible for people to purchase and use 
the technology that would best support their goals. 

P
age 93

https://www.yourcircle.org.uk/


4

 Enable people to purchase equipment, assistive technology or services through a digital marketplace and through the 
development of an online ‘virtual smart home’

 Support people to undertake online self-assessments and create care accounts
 Utilise apps and assistive technology to decrease social isolation and improve wellbeing
 Continue to invest in our Digital Innovation Fund to work with the voluntary and community sector enabling use of 

digital solutions which support independence and inclusion.

Sustained independent living
It has long been Gloucestershire County Council’s strategic aim to support more people to remain living independently in 
their own home, and in doing so to meet our Care Act duty to prevent, reduce and delay the need for formal care. We 
recognise that technology can help us to meet these aims and duties so we will promote, expand and embed technology-
enabled care by ensuring it is a routine and fundamental part of social care practice. 

Smart and assistive living technologies use sensors and devices in people’s homes to monitor and help maintain 
independence for as long as someone wishes. These technologies can help manage the physical environment (such as by 
closing curtains, opening doors and managing heating and security), help with routine tasks such as medication reminders 
and also help in preventing social isolation by allowing people to chat with friends and family through their digital television or 
smart assistant, for example, and support those with dementia by providing automated memory stimulations. 

We also recognise that care provision cannot and should not be entirely automated, and this is also the approach taken in 
the White Paper. Human interaction should not be replaced by technology, but we can support the teams and individuals 
that deliver this vital service to use technology differently and more routinely to support a more sustainable care market. 
Technology has a vital role to play in sustaining carers, both paid and unpaid, and in creating much needed additional 
capacity in the workforce. 

Our priorities will be to:

 Fully integrate technology within the care journey, making technology enabled care a core part of service 
specifications and of our social work practice (assessments should always include a consideration of technology as a 
part of a strength-based approach). 

P
age 94



5

 Understand the benefits of digital technology and have the evidence to target spending to effectively deploy 
technology that meets people’s needs. 

 Promote and use digital tools to help people keep in touch with loved ones and professionals, reducing social isolation 
and promoting inclusion, linking with other community services to ensure we reach all parts of the county.

 Promote and use off-the-shelf as well as more specialist technology. Devices such as virtual assistants can be 
personalised to provide reminders (for example, to take medication, to hydrate or to lock the door) and can also be 
integrated with domestic appliances and home management systems to further support independence.

 Roll out technologies which support the delivery of care in people’s homes. This could include devices such as 
sensors placed in people’s homes which discreetly monitor daily patterns of behaviour, sending alerts when changes 
are detected. As well as providing peace of mind for family, this technology can also help care providers manage their 
limited resources more efficiently, reducing costs and maximising impact, removing reliance on self-reporting by 
vulnerable people and can provide early indications of incidents or ill health.

 Invest in digital remote monitoring and personal alarms (known as telecare) which raise alerts as soon as a potential 
issue, such as a fall, is identified. We will also identify and use more proactive and predictive solutions which could 
ultimately prevent the fall in the first place.

 Link the most appropriate technologies to different care pathways and to different personal circumstances or 
preferences. For example, people with dementia will have a different set of needs and capabilities to those 
undergoing rehabilitation and will therefore require a personalised approach to the best technology for the situation.

 Continue to explore innovations in care technology which help people to live as independently as possible, for as long 
as possible. This will include, for example: testing apps which support people with mental ill health and/or autism to 
progressively manage their condition with less professional intervention; assessing the use of a QR code based 
technology to help people with learning disabilities by supporting them to independently do daily tasks like making 
simple meals or cleaning their home; testing the use of watches and other wearable devices to support people with 
dementia; and trialling systems in care homes and the community which use reminiscence and digital activities to 
manage behaviour that challenges. 

 Explore the potential of enabling a portal into our case management system which allows people with an active social 
care case to view and interact with their care record and social worker online. 

 Give people access to the adaptations and technologies which help them live well and make meaningful choices over 
their housing arrangements 

P
age 95



6

Facilitating recovery
Technology can have the greatest impact (and cost-effectiveness) when offered an early stage, as it may have the best opportunity 
to reduce the need for longer-term care. Technology should therefore be an essential part of any reablement service or other short-
term intervention which aims to help people recover their life skills after a period of illness or hospitalisation. 

Our priorities will be to:

 Extend the use of telehealth, telecare and digitally enabled care to people in the Home First Service (including rapid 
installation of equipment to allow remote monitoring to be quickly set up)

 Support people in the community and following discharge from hospital by integrating technology into their care and 
support plans

 Enable reablement workers to remotely view people’s care notes and update them in the field through the provision of 
new devices and software

 Explore the use of data to assess whether people discharged from hospitals are becoming increasingly independent 
through the use of activity monitoring systems in their homes. These systems can also use Artificial Intelligence (AI) to 
detect a deterioration in someone’s condition, providing early warning to reablement teams to prevent readmission 
and improve outcomes for the individual. If successful, by intervening early, these tools could reduce the need for 
therapy time and reduce the amount of long-term care someone requires.

Sustainable care workforce 
Social care of the future will use technology routinely in all care settings and at every stage of the care journey not only to 
provide the best outcomes for people, but to support our workforce to do their jobs effectively. We will therefore make sure that 
our care workforce has the right digital tools, training, skills and data to provide the outstanding, safe care that all people 
deserve. Using digital tools to support workflow, care-planning and decision-making, care professionals will be supported to do 
the right things at the right time in a person’s care journey to deliver the highest standards of personalised care.

Our priorities will be to:

 Introduce digital shared care records to provide accurate information to the team supporting care and to improve 
transfers of care and the hospital discharge process. The development, implementation and regular use of shared 
care records will give the care workforce a step change in their ability to deliver efficient, effective, high quality care.

P
age 96



7

 Explore technologies which can play an active role in frontline care delivery. This might include using AI to better 
schedule care visits in localities, eliminating wasted journeys and freeing up valuable time for the carer to spend with 
people receiving their support. 

 Extend our use of a Provider Portal to facilitate online interaction between the Council and care providers. This will 
streamline the commissioning of care, thereby reducing delays and freeing up valuable care staff time.  

 Continue to work with Integrated Care System partners to extend access to NHS systems to care homes to provide 
high quality information, free up time and improve system flow

 Consider the use of collaborative robots (cobots). In the care sector, the most advanced area of exploration is robotic 
exoskeletons, external apparatus worn to protect carers as they deliver physical care, moving and lifting people in 
their care. This can help the carer (either paid or unpaid) to work more independently and with reduced risk of 
sustaining an injury. There may be instances in which care which would traditionally require two carers working 
together, could be delivered by a single individual using a cobot and other specialist equipment. 

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE:  Concessionary fare system procurement 

Cabinet Date Cabinet 23rd March 2022

Cabinet 
Member Councillor Philip Robinson / Economy, Education and Skills

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of 
Report

To seek Cabinet approval to procure and award a contract for the supply of:

a) bus pass production, management, and statistical analysis services; 
b) a back-office client management system for use by Council staff to 

manage card production, activity, and auditing; 
c) a customer portal for use by Gloucestershire residents to process 

orders for concessionary bus passes (applications and/or 
replacements); and

d) concessionary fare reimbursement services.

Concessionary fare reimbursements are provided by the council to bus 
operators, as per the Council’s statutory requirement where government pay 
for concessionary travel. Such reimbursements are funded by central 
government, via local transport authorities (with/without external supplier 
assistance), where reimbursements are calculated via national transport 
regulations.

The proposed procurement would enable the Council to continue to fulfil its 
statutory obligations as a Local Transport Authority in respect of the English 
National Concessionary Travel Scheme (ENCTS)1 ; free school transport2; 
and concessionary fare reimbursement3.

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/administering-smart-concessionary-travel-permits-english-local-
authorities-guidance
2 https://www.gov.uk/free-school-transport
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-reimbursing-bus-operators-for-concessionary-travel

Page 99

Agenda Item 9



Recommend
ations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director: Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Economy, Education and Skills to:

1. Conduct a compliant procurement process in respect of a contract for 
the supply of (a) bus pass production, management, and statistical 
analysis services; (b) a back-office client management system for use 
by Council staff to manage card production, activity and auditing; (c)  a 
customer portal for use by Gloucestershire residents to process orders 
for concessionary bus passes (applications and/or replacements); and 
(d) concessionary fare reimbursement services.  Such contract shall 
continue for an initial period of 5 years and include an option to extend 
its term for a further period of not more than 2 years.

2. Award such contract to the preferred tenderer. This will enable the 
Council to continue to fulfil its statutory duty as Local Transport 
Authority.

3. Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of such 
contract on the expiry of the initial term 5 year term. 

Reasons for 
recommenda
tions

The production and management of the required bus passes and the 
provision of reimbursement services in respect of concessionary fares are 
both statutory requirements. Types of bus passes are (i) for ENCTS, (ii) for 
education transport (see footnotes on previous page and on this page).

The current contract for card production and management services (including 
both concessionary cards and school bus passes) expires on 31st December 
2022 and a new contract is therefore required in order to maintain service 
continuity. The required service is a statutory service, which at the moment 
has roughly 100,200 live concessionary card holders registered and roughly 
4000 live school bus passes.

The current contract for concessionary fare reimbursement (i.e., the 
administration and calculations therein), ends on March 31st 2023, and 
procuring this service within the same procurement process as the bus 
passes (cards) will increase productivity, decrease Council administration, 
and decrease costs.

Resource 
Implications

The required procurement process will be undertaken within existing budgets 
and staff resources. 

The total estimated maximum value of the proposed contract, if the council 
does elect to exercise its 2 year extension option, is £924,000. This is based 
on the annual average contract value over the past years (£105,600) plus an 
allowance for inflation, growth in the market, and demand for travel card 
products on passenger transport services during the lifetime of the contract. 
These values have been sense checked by industry experts. 

Page 100



Background 
Documents

Cabinet (28/09/2016): Tender and Award of Concessionary Travel and Smart 
Card Production and Management Contract 

Proposed Concessionary Travel Scheme Reimbursement Contract (14 
December 2016)

Department for Transport: Concessionary travel statistics: quality report 2021 

Department for Transport: Evaluation of Concessionary Bus Travel - The 
impacts of the free bus pass

Department for Transport: Policy paper - Inclusive Transport Strategy

Department for Transport: Policy paper - Post legislative assessment of the 
Concessionary Bus Travel Act 2007: memorandum to the Transport Select 
Committee

Statutory 
Authority

Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Tom Main – Integrated Transport Manager
01453 425343
tom.main@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Completed/Ongoing 
 Prepare and launch soft market testing for requirement 
 Review soft market question responses received 
 Communicate with Strategic Procurement, ICT and IMS and Legal 

regarding procurement process and requirements therein. 
 Prepare documents and attend Cabinet Meeting March 2022

Going forward
 Finalise procurement documents to conduct a compliant process in May, 

working with Procurement.
 Award contract such that there is three months or more overlap with 

current supplier (for travel cards) as a mobilisation period. 
 By 31st December 2022, new supplier is fully onboarded and contract with 

previous supplier ends. 
 From March 31st 2023, the current concessionary fare reimbursement 

contract will end, and within the new contract specific to concessionary 
fare reimbursement, requirements will start from April 1st 2023 (with 
suitable testing beforehand).  

Page 101

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=868
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=868
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s34773/Item%207%20-%20Concessionary%20Travel%20Scheme%20Reimbursement.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s34773/Item%207%20-%20Concessionary%20Travel%20Scheme%20Reimbursement.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/buses-statistics-guidance/concessionary-travel-statistics-quality-report-2021
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/876395/evaluation-of-concessionary-bus-travel.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/876395/evaluation-of-concessionary-bus-travel.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inclusive-transport-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/post-legislative-assessment-of-the-concessionary-bus-travel-act-2007-memorandum-to-the-transport-select-committee
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/post-legislative-assessment-of-the-concessionary-bus-travel-act-2007-memorandum-to-the-transport-select-committee
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/post-legislative-assessment-of-the-concessionary-bus-travel-act-2007-memorandum-to-the-transport-select-committee
mailto:tom.main@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 
1.1 The Council has a statutory duty to 

a) provide free concessionary travel to qualifying older people, and to disabled people of 
all ages, travelling on local bus services in Gloucestershire; and

b) provide free home to school transport for those pupils eligible for such transport, as per 
government regulation.

1.2 The rules and regulations of all this travel are predefined4 and non-negotiable. The 
proposed procurement does not involve any of the criteria listed below, as these are 
predefined by central government: 
a) eligibility of travel;
b) the rates of travel;
c) the times of travel;
d) any negotiation with bus operators on these topics. 

1.3 The Council’s current concessionary and education bus pass production and management 
contract expires at the end of 2022 and a new contract needs to be put in place to ensure 
continuity of service for eligible residents.

1.4 Since 2011 Gloucestershire has pioneered the use of an online card application portal that 
enables residents to apply for a bus pass at any time of day and then receive a new card in 
the post within five days. Flexibility and prompt delivery such as this will be replicated in 
the new contract. Alternatively, residents may visit a local library and apply using a library-
computer with support from library staff if needed. As well as being simple and convenient 
for customers, this system has also enabled the council to run the service more efficiently. 
We intend to build on this successful approach in our new contract. Technology has 
improved and there are more options available since procuring the current contract. The 
Council have seen progress and development of options given to the public and to Council 
staff for internal management. The procurement will ensure that the new supplier can 
continue impressive development for the duration of the contract. 

1.5 ENCTS Permit design has its own guidelines, see here5 for more information. 

1.6 Since the current contract has been in place, the Council has progressed in using bus 
passes for pupils with great success. The Council is one of few LTAs in the country which 
has most county schools registered to use travel cards. At the moment, roughly 4000 
pupils have active travel cards. The parents of guardians apply for the pass(es), for no fee 
when pupils are eligible6, and those pupils receive them in the post, with a small fee for 
replacements. 

1.7 A mandatory bus concession for older and disabled people has been in place since 2001, 
the “England national concessionary travel scheme” (ENCTS). The scheme has provided 
free off-peak local bus travel to eligible older and disabled people anywhere in England. 
Local Transport Authorities, including the Council, are responsible for reimbursing bus 
operators for journeys made by those with a pass.

1.8 Across the UK, continued preference to digital and cashless services has resulted in 
greater use of bus passes on transport services. The current system can produce 
commercial options. This flexibility and opportunity for commercially related cards will be 

4 Predefined by the Department for Transport and central government 
5  Department for Transport – Technical Guidance for Travel Concession Authorities 
6 Free school transport - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Page 102

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/501080/encts-technical-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/501080/encts-technical-guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/free-school-transport


retained in the new contract, which will accommodate multi-operator ticket options. Multi-
operator tickets in Gloucestershire is an aim of the Bus Service Improvement Plan. 

1.9 One specific development required within the next contract is that the public will have 
access to an online portal to apply for either age or disability related concessionary bus 
passes. The Council are aware that this functionality already works well within the market. 
Within the current contract, the online portal for the public only allows age related 
concessionary bus passes. The advancement in the market allows us to make this 
development a requirement in the new contract. 

1.10 The Council is consulting with independent industry experts, Smart Applications 
Management (SAM). SAM offers independent advice and market understanding to LTAs. 
SAM also have various framework-procurement options, and also provide managed 
options for LTAs to have support throughout provision of these statutory requirements. 
Considering the capabilities and capacity of internal Council staff (to work with residents), a 
technical support group and assistance throughout the contract could provide considerable 
help. Potentially, working in collaboration with SAM could result in support for the Council 
team and lead to large benefits during the contract, e.g. technological experience, and 
support tailored for LTAs. 

Options
Option 1: Do nothing and allow the current contract to expire without a replacement system. 

2  Not procuring an equivalent and new contract for these bus passes and reimbursement-
system would mean the Council would not meet its statutory requirements. The resulting 
correspondence from the Department for Transport and potential legal repercussions would 
be extremely severe. This would result in huge reputational damage for the Council – the 
Council would be failing the residents of the county.  

Option 2: Procure bus pass card production, management and concessionary fare reimbursement 
as per recommendations set out in this report 
Recommended and Preferred option

3 To procure and award the contract described in the Recommendations hereunder.
This option would allow the Council to ensure these statutory requirements are fulfilled to 
the best of our ability to choose the most appropriate supplier who can deliver the best 
value for money.

Risks 
Reputational risk 

4 Although ENCTS bus passes and provision of education bus passes are statutory 
requirements, there are always risks around software functionality and future-proofing 
software design. The Council should ensure that the software is easy to use and works well. 
This risk will be mitigated by ensuring software functionality and future-proofing are key 
points within the contract specification. To ensure accessibility, the Council will explicitly 
state in the contract that the software is required to be readable, accessible as per 
government guidelines7, modern and easy to use. 

Risk that the procurement results in un-economically high prices 
5 The provision of such software and the strong regulatory constraints mean that there are 

high barriers of entry into this market and as a consequence the number of active players is 

7 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/accessibility-requirements-for-public-sector-websites-and-apps

Page 103



relatively small.  We have completed a soft market testing exercise which had three 
responses. The Council will continue to consult with SAM s an expert advisor to local 
authorities in this market. The Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) and Procurement are already 
in touch with SAM to review all appropriate routes to market.

Risk that technological advancement in the sector, during the new contract, results in the supplier 
achieving sub-standard functionality, compared to other similar systems from other suppliers 

6 Within most technology, software sectors, there is a chance that new technology will leave 
some suppliers “behind”. To mitigate against this risk, the Council will (a) ensure we take 
advice from independent industry experts, and (b) ensure the new contract includes a break 
clause, most likely that the contract can end within 12 months after notification from the 
Council to the supplier. 

Financial implications 
7 The Council have budgeted internally for the costs, within the Integrated Transport Unit 

budgets. Thus, the procurement and awards will be undertaken within existing budgets and 
staff resources. Industry experts are being consulted, who offer both a service which can be 
procured, and also offer procurement expertise in this area. 

8 The total maximum contract value is estimated at up to £924,000. This is for seven years 
(five-year award plus possible maximum two year extension), based on the annual average 
contract value over the past years (£105,600) plus an allowance for inflation, growth in the 
market, and demand for travel card products on passenger transport services during the 
lifetime of the contract. It is hoped that by using knowledge from industry experts, the 
contract value will be lower.  

Climate change / Environmental implications
9 The Council must fulfil its statutory requirements, whilst also upholding it’s climate policy. As 

such, questions will be asked during procurement regarding any supplier policies in place to 
reduce the energy required for running back-up servers, energy required for server-cooling, 
and how such reductions / remaining under a certain level of energy use is sustainable into 
the future. 

10 Similarly, the Council will understand any environmental/carbon offsetting the suppliers 
already have in place, to offset their work as a whole. 

11 If any face-to-face meetings with supplier(s) are preferred, public transport will be 
encouraged. Due to the software being web based, and all meetings with suppliers being 
able to occur online, this helps reduce the need to travel by car. 

12 These obligations are fully in line and linked to the Local Transport Plan and the Council’s 
commitment to reducing carbon emissions and commitment to climate change. For more 
information on these links, please see the Council website. 

Equality implications
13 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 

satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given. The Council has 
reviewed research and data regarding the equalities of protected characteristics within 
these statutory requirements. In terms of the recommended decision, there will be increases 
in positive impacts on equalities if the procurement is approved. Without any procurement, 
the increase in negative impacts would be considerable on the two relevant protected 
characteristics - age and disability. 

Page 104



Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications
14 ITU have identified that this project requires the completion of a mandatory DPIA due to the 

large-scale use of sensitive data. This DPIA is currently being drafted in consultation with 
IMS.

Social value implications
15 ITU will work with Procurement to ensure Social Value is included in the contract with the 

successful suppliers. 

16 It is worth noting that in the technology/software industry, there can be a large difference in 
some suppliers’ spending on social value compared with others’ spending, i.e. often larger 
organisations can spend more. We will work to ensure the assessment on social value 
prioritises feasibility and value that is more relevant to Gloucestershire and/or the Council’s 
transport objectives, rather than total expenditure on any social value endeavour. 

Consultation feedback
17 There is no public consultation due to these items being a statutory duty via an 

administrative process. As mentioned, all regulations are set by central government, 
including eligibility. 

18 Considering that there are elements of the software that will be used by the public in their 
own homes, accessibility is important. Thus guidelines8 will be used.

Officer recommendations

19 It is recommended that the Cabinet grants its authority to proceed on the basis 
recommended in this report by delegating authority to the Executive Director to procure a 
contract for the production and management of bus pass cards, for associated analytics, 
and for concessionary reimbursement calculations/management. 

Performance Management/Follow-up 

20 High priority will be placed on data migration in the specification, so that any new supplier 
can be fully aware of timeline and so they will fully comply with security.  

21 Performance in general of these functions is high priority for the Council, and as such 
several staff work on the resulting software and with interested parties daily. This level of 
oversight by full time staff ensures frequent performance management of the supplier, fixes 
any issues promptly, and that using the software is not a silo role within the Council. 

8 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/accessibility-requirements-for-public-sector-websites-and-apps

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



.

REPORT TITLE: Bus Back Better – Gloucestershire’s Enhanced Partnership

Cabinet Date 30/03/22

Cabinet Member Cllr Philip Robinson, Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To update Cabinet on progress to date on developing the Gloucestershire 
Bus Enhanced Partnership (EP) document, to update Cabinet with the 
indicative results of the public consultation process, and to inform of the 
legal implications of the EP.

Recommendations

To delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure to:

(a) further develop and finalise the Enhanced Partnership in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and 
Skills

(b) submit a draft Enhanced Partnership document to the Department 
for Transport (DfT) by 30/04/22, and subsequently submit the 
agreed final document by a date yet to be advised, and

(c) enter into the Enhanced Partnership agreement with transport 
operators later in the year once the date for final EP submission 
referred to in (b) is confirmed by the DfT.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The Enhanced Partnership (EP) forms an integral part of the long-term 
strategy for public transport as part of the DfT ‘Bus Back Better’ strategy. 
Councils will need to have an EP to receive future DfT funding and support 
to invest in public transport in the long-term. This report considers the 
second of a two-stage process: a draft Enhanced Partnership document will 
need to be agreed with local bus service operators and submitted to the 
DfT by 30 April 2022.

Page 107

Agenda Item 10



Resource 
Implications

As instructed by the DfT, the EP is a legally binding document between the 
Council and local bus operators. This Partnership agreement sets out the 
legal framework for delivering topics raised in this Council’s Bus Service 
Improvement Plan. 
The development of the Enhanced Partnership and Bus Service 
Improvement Plan and the consultancy support provided by Atkins have 
been funded using a DfT grant of £385,000, provided explicitly to help with 
such capacity costs. All development costs will be met with this grant.

Background 
Documents

DfT – Bus Back Better – National Bus Strategy for England
The National Bus Strategy – Delivering Bus Service Improvement Plans 
using an Enhanced Partnership -Guidance 2021

Gloucestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan, October 2021

GCC -  Local Transport Plan 2020-2041

Statutory Authority Transport Act 2000
Bus Services Act 2017

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name: Tom Main 
Tel. no: 01452 425343
Email: tom.main@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline 30/03/22 – Cabinet approval
30/04/22 – Submit draft Enhanced Partnership to the DfT
01/05/22 onwards – Discussions with DfT regarding scheme implementation 
and formalising the Enhanced Partnership

Page 108

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2111305/gcc-bsip-final-2910-accessible.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/transport-strategy-for-gloucestershire-to-2041/
mailto:tom.main@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1.1 In May 2021 the Department for Transport (DfT) published guidance on National 
Bus Strategy: Bus Service Improvement Plans. This is a key part of the 
Government’s Bus Back Better strategy to support Local Authorities to improve 
public transport services in partnership with transport service operators. The 
development of this strategy can be broken down into two steps:

STEP 1: The development of a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP). This 
is a high-level strategic document that states the aims of the Council and its 
transport service operators, focused on improving the local bus services in 
the county to; (a) aid the bus industry in its recovery from the Covid-19 
pandemic; (b) improve passenger access; (c) grow the number of 
passengers using the Gloucestershire local bus network.

STEP 2: The development of an Enhanced Partnership (EP) agreement. 
This is a detailed agreement between the Council and the transport service 
operators that states how the Council and the transport service operators in 
Gloucestershire will work together to develop and implement specific 
schemes and provide high quality services, achieving the aims stated in the 
BSIP.

1.2 The purpose of this Cabinet report is to update on progress and to gain approval for 
the second of these steps. This Council submitted its BSIP by the deadline of 31 
October 2021. Following publication of the BSIP there was a period of public 
consultation, discussion with the transport service operators and drafting of the EP 
agreement. This cabinet report refers to a draft EP document, which must gain 
Cabinet Member consent to proceed towards final completion, including the actions 
and schemes contained within.

1.3 Together, these two documents will form the wider strategy to invest, improve and 
expand the public transport (local bus) network in the county, giving residents 
greater ability to travel for employment, education, health appointments and leisure 
activities. An improved public transport network is a key enabler of the economic 
recovery and growth strategy of the county and is critical to support proposals to 
decarbonise transport in the County.

1.4 The EP document is essentially a legal agreement between Gloucestershire County 
Council and the local bus operators. The format of the EP is set out in national 
guidance, and consists of:

 The Plan (mirroring the aspirations in the BSIP) 
 The Scheme (requirements to achieve these aspirations)
 Obligations of the Local Authority – Facilities and Measures
 Obligations of the Bus Operators
 Competition Test
 Governance structure – Board and Forum
 Bespoke Variation Mechanism

Page 109



1.5  Gloucestershire’s EP Plan will re-iterate the objectives of our BSIP, to increase the 
number of people using the local public transport network, and to list the BSIP 
aspirations, covering the following types of intervention;

 Improved information
 Improved vehicles
 Improved bus stop infrastructure
 Increased bus priority measures
 Improved bus service levels
 Better multi-modal integration

1.6 Gloucestershire’s EP Scheme and its Appendices will list the proposed 
interventions to be delivered in the 2022/2023 financial year and indicatively in the 
2023/2024 and 2024/2025 financial years.  The Government has delayed advice 
regarding the provision of funding related to the bid contained within the BSIP 
submission, the initial Scheme will only list those Facilities and Measures which 
either exist currently (bus lanes and other priority facilities, bus stops/interchanges, 
shelters, real-time information displays etc.), or those which already have an 
agreed internal funding allocation for 2022/23.

1.7 These proposed interventions in the public transport network will be categorised as 
‘Facilities’ (generally physical items such as bus stops, bus lanes, interchanges) 
and ‘Measures’ (for example policy interventions, subsidies, and car parking 
regimes).

1.8 The EP Scheme will have several Appendices attached, which will sit outside the 
main agreement. These Appendices will list the various Facilities and Measures, 
and these will be further broken down into three lists:  Existing, Proposed and For 
Consideration. 

1.9 When funding streams related to the Gloucestershire BSIP (or from other sources) 
are made available, then the Bespoke Variation Mechanism will be used to add 
specific schemes or projects to the Scheme list, and/or to move projects from the 
‘For Consideration’ to the ‘Proposed’ category, as appropriate. The EP document 
will be updated on an annual basis, so this will allow for re-categorisation of 
projects on a more systematic basis once more is known about funding streams.

1.10 Obligations relating to bus operators may relate to vehicle quality (age and 
emissions), ticketing schemes, co-ordination of services with other operators and 
timetable change dates, etc. It is unlikely that any of these aspects will be agreed 
and implemented for 2022/23, however there are aspirations within the BSIP for a 
steady transition to a more modern bus fleet and for some form of integrated 
ticketing. These aspects can be added to the Enhanced Partnership document at a 
later stage, through the Bespoke Variation Mechanism.

1.11 Local Transport Authorities are advised to seek legal advice regarding entering 
into an Enhanced Partnership, as a consequence of the legally binding nature of 
this form of agreement.  This Council will need to use due diligence in listing any 

Page 110



proposal which cannot or might not be delivered. There are also specific 
requirements of the Government’s Competition and Markets Authority regarding 
proposals which limit competition between bus operators – mainly linked to 
integrated ticketing schemes and co-ordinated timetabling of buses. Finally, the 
wording of the Bespoke Variation Mechanism needs to be verified to enable the 
Enhanced Partnership to operate in the flexible manner anticipated by the 
Government, without exposing this Council to undue risk. GCC Officers have 
received legal advice relating to the above, this advice has confirmed our approach.

1.12 The governance of the Enhanced Partnership is of fundamental importance. It is 
currently proposed that an Enhanced Partnership Board is created consisting of 
three members, one member representing the County Council, a second member 
representing Stagecoach and a third member representing smaller bus operators 
and Community Transport providers.

1.13 Stagecoach is the major commercial bus operator providing over 90% of bus 
services in the County (by distance covered and by passengers carried). 

1.14 The third member would be elected by the constituent body of operators, the 
Enhanced Partnership Forum. It is acknowledged that the interests of small 
commercial bus operators and community transport operators will not be identical, 
but the commercial bus sector also has a wide range of operators with different 
perspectives. It is intended that there will be ample opportunity for discussion 
between all commercial and Community Transport operators at regular meetings of 
the Enhanced Partnership Forum.

1.15 It is proposed that this Board would meet between two and four times a year, 
that it would be supported by an administrator who would organise meetings and 
circulate agendas and papers.  Decisions would be by unanimous consent, with 
any item not agreed to be debated again at the next Board meeting, decisions 
impinging on financial budgets will then be subject to the usual processes for 
allocation of resources.

1.16 A consultation process has already begun with local bus operators, this will be 
completed as part of the formalisation process for the draft Enhanced Partnership 
and should happen later in the calendar year.  A formal consultation will then begin 
with a list of statutory consultees (for example the Traffic Commissioner, the Police 
and Crime Commissioner etc.) prescribed by the DfT, this is required to be 
completed to formalise the draft Enhanced Partnership. It is anticipated that 
continued detailed dialogue with the bus operators will minimise any risk of an 
objection.

Options

2.1 To agree the recommendations set out in this report.

2.2 To decline the opportunity to take part in the Enhanced Partnership with local bus 
operators.

Page 111



Risks 

1.1 The lack of an agreed Enhanced Partnership agreement would leave 
Gloucestershire at significant risk of missing out on future funding streams from the 
DfT and other sources. The DfT have stated that they require all Local Authorities 
to engage in the Bus Back Better project given that funding will likely be conditional 
on their participation. It also carries a large reputational risk of being viewed by the 
public as missing out on a chance to be part of this national effort to improve local 
public transport.

1.2 The Covid-19 pandemic has had a major impact on bus passenger numbers in 
Gloucestershire and therefore on revenue for bus operators. Recovery from such 
an impact in the medium and long term will depend on a successful Enhanced 
Partnership agreement, as a means of coordinating future public and private sector 
investment and development. Without this agreement, there is an extremely high 
risk that many bus services in the county will fail and, therefore many residents will 
be left without a viable means of accessing education, employment, leisure 
activities and vital local services.

1.3 There are current indications that Gloucestershire, indeed maybe all local 
authorities, might not receive all the funding requested for projects listed in its 
submission to Government. However, an Enhanced Partnership agreement is still 
required by Government as a mechanism for prioritising investment in the County’s 
bus network according to its published Bus Service Improvement Plan.

Financial Implications

4.1 Whilst the Enhanced Partnership agreement document will contain some detail on 
how the Council will achieve the aims set out in the BSIP, any financial information 
will be presented in a way that makes it clear that only schemes with agreed 
funding are listed.  This EP document will be brought to the Cabinet Member at a 
later date for consideration and approval before it is submitted to the DfT in draft 
form prior to the deadline of 30 April 2022, and again later in the year, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member, when the draft agreement is formalised.

4.2 The development of the BSIP, the EP document and the consultancy provided by 
Atkins have been funded using a DfT grant of £385,000 which was provided 
explicitly to help with such capacity costs. All development costs will be met from 
this grant.

Climate Change Implications

5.1 Increased use of public transport, regardless of the vehicle fuel type, is a net benefit 
to the county in terms of the reduction of emissions of greenhouse gases and local 
air pollutants. Public transport vehicles in the county currently contribute around 1% 
to the total vehicle carbon dioxide emissions of Gloucestershire. By comparison, 
private cars contribute around 55%. Improving use of the existing public transport 
network will provide a significant contribution in meeting the Council’s net zero 

Page 112



emission savings target. Improvements to this network, giving more 
Gloucestershire residents more opportunity to travel, and to more destinations, will 
further enhance this contribution to transport decarbonisation.

5.2 Moving from fossil fuelled vehicles to renewable sources is a key aim in the medium 
term for public transport, as set out in the ULEV Strategy. As part of the 
consultation with bus service operators so far, the Council has discussed in detail 
electric buses, compressed natural gas and bio-methane solutions. A key part of 
the BSIP published in October 2021 was an aim to further investigate alternative 
fuelled vehicles and ensure the Council is prepared with an agreed strategy for 
expected future funding rounds to be opened by the Government. It is anticipated 
that the Enhanced Partnership will help provide the framework within which these 
objectives can be developed and progressed. 

5.3 One short term measure the Council included in the BSIP was a commitment to 
raise the vehicle emission standards of its subsidised bus network. Currently the 
Council does not specify any minimum engine requirements as part of its contract 
tender process. The Council aims to provide a phased approach first to specify 
Euro 5 engines to operate GCC contracts, then transition to Euro 6. It is important 
to do this in a measured way to avoid spikes in contract costs and to give providers 
the opportunity to assess their fleet and plan a replacement strategy to meet this 
requirement.

Equality Implications

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been produced to accompany this Cabinet 
report.

6.2 The Council is acutely aware that some of the most vulnerable residents in the 
county rely on public transport to travel and access services. There are many 
aspects of public transport that are already in place to improve access for 
vulnerable residents, such as high kerbs/low floor buses, improved access to 
information, provision of the ENCTS (English National Concessionary Travel 
Scheme) pass offering almost unlimited travel for eligible pass holders, improved 
training for bus drivers, and continued engagement with local disability groups. In 
general, an extensive network of bus services will provide better access to all 
residents of the County including those with protected characteristics and full 
consideration to this will be given as part of any development of the public transport 
network.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) Implications

7.1 There is no current impact of this work with regards to Data Protection as no 
personal data is used. However, this may need to be considered in future once 
details are confirmed.

Social Value Implications

Page 113



8.1 The majority of bus service operators who provide transport in Gloucestershire are 
Gloucestershire-based SME companies who put a significant amount of time and 
resource into the local economy by employing drivers, passenger assistants, office 
staff and managers. They also invest significantly in training and development of 
their staff. All drivers of larger vehicles will have to undertake and pass the 
professional CPC qualification. Many such operators also work with and contribute 
to local charities, and most of our Community Transport operators are charities in 
their own right. These organisations provide an exceptional service to their local 
area, areas that often lack regular transport services due to their extremely rural 
nature.

8.2 Transport services also contribute significantly to the economy by offering residents 
opportunities to move around the county for training, education, and employment. A 
healthy transport network is vital to a growing local economy and to give people a 
chance to socialise. Many younger, older, and disabled residents do not have 
access to a car so the only way they can travel to meet family and friends, access 
health appointments and take part in leisure activities is by using the public 
transport network.

Consultation Feedback

9.1 Council Officers met and consulted with all local bus service operators in the county 
during the period 01/05/21 to 20/08/21 to advise them of the BSIP and the impact it 
will have on public transport, and to gather their feedback around any issues arising 
therefrom. It also gave such operators a chance to raise any issues they 
considered important, and in many cases shape a significant part of the Council’s 
BSIP. Partnership working is at the heart of the Bus Back Better project and the 
BSIP was the first stage towards a fully agreed Enhanced Partnership with all 
transport service operators.

9.2 It was a requirement for the Council to go out to full public consultation, prior to the 
submission of the draft Enhanced Partnership in April 2022. This has been 
completed, the results have been analysed and summarised below.

9.3 The Council’s Bus Service Improvement Plan Survey closed on 03/02/22 and 
attracted 1,734 completed on-line forms. Around 95% of these responses were 
from local Gloucestershire residents – with the remainder mainly from Councillors 
or organisations. Responses appeared to be reasonably spread across all six of the 
County’s constituent District Council areas. Around 50% of responses were from 
regular bus users (weekly or more frequently).

9.4 The survey asked what would encourage the respondents to use the bus more 
often. The most frequent answers were:

 Additional buses in the morning and evening
 Direct services
 More reliable services (according to the published timetable)

Page 114



9.5 There were several different questions, for example about ticketing, about the effect 
of traffic congestion, about the purpose of journeys and about the desired facilities 
at stops and interchanges. These themes will be analysed in more detail and will be 
subsequently reported.

9.6 The Council is currently gathering public feedback in other ways, i.e., via the 
Transport Focus passenger representative group, comments made to transport 
service operators and to Councillors, engagement sessions and the existing 
knowledge of Officers who have years of experience engaging with the public 
regarding transport.

9.7 After the BSIP and EP agreement are agreed and finalised, public engagement will 
form a key part of the Council’s public transport strategy going forward. The Council 
aims to include a mechanism for the public to pro-actively engage with it, both at 
regular events and via an electronic reporting system.

Officer Recommendations

10.1 Failure to agree and enter into an Enhanced Partnership agreement with local 
transport operators would leave Gloucestershire at high risk of missing out on 
future funding streams, this would have a long-term detrimental impact on public 
transport. Therefore, the Officer recommendation is:

To delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure to:

a. further develop and finalise the Enhanced Partnership in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills

b. submit a draft Enhanced Partnership document to the DfT by 30/04/22, 
and subsequently the agreed final document by a date yet to be 
advised, and

c. enter into the Enhanced Partnership agreement with transport 
operators later in the year once the date for final EP submission 
referred to in (b) is confirmed by the DfT.

Performance Management/follow-up 

11.1 The draft Enhanced Partnership document will be published by 30 April 2022 and 
will subsequently become a ‘made’ legal agreement. GCC will publish a review of 
EP each subsequent year for as long as the Enhanced Partnership is in force. 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE:  Social Value – sustaining the recovery and levelling up

Cabinet Date 30th March 2022

Cabinet Member Councillor Philip Robinson, Economy, Education and Skills

Key Decision No

Purpose of Report To seek approval of the updated Social Value policy and reporting measures 
set out at Annex A and to develop a set of local Themes, Outcomes and 
Measures (“TOMs”) that will assist in leveraging investment in skills, 
environment, and wellbeing through the Council’s ongoing activities 
(procurement, planning etc.). The revised Social Value policy and reporting 
measures will also assist in delivering “levelling up” by way of incentivising 
third parties to deliver Social Value in both Gloucestershire and, where 
appropriate, discrete areas within the county.

Recommendations
For Cabinet to adopt the revised Social Value Policy and reporting measures 
set out at Annexes A to C and to develop a set of local Themes, Outcomes 
and Measures in connection therewith.
 

Reasons for 
recommendations

Whilst there is a legal duty to consider Social Value, a more structured 
approach to  secure wider social, economic, and environmental benefits has 
been shown to deliver additional Social Value to taxpayers and have the 
potential to contribute to potential to contribute to the key national agendas, 
‘levelling up’ and ‘build back better’.

Resource 
Implications

The resources of £35,000 have already been incurred and the costs of 
implementation will be covered from within existing budgets.

Background 
Documents Procurement Policy Note 06/20 – taking account of social value in the award 

of central government contracts - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
National Themes Outcomes and Measures 2021 The National TOMs - Social 
Value Portal

Statutory Authority The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Page 117

Agenda Item 11

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts
https://socialvalueportal.com/solutions/national-toms/
https://socialvalueportal.com/solutions/national-toms/


Officer Name:  Ian Mawdsley
Tel. no: 07500 765 524
Email: ian.mawdsley@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Policy to be formally introduced from 1 April 2022

Page 118

mailto:ian.mawdsley@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 came into force on 31 January 
2013. It requires people who commission public services to think about how they 
can also secure wider social, economic, and environmental benefits – together 
known as ‘social value’. These wider benefits are in addition to any Core 
requirement that might be procured by the council. For instance, in procuring an 
Energy from Waste Facility, the benefits of diversion of waste from landfill and 
the production of electricity are core benefits, however the creation of 
apprenticeships and employment opportunities are a wider benefit. Before they 
start any procurement process, commissioners should think about whether the 
services they are going to procure, or the way they are going to procure them, 
could secure these wider benefits for their area or stakeholders.

2. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 provides enabling legislation that 
helps commissioners get more value for money out of procurement and other 
corporate activity. It also encourages commissioners to talk to their local provider 
market or community to design better services, often finding new and innovative 
solutions to difficult problems.

Legislative context

3. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires an authority to consider 
how what is proposed to be procured might improve the economic, social, and 
environmental wellbeing of the relevant area, and how, in conducting the 
process of procurement, it might act with a view to securing that improvement.

4. The said Act does not prescribe what form this consideration might take or how 
the procurement process should be adapted to incorporate social value. The key 
question with respect to social value in a procurement process (or in 
performance management, for that matter) is the same as it is for any other 
element, namely on what basis does the procuring or contracting party 
determine the most advantageous of the options presented and/or whether the 
option(s) available are better or worse than any given benchmark, or the 
outcomes originally promised or forecast? In general terms, comparability – and 
therefore some form of measurement system – are key to incorporating social 
value in procurement. 

Policy vision & scope

5. There is a clear strategic case, therefore, for Gloucestershire County Council to 
embed social value in its procurement.  The new GCC “Building Back Better in 
Gloucestershire” Strategy (2022 – 2026) highlights the Council’s commitment to 
using a Social Value approach through putting in place a policy and providing 
officers with the tools needed to build social value into the way the council 
designs, delivers and commissions its services. But we don’t want to stop there, 
GCC will adopt the spirit of the Act by implementing this policy beyond 
procurement and into all aspects of its commercial, planning, and corporate 
activity, wherever practicable, to better serve the needs of our communities. To 
date, the embedding of Social Value has been piecemeal across GCC. There 

Page 119



are several workstreams currently seeking to address Social Value across the 
Council and these are;

 Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities (Public Health) who are seeking to 
build a network of Anchor Institutions which have goals similar to GCC in 
Gloucestershire and will better focus their collective resource locally where 
possible.  

 The Covid 19 Recovery Group headed by Executive Director Economy, 
Environment, and Infrastructure,

 Strategic Procurement worked with the Local Government Association to 
produce their Sustainable Procurement Toolkit (November 2021)for use in 
connection with the council’s procurement processes.

6. All the above work stream groups are now part of the council’s Covid-19 
Recovery Group and are working closely with each other. This proposal seeks to 
support the work being carried out by such groups and place its outcomes within 
a robust policy and measurement framework. By doing so, it will be possible to 
use Social Value as a tool to deliver on the national agendas  “levelling up” and 
“build back better”.

7. In the Levelling Up white paper the Government has signalled its intention to 
“legislate to put social value at the heart of government spending – weaving a 
thread of social improvement and civic responsibility through the UK 
Government’s £300bn annual expenditure on procurement”1. This work has 
anticipated that commitment and was commenced late in 2020 to deliver initially 
a platform for Covid 19 recovery. That said the table below shows the high level 
of correlation between the two policies, and whilst not 100%, it shows that 
delivering Social Value will significantly contribute towards the delivery of 
Levelling up. We will also refine our Social Value outcomes to assist in delivering 
levelling up.

Social Value Themes Levelling Up Theme Levelling Up Outcome
Jobs – Promoting Local 
Skills and Employment

Boost productivity, pay, jobs 
and living standards by 
growing the private sector, 
especially in those places 
where they are lagging

By 2030, pay, employment 
and productivity will have 
risen in every area of the 
UK, with each containing a 
globally competitive city, 
and the gap between the 
top performing and other 
areas closing.

By 2 030, the number of 
people successfully 
completing high-quality 
skills training will have 
significantly increased in 
every area of the UK. In 

1 Levelling Up the United Kingdom: Executive Summary (publishing.service.gov.uk) February 2022

Page 120

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1052046/Executive_Summary.pdf


Social Value Themes Levelling Up Theme Levelling Up Outcome
England, this will lead to 
200,000 more people 
successfully completing 
high-quality skills training 
annually, driven by 80,000 
more people completing 
courses in the lowest skilled 
areas.

Growth - supporting the 
growth of responsible 
regional businesses

Boost productivity, pay, jobs 
and living standards by 
growing the private sector, 
especially in those places 
where they are lagging

Social – Healthier, Safer, 
and more resilient 
communities

Spread opportunities and 
improve public services, 
especially in those places 
where they are weakest

Health - By 2030, the gap in 
Healthy Life Expectancy 
(HLE) between local areas 
where it is highest and 
lowest will have narrowed, 
and by 2035 HLE will rise by 
five years.

Well-being - By 2030, well-
being will have improved in 
every area of the UK, with 
the gap between top 
performing and other areas 
closing.

Environment - De-
carbonising and 
safeguarding our world

Boost productivity, pay, jobs 
and living standards by 
growing the private sector, 
especially in those places 
where they are lagging

By 2030, local public 
transport connectivity 
across the country will be 
significantly closer to the 
standards of London, with 
improved services, simpler 
fares, and integrated 
ticketing.

Innovation – Promoting 
Social Innovation

Restore a sense of 
community, local pride and 
belonging, especially in 
those places where they 
have been lost

Policy objectives

8. Gloucestershire County Council is committed to improving the quality of life for 
every community, support businesses to be successful and make sure the 
county is a place where people want to live, work and visit. To maximise the 
local impact of the Council’s activity and spending in achieving our mission, this 
policy is a key enabler in securing additional benefits – social, economic, and 
environmental, together known as social value – that support this vision. The 
objectives of implementing this social value policy are to:

 Introduce a social value management tool that supports the delivery of our 
strategic priorities for the people and environment of Gloucestershire 

Page 121



 Provide a consistent approach to measuring and reporting social value 
throughout the provision cycle, including continuous improvement

 Define and implement a robust, transparent, and efficient digital solution for 
assessing and awarding the social value segment of tenders, and 
managing relevant supplier performance during the contract lifecycle

 Allow organisations to compare their own social value performance by 
sector and build, over time, industry benchmarks to understand ‘what good 
looks like’ in Gloucestershire 

 Reduce the uncertainty surrounding social value measurement for 
organisations, allowing them to make informed decisions based on robust 
assessments and hence to embed social value into their corporate 
strategies.

Measurement framework

9. Incorporating social value into GCC’s commissioning and procurement process 
is very low cost, yet it is a change that can make a real difference to people in 
the local community, to service delivery and to the council spending plans. To 
quote Lord Kelvin,2, “What gets measured gets managed”, as a result the 
Council has initially adopted the National Social Value Measurement Framework 
(Annex C) or more commonly the “TOMs” (its structure is based on Themes, 
Outcomes and Measures) to underpin and empower the objectives of this policy. 
Having one reporting standard allows us to unlock, measure and report the 
social value delivered by suppliers, delivery partners and ourselves during the 
provision of goods, works and services.

10. In recent years, the TOMs have become the most used framework in the UK, 
thus promoting consistency and comparability amongst providers and buyers of 
public services across the UK. The National TOMs were launched in 2017 by the 
National Social Value Taskforce, chaired by the Local Government Association, 
with over 40 members from organisations representing central and local 
government, the private sector and the third sector.

11.The National TOMs provide a flexible, measures-based calculation framework 
designed to articulate social value outcomes in terms that can be objectively 
assessed. It was conceived and developed to be evidence-led and applicable 
over the ‘whole life’ of a contract or single purchase, as well as throughout the 
provision cycle. 

2 Elements of Natural Philosophy 1872 “When you can measure what you are speaking about, and express it in numbers, you 
know something about it, when you cannot express it in numbers, your knowledge is of a meagre and unsatisfactory kind.

Page 122

https://www.nationalsocialvaluetaskforce.org/


Figure 1: Gloucestershire County Council Social Value TOMs framework

12.Each of the Measures behind the Outcomes have been assigned a proxy value 
which allows organisations to report their delivery in financial and non-financial 
terms. These values were agreed by the National Social Value Taskforce and 
stem from public sector data sources such as the Unit Cost Database (UCD), 
following benefit analysis techniques as outlined in the HM Treasury Green Book 
and other relevant monetary valuation techniques, such as benchmarking of 
market prices.

13.There are several benefits to using both the National TOMs and the tendering 
and contract management portal, known as the Social Value Portal (“the Portal”) 
for the Council. We will be able to:

 Objectively compare and benchmark year on year social value delivered 
between contracts and services, to seek sharing of best practice and drive 
better performance

 Gain a deeper understanding of where social value is being generated within 
our suppliers and areas - as well as where more social value could be 
unlocked to improve outcomes 

 Puts a common language (the £) against the positive impact our spending 
brings to the area, to inform service planning and commissioning 

 Being better informed, about where further social value could be unlocked 
locally, will develop, and support our communities, in turn creating a more 
resilient, healthier, and prosperous workforce to contribute to a flourishing 
Gloucestershire.

Page 123



14.GCC plans to develop this further by developing a “Gloucestershire TOMs” 
which can take account of social deprivation in specific areas of the county.

Work done to date

15.The Council has trialled this new policy during several procurements. The initial 
outcomes have been very encouraging and in one procurement the return in 
terms of Social Local Economic Value (SLEV) was 42%. This compares very 
favourably with established with even the best performing sectors whose SLEV 
is around 20-25%.

Summary of the proposed Social Value policy set out in Annex A to this 
Report

16.To maximise the effectiveness of the proposed social value policy, while still 
maintaining the efficiency of the procurement cycle, only those procurements for 
goods or services whose values exceed the Public Procurement threshold 
(currently £177,897.50 (excluding VAT) will be subject to such policy. This will 
ensure that sufficient resource is available to provide support for all such 
procurements by a trained Procurement Officer with a knowledge of Social 
Value.

17.Prior to tenders going live, the council will engage with suppliers in the market to 
upskill their knowledge on the council’s new approach to social value. Candidate 
bidders will then receive the Invitation to Tender (ITT) document(s) and be able 
to enter the details of their social value bid response onto the Portal by the 
deadline, ready for bid evaluation and business award processes.

18.The Council will review the additional social, economic, and environmental 
benefits that candidate bidders have offered to deliver for local communities. 
This will form part of the decision-making process, alongside the separate 
evaluation of Price and Quality undertaken by the Council directly. A target of 
15% social value evaluation weighting will be applied to all eligible tender 
exercises. This may be varied by ± 5% subject to approval by an Executive 
Director. This compares with 20% for Birmingham City Council and a minimum 
of 10% for the NHS and Bristol City Council.

19.Contract managers will then monitor social value commitments, with agreed 
reporting periods to track progress ensuring commitments are undertaken in 
their entirety and using the Council leverage when suitable to support delivery. 
The Council will seek to hold suppliers to all their contractually specified social 
value commitments and these will be treated like any other commitment 
specified in the price or quality component of the supplier’s bid submission. 

Page 124



Governance

20.The Cabinet Member for the Economy, Education and Skills will lead and govern 
this Policy. They are supported by a Social Value Board and Social Value Leads, 
managers, and officers.

21.To further communicate the proposed social value policy’s effectiveness and 
progress to all stakeholders, the Council will release an annual Social Value 
Statement from 2022 to outline key areas of focus, future targets, operational 
procedures, successes and to communicate key messages to staff, partners, 
suppliers, and other locally based organisations impacted by our social value 
performance. This statement will include key stats and reports measured through 
the Portal to share our progress. An example is shown as Annex B.

Financial implications

22.The initial cost of £35,000 has already incurred. Other costs of running 
competitions and training staff will be covered from within existing budgets.

Climate change implications

23.As Climate Change is an element of Social Value then it will have a positive 
effect on Climate Change.

Equality implications

24.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? No; each 
procurement will still have to complete an EIA for its core requirement. Social 
Value will only enhance this but cannot be assessed until bids are returned.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

25.The Social Value Portal website contract has already been assessed as part of 
contract award and there are no data protection issues.

Officer recommendation

26.That Cabinet approves the revised Social Value Policy and reporting measures 
set out in Annex A to C of this report and the development of a set of local 
Themes, Outcomes and Measures in connection therewith.

Page 125



Annex A

Social Value Policy
(Issue 2.1 dated March 2022)

BACKGROUND 

1. The revised Social Value Policy described here sets out the key principles and 
actions whereby the Council embeds practical and effective commissioning for 
social value in every aspect of its procurement and grants and other relevant 
activities, commencing (as the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires) 
at the pre-procurement or equivalent stage. 

WHAT WE MEAN BY SOCIAL VALUE 

2. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 states: “If a relevant authority 
proposes to procure or make arrangements for procuring the provision of 
services, or the provision of services together with the purchase or hire of goods 
or the carrying out of works…the authority must consider how what is proposed 
to be procured might improve the economic, social and environmental well-being 
of the relevant area and, in conducting the process of procurement, how it might 
act with a view to securing that improvement.” It must also “consider whether to 
undertake any consultations as to matters to be considered” under that process. 
For the purposes of this policy, we refer to this improvement of wellbeing as 
social value. To implement this, we seek measurable and verifiable social value 
outcomes that: 

(i) are relevant to what is proposed to be procured and proportionate to the 
contract / grant value, 

(ii) can legitimately be included in contract / grant specifications and
(iii) contribute to achieving the Council’s priorities. 

POLICY OBJECTIVES

3. Gloucestershire County Council is committed to improving the quality of life for 
every community, support businesses to be successful and make sure the 
county is a place where people want to live, work and visit. To maximise the 
local impact of the Council’s activity and spending in achieving our mission, this 
policy is a key enabler in securing additional benefits – social, economic, and 
environmental, together known as social value – that support this vision. The 
objectives of implementing this social value policy are to:

 Introduce a social value management tool that supports the delivery of our 
strategic priorities for the people and environment of Gloucestershire 

Page 126



 Provide a consistent approach to measuring and reporting social value 
throughout the provision cycle, including continuous improvement

 Define and implement a robust, transparent, and efficient digital solution for 
assessing and awarding the social value segment of tenders, and managing 
relevant supplier performance during the contract lifecycle

 Allow organisations to compare their own social value performance by sector 
and build, over time, industry benchmarks to understand ‘what good looks 
like’ in Gloucestershire 

 Reduce the uncertainty surrounding social value measurement for 
organisations, allowing them to make informed decisions based on robust 
assessments and hence to embed social value into their corporate 
strategies.

IMPLEMENTATION OF SOCIAL VALUE IN PROCUREMENT AND 
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

4. Gloucestershire County Council will strive to ensure that suppliers’ tender 
responses and/or proposals are assessed fairly and independently. The Council 
will be using the Portal during the tendering process, as well as to monitor 
supplier performance in the delivery of this added social value during the 
contract lifecycle.

5. The new supplier will have a performance management account created for 
them on the Portal. This account will be used periodically during the contract 
term by the supplier and Gloucestershire County Council, to keep track of the 
delivery of the social value offer made during the earlier tender exercise. The 
supplier’s performance data will be available in unit measures and converted into 
£ GBP value, enabling useful analysis and purposeful discussion to take place.

6. Existing suppliers, whose contracts have already started, can still choose to 
submit social value proposals onto the Portal, and to have their delivery 
performance monitored against these proposals for the remaining duration of 
their contract. This will enable the Council to unlock this added social value more 
quickly than waiting for each tender exercise to take place as scheduled.  

SPEND THRESHOLD

7. To maximise the effectiveness of this social value policy, while still maintaining 
the efficiency of the procurement cycle, a spend threshold has been set at Public 
Procurement thresholds (currently £177,897.50 (excluding VAT). The threshold 
assessment should be conducted at the start of the provision cycle and be based 
on the estimated spend during the contract or purchase’s whole lifecycle. 

8. Any proposed contracts or single purchases below this threshold can proceed 
through the provision cycle without needing to comply with the requirements of 
this policy. This means there is no need for suppliers of lower value goods, 
works or services to interact with the Portal or submit any social value tender 
responses. However, any supplier may choose to submit a social value proposal 

Page 127



(at any point during their contract’s lifecycle) to the Portal, even if the contract or 
purchase has previously been assessed as below threshold. 

9. All contracts or single purchases above this threshold will need to comply with 
the requirements of this policy unless permission has been obtained from an 
Executive Director.

TENDER EVALUATION WEIGHTINGS

10.To support and deliver on the Council priorities as set out in our Corporate and 
Business Plans, it has been agreed that a standalone evaluation weighting will 
be applied to each tender exercise that has been assessed as above the spend 
threshold. The evaluation weighting is intended to measure the economic, social, 
and environmental outcomes offered by suppliers and linked to the National 
TOMs (as adapted to suit the Council priorities).

TENDER FRAMEWORKS

11.Where a tender framework allows, it is expected that the evaluation weightings 
for quality and price will be reduced in equal proportions, to preserve the 
respective ratios that existed prior to the introduction of this social value policy. 
For example, where price is evaluated at 60% and quality at 40% of the overall 
score, then future tenders will be evaluated as follows:

Price:  54%
Quality: 34%
Social Value: 12%

12.Where a tender framework does not offer this flexibility, it is recommended to 
contact the framework owner to request whether an exception can be made to 
allow implementation of this social value policy.

EVALUATION

13.The Council will review the additional social, economic, and environmental 
benefits that candidate bidders have offered to deliver for local communities. 
This will form part of the decision-making process, alongside the separate 
evaluation of Price and Quality undertaken by the Council directly. The 
evaluation weighting is intended to measure the economic, social, and 
environmental outcomes offered by suppliers and linked to the National TOMs 
(as adapted to suit the Council priorities). A minimum of 15% social value 
evaluation weighting will be applied to all eligible tender exercises. This may be 
varied by ± 5% subject to approval by an Executive Director.

Page 128



PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

14.Responsible officers will monitor social value commitments, with agreed 
reporting periods to track progress ensuring commitments are undertaken in 
their entirety and using the Council leverage when suitable to support delivery.

15.The Council will seek to hold suppliers to all their contractually specified social 
value commitments and these will be treated like any other commitment 
specified in the price or quality component of the supplier’s bid submission. In 
the event of a supplier being unable to deliver one or more of their social value 
commitments, the Council will permit the supplier, subject to proper agreement 
and authorisation, to deliver one or more suitable alternative social value 
commitment(s).

GOVERNANCE

16.  This Policy will be overseen by the Cabinet member for Economy, Education 
and Skills. These are supported by a Social Value Board and Social Value 
Leads, managers, and officers

17.The Council will periodically review this Social Value Policy. In doing so, we will 
take account of any changes in legislation pertaining to the Public Services 
(Social Value Act) 2012, Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the Local 
Government Act, EU Regulations for as long as these remain applicable, and 
any changes to the Council's priorities when they are reviewed.

18.To further communicate this Policy’s performance and progress to all 
stakeholders, the Council will release an annual Social Value Statement from 
2022 to outline key areas of focus, future targets, operational procedures, 
successes and to communicate key messages to staff, partners, suppliers, and 
other locally based organisations impacted by our social value performance. This 
statement will include key stats and reports measured through the Portal to 
share our progress.

Strategic Procurement Services
March 2022

Page 129



Annex B
Example of Social Value Report

Page 130



                                                                                                                                                            Annex C

Core National TOMs 2021

Theme Outcome NT 
Ref Measure

NT1

No. of local direct employees (FTE) hired or 
retained (for re-tendered contracts) on 
contract for one year or the whole duration of 
the contract, whichever is shorter

NT1a

No. of local direct employees (FTE) which are 
TUPE transfers retained on contract for one 
year or the whole duration of the contract, 
whichever is shorter (re-tendered contracts 
only - to be used at Measurement)

NT1b

No. of residents (FTE) from the listed sub-
localities employed directly or through the 
supply chain as a result of your procurement 
requirements on the contract for one year or 
the whole duration of the contract, whichever 
is shorter (see sub-localities listed in 
'LISTNT1b') 

NT1c

No. of local people (FTE) on contract for one 
year or the whole duration of the contract, 
whichever is shorter, employed through the 
supply chain as a result of your procurement 
requirements

More local 
people in 

employment

NT2 Percentage of local employees (FTE) on 
contract 

NT3

No. of employees (FTE) hired on the contract 
who are long term unemployed (unemployed 
for a year or longer) as a result of a 
recruitment programme

NT4

No. of employees (FTE) hired on the contract 
who are Not in Employment, Education, or 
Training (NEETs) as a result of a recruitment 
programme

NT5
No. of 18+ y.o. employees (FTE) hired on the 
contract who are rehabilitating or ex-offenders 
as a result of a recruitment programme

NT6
No. of disabled employees (FTE) hired on the 
contract as a result of a recruitment 
programme

Jobs: 
Promote Local 
Skills and 
Employment

More 
opportunities 

for 
disadvantaged 

people

NT7

No. of hours of support into work provided to 
over 24 y.o. unemployed people through 
career mentoring, including mock interviews, 
CV advice, and careers guidance

Page 131



Theme Outcome NT 
Ref Measure

NT8

No. of staff hours spent on local school and 
college visits e.g., delivering career talks, 
curriculum support, literacy support, safety 
talks (including preparation time) 

NT9

No. of weeks of training opportunities on the 
contract (BTEC, City & Guilds, NVQ, HNC) 
that have either been completed during the 
year, or that will be supported by the 
organisation until completion in the following 
years - Level 2,3, or 4+

Improved 
skills

NT10

No. of weeks of apprenticeships on the 
contract that have either been completed 
during the year, or that will be supported by 
the organisation until completion in the 
following years - Level 2,3, or 4+

NT11

No. of hours of support into work provided to 
under 24 y.o. (young people) unemployed 
people through career mentoring, including 
mock interviews, CV advice, and careers 
guidance

NT12
No. of weeks spent on meaningful work 
placements or pre-employment course; 1-6 
weeks student placements (unpaid)

Improved 
employability 

of young 
people

NT13
Meaningful work placements that pay 
Minimum or National Living wage according to 
eligibility - 6 weeks or more (internships) 

NT14 Total amount (£) spent with VCSEs within 
your supply chain

NT15
Provision of expert business advice to VCSEs 
and MSMEs (e.g., financial advice / legal 
advice / HR advice/HSE)

NT16 Equipment or resources donated to VCSEs (£ 
equivalent value) 

NT17 Number of voluntary hours donated to support 
VCSEs (excludes expert business advice)

NT18 Total amount (£) spent in local supply chain 
through the contract

NT18a

Total amount (£) spent through the contract in 
specified sub-localities (e.g., high deprivation 
areas) - please refer to list NT18a for the 
qualifying areas

More 
opportunities 

for local 
MSMEs and 

VCSEs 

NT19
Total amount (£) spent through contract with 
local micro, small and medium enterprises 
(MSMEs) 

Growth: 
Supporting 
Growth of 
Responsible 
Regional 
Business

Improving 
staff wellbeing 

and mental 
NT20

No. of employees on the contract that have 
been provided access for at least 12 months 
to comprehensive and multidimensional 

Page 132



Theme Outcome NT 
Ref Measure

wellbeing programmes

NT39
Mental Health campaigns for staff on the 
contract to create community of acceptance, 
remove stigma around mental health 

health

NT21 Equality, diversity and inclusion training 
provided both for staff and supply chain staff

NT40

Number and type of initiatives to be put in 
place to reduce the gender pay gap for staff 
employed in relation to the contract (describe 
and document initiatives)

NT41
Percentage of staff on contract that is paid at 
least the relevant Real Living wage as 
specified by Living Wage foundation 

Reducing 
inequalities

NT42

Percentage of contractors in the supply chain 
required (or supported if they are micro or 
small business) to pay at least Real Living 
wage 

NT22

Percentage of your procurement contracts 
that include commitments to ethical 
employment practices in the local and global 
supply chain, including verification that there 
is zero tolerance of modern slavery, child 
labour and other relevant requirements such 
as elimination of false self-employment, unfair 
zero hours contracts and blacklists 

Ethical 
Procurement 
is promoted

NT43

Initiatives taken throughout the local and 
global supply chain to strengthen the 
identification, monitoring and reduction of 
risks of modern slavery and unethical work 
practices occurring in relation to the contract 
(i.e., supply chain mapping, staff training, 
contract management)

Social Value 
embedded in 

the supply 
chain

NT23
Percentage of contracts with the supply chain 
on which Social Value commitments, 
measurement and monitoring are required

Creating a 
healthier 

community
NT26

Initiatives taken or supported to engage 
people in health interventions (e.g., stop 
smoking, obesity, alcoholism, drugs, etc.) or 
wellbeing initiatives in the community, 
including physical activities for adults and 
children

Social: 
Healthier, 
Safer and 
more Resilient 
Communities Vulnerable 

people are 
helped to live 
independently

NT27

Initiatives to be taken to support older, 
disabled and vulnerable people to build 
stronger community networks (e.g., 
befriending schemes, digital inclusion clubs)

Page 133



Theme Outcome NT 
Ref Measure

NT28 Donations or in-kind contributions to local 
community projects (£ & materials)More working 

with the 
Community NT29 No. of hours volunteering time provided to 

support local community projects 

NT31

Savings in CO2 emissions on contract 
achieved through de-carbonisation (i.e., a 
reduction of the carbon intensity of processes 
and operations, specify how these are to be 
achieved)

NT44
Policy and programme to achieve net zero 
carbon including monitoring plan with specific 
milestones

Carbon 
emissions are 

reduced

NT45

Carbon Certification (Carbon Trust Standard, 
Planet Mark or equivalent independently 
verified) - achieved or to achieve for current 
year

Air pollution is 
reduced NT46

Corporate travel schemes available to 
employees on the contract (subsidised public 
transport, subsidised cycling schemes and 
storage, sustainable corporate transport such 
as electric bus from public station to corporate 
facilities)

Safeguarding 
the natural 

environment
NT47

Donations or investments towards expert 
designed sustainable reforestation or 
afforestation initiatives 

NT35

Percentage of procurement contracts that 
include sustainable procurement 
commitments or other relevant requirements 
and certifications (e.g., to use local produce, 
reduce food waste, and keep resources in 
circulation longer.)

NT48

Supply Chain Carbon Certification (Carbon 
Trust Standard for Supply Chain or equivalent 
independently verified) - achieved or to 
achieve for current year

Environment: 
Decarbonising 
and 
Safeguarding 
our World

Sustainable 
Procurement 
is promoted

NT49

Requirements or support (for Micro or Small 
enterprises) for suppliers to demonstrate 
climate change and carbon reduction training 
for all staff - e.g., SDGs Academy courses 
(NTs) or (e.g., RE) Supply Chain 
Sustainability School bronze or higher or 
equivalent

Innovation: 
Promoting 
Social 
Innovation 

Social 
innovation to 
create local 
skills and 

employment

NT50

Innovative measures to promote local skills 
and employment to be delivered on the 
contract - these could be e.g., co-designed 
with stakeholders or communities, or aiming 
at delivering benefits while minimising carbon 

Page 134



Theme Outcome NT 
Ref Measure

footprint from initiatives, etc. 

Social 
innovation to 

support 
responsible 

business

NT51

Innovative measures to promote and support 
responsible business to be delivered on the 
contract - these could be e.g., co-designed 
with stakeholders or communities, or aiming 
at delivering benefits while minimising carbon 
footprint from initiatives, etc. 

Social 
innovation to 

enable 
healthier safer 

and more 
resilient 

communities

NT52

Innovative measures to enable healthier, safer 
and more resilient communities to be 
delivered on the contract - these could be 
e.g., co-designed with stakeholders or 
communities, or aiming at delivering benefits 
while minimising carbon footprint from 
initiatives, etc. 

Social 
innovation to 
safeguard the 
environment 
and respond 
to the climate 

emergency 

NT53

Innovative measures to safeguard the 
environment and respond to the climate 
emergency to be delivered on the contract - 
these could be e.g., co-designed with 
stakeholders or communities, or aiming at 
delivering benefits while minimising carbon 
footprint from initiatives, etc. 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk Management  
Plan 2022-2026

Cabinet Date 30th March 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr. Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and 
Libraries

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval for the objectives relating to the Community Risk 
Management Plan (CRMP) 2022-2026. 

Recommendations

It is recommended that Cabinet:

1. Approves the adoption  of the GFRS Community Risk Management 
Plan (CRMP) 2022 - 2026. 

2. Delegates authority to the Chief Fire Officer to undertake such actions 
as are necessary to implement the adopted CRMP 2022-26.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The primary duties of the Fire and Rescue Authority are contained in the 
Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004. This requires the provision, training and 
equipping of the Service to provide: 

 Firefighting;
 Protection of people and property from fire; 
 Fire safety promotion;
 Road traffic collision rescues; 
 Other emergency responses to civil emergencies. 

In addition to these statutory obligations, the Authority is required to have 
due regard to the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (2018). 
The framework places a legal obligation on all Fire Authorities to develop, 
produce and publish a Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) at least 
once every 3 years.

Resource 
Implications

Resources required to achieve delivery of the plan:
These will be identified by the service’s Portfolio Management Board and 
where required, the relevant business case will be submitted for additional 
funding. 

Page 137

Agenda Item 12



Background 
Documents

 Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (2018)
 HMICFRS State of Fire 2019, 2020 and 2021
 HMICFRS Effectiveness, Efficiency and People 2018/19 – An 

inspection of Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Community Risk Profiles 2022-2025
 Policing and Crime Act 2017
 Fire Standards Board - Community Risk Management Planning (FSS-

RMP01)
 NFCC CRMP Strategic Framework
 Cabinet Member Decision (25/07/2020): Gloucestershire Fire and 

Rescue Service (GFRS) Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 
2018 – 2021 One Year Extension 

 Cabinet Member Decision (22/09/2021) Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service Draft Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2025 

 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk 
Management Plan Consultation Report. 

Statutory Authority Paragraph 4.6 of The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 
(2018).

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All 

Officer Name:  Mark Preece
Tel. no: 01452 888787 
Email: mark.preece@glosfire.gov.uk

Timeline The objectives set in the CRMP will be achieved between April 2022 and 
March 2026. 

Page 138

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705060/National_Framework_-_final_for_web.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-2.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2020-single-page-format.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2021-single-page-format.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/gloucestershire-fire-and-rescue-service-report-2018-19.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/gloucestershire-fire-and-rescue-service-report-2018-19.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/contents/enacted
https://www.firestandards.org/approved-standards/community-risk-management-planning-fss-rmp01/
https://www.firestandards.org/approved-standards/community-risk-management-planning-fss-rmp01/
https://www.ukfrs.com/community-risk/community-risk-management-planning-strategic-framework
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=41565
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=41565


Background

1. The Fire and Rescue National Framework sets out the Government’s priorities and 
objectives for Fire and Rescue authorities in England; a key priority is for the Fire and 
Rescue Authority (FRA) to develop a Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP). When 
developing the CRMP, the FRA should give due regard to the professional advice of the 
Chief Fire Officer.

2. In order to achieve the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) Fire Standard, a standard 
expected of all Fire and Rescue Services in the creation of their CRMP’s, GFRS must:

 Utilise and share accurate data and business intelligence (from both internal and 
external sources) to support key activities such as evidenced-based decision 
making, horizon scanning, cross border risk identification and organisational 
learning;

 Ensure transparency in the community risk management planning process 
through either implementing and/or supporting ongoing engagement and formal 
consultation processes, ensuring these are accessible and publicly available;

 Ensure that organisational decisions and the measures implemented support 
equality, diversity, inclusivity, are non-discriminatory and are people impact 
assessed;

 Meet its legislative, framework and governance requirements linked to Community 
Risk Management;

 Be able to evidence its external and internal operating environment and the 
strategic objectives the community risk management plan is seeking to achieve;

 Identify and describe the existing and emerging local, regional and national 
hazards it faces, the hazardous events that could arise and the risk groups 
(People, Place, Environment and Economy) that could be harmed;

 Analyse risk, consider its risk appetite, determine the risk levels and prioritise risk 
accordingly;

 Make decisions about the deployment of resources based on the prioritised risk 
levels and planning assumptions involved. This should be carried out with 
consideration to internal and external resource availability (people, financial and 
physical) including collaborative, cross-border and national resilience assistance. 
Consideration should also be given to other strategic influences such as 
consultation feedback, stakeholder engagement and political objectives;

 Continually evaluate the effectiveness, efficiency and delivery of the community 
risk management plan and the organisational impact of risk management 
decisions;

 Be able to clearly define who has overall accountability for the community risk 
management plan and responsibility for the various components contained within 
it; and

 Provide training and/or support (where required) to all who are involved in the 
development, management and implementation of the community risk 
management plan.

3.    Prior to the Fire Authority going out for consultation in October 2021, the following work 
had been completed in the  development of the CRMP:

Page 139



 An evidence based Risk Profile methodology for Prevention, Protection and 
Response.

 Creation of Community Risk Profiles for Prevention, Protection and Response, 
that included the review and collection of evidence from internal and external data 
sources.

 CRMP workshops with the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) and Senior Managers, 
each helping to inform different elements of the CRMP (alignment to Council plans 
and strategies, document structure, risk profiles, objective setting, consultation 
and engagement).

 A pre-engagement consultation with the public, staff and businesses before the 
first draft.

 Finalising of the objective setting with the Department Heads and Senior 
Managers.

 Production of an Equality Impact Assessment which supplements this paper.

4. On 22 September 2021, GCC Cabinet were asked as part of due process to consider the 
draft CRMP that was put forward by the Service.

5. Cabinet gave approval for the draft CRMP to be taken forward for public consultation, 
before being finalised and returned to Cabinet for further consideration. 

6. The draft CRMP outlined 8 key objectives, which had been agreed by GFRS Senior 
Leadership Team and endorsed by GCC Cabinet. These were:

Objective 1 – Prevention
Deliver intelligence informed person-centred and impactful prevention 
activities that effectively and efficiently improve the safety, health and 
wellbeing of the diverse people who live, work in or visit Gloucestershire.

Objective 2 – Protection
Deliver intelligence informed and impactful protection activities, to include 
inspections, audits, education and enforcement, which continue to reduce 
the likelihood and impact of fire in commercial buildings across 
Gloucestershire and reduce the risk to both the public and firefighters.

Objective 3 - Response Standards
Implement National Operational Guidance and approved National Fire 
Standards to assure and support operational competence, learning and 
preparedness.

Objective 4 - Response Arrangements
Review our existing arrangements to ensure that we have the required 
number of resources, with the right people and equipment, at the right time, 
in the right location. 

Objective 5 - People and Social Responsibility
Further improve our inclusive culture to ensure that we attract, retain, 
support and develop a diverse workforce, which is truly representative of 
our communities.

Page 140



Objective 6 – Collaboration
Collaboration is important in every organisation. We will collaborate by 
communicating with partners and building on ideas to innovate or do 
something differently in the public’s interest.

Objective 7 - Digital, Data and Technology
Increase the use of data and business intelligence tools to ensure that we 
understand our risks and maximise the use of technology to respond 
appropriately to those risks.

Objective 8 - Asset Management
Continue to provide the best facilities, vehicles, equipment and personal 
protective equipment (PPE) we can afford, enabling us to deliver a 
professional service to our communities.

Public Consultation

7. In line with GCC policy and the requirements of the Fire and Rescue National Framework 
for England (2018), the Service carried out public consultation on the draft CRMP 
between 1 October 2021 and the 26 November 2021. The consultation was carried out 
in accordance with the Gunning Principles:

1. proposals are still at a formative stage
2. there is sufficient information to give ‘intelligent consideration’
3. there is adequate time for consideration and response
4. ‘conscientious consideration’ must be given to the consultation responses before 

a decision is made

8. Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), as the Fire Authority hosted the survey and 
supported GFRS with the engagement both internally and externally. A detailed 
communications plan was developed, and consisted of the following:

 GCC and GFRS social media;

 Paid social media and digital advertising

 Video and animation

 Media releases and other media opportunities

 E-mail marketing via GovDelivery

 Internal promotion to staff

 Council’s Connected 

Page 141



 During our Safe and Well Visits

 At online events and meetings

 Individual letters to Unions, other agencies and Local Constituency Members of 
Parliament 

 All county councillors.

 District councils and GFirst LEP with requests for them to share with their 
business networks. 

Outcome and feedback

9. In total, there was 247 responses to the survey, with 1,300 visitors to the consultation 
page online. There were over 1,000 clicks on the facebook ad, which also had a reach of 
143,786. In addition to this, there was also a reach of 135.6K on twitter. 

10.As part of the consultation, we asked two questions for each proposal. The first question 
was ‘to what extent do you agree with the proposal?’ and the second question was ‘how 
important is this priority for you’. When analysing the feedback of the consultation, overall, 
the responses received showed strong support for each of the proposals. 

11.All comments provided in the consultation have been reviewed and this has seen two 
changes to the overall objectives. The consultation highlighted that there was not enough 
emphasis on learning and development and also that some of the wording in the 
objectives was unclear. As a consequence, amendments have been made to the People 
and Social Responsibility objective, with some slight changes to the wording of some of 
the objectives. 

12.Further details of the consultation, can be located in the consultation section of this 
document.

HMICFRS Inspection

13. In October and November 2021, HMICFRS carried out its second round inspection of 
GFRS. The inspection considers effectiveness, efficiency, people, and the report will be 
released in the spring of 2022. 

14. It is proposed that we extend the CRMP by an additional year in order to take into account 
the findings of this inspection, along with any additional learning and development work 
arising from them. This will mean that the CRMP is now a four-year plan instead of three 
year plan which, as a consequence, has the benefit of remaining in step with GCC’s 
strategic plan 

Options

Page 142



15.Cabinet’s options are:

 To accept and implement the Community Risk Management Plan as is a mandatory 
requirement set within current legislation;

 To request further revisions to the Community Risk Management Plan.  

16.The Chief Fire Officer’s professional opinion based on all of the available evidence and 
subsequent analysis is that the Cabinet adopt the revised CRMP 2022-26 as fit for 
purpose and authorise the Chief Fire Officer to take the necessary actions to implement 
the adopted Plan.

Risks

17.Failure to produce a Community Risk Management Plan will result in the Service and 
Fire Authority not complying with Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 
(2018). The framework places a legal obligation on all Fire Authorities to develop, 
produce and publish a Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) at least once every 
3 years.

18.Failure to act in accordance with the Framework could lead to statutory intervention under 
section 22 of the Fire and Rescue Service Act 2004.

Financial implications

19.All objectives will be managed as projects through the GFRS Portfolio Management 
Office. Progress and will be tracked, monitored and supported through the Portfolio 
Management Board comprising a selection of GCC Directors and GFRS Heads of 
Service. 

20.The GFRS Portfolio Management Board governance process will undertake due 
diligence to ensure that projects have sufficient funding available before they are allowed 
to proceed and to ensure effective financial control is exercised during their 
implementation.

Climate change implications

21.All objectives and their outcomes will be cognisant of the need to satisfy GCC and central 
government carbon neutral policies.

Equality implications

22.An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been completed for the GFRS CRMP 2022 
– 2026 and supplements this report. Further EIA’s may be required following the 
progression of the objectives.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

Page 143



23.There are no Data Protection Impact Assessments implications associated with the 
production of the CRMP 2022 – 2026.

Social value implications

24. In order to achieve the NFCC Fire Standard, a standard expected of all Fire and Rescue 
Services in the creation of their CRMP’s, GFRS must ensure they demonstrate that they 
have delivered on the key points in section 2 of this document.

25.As a consequence of the national standard the social value implications are not adversely 
affected, indeed, the sole intention of the CRMP is to ensure they are not and that we 
target our resources towards areas of social deprivation and to have a positive impact on 
social value.

Consultation feedback

26. In total, 247 responses to the public consultation survey were received, with 74% coming 
from local residents and the rest from GFRS staff, GCC staff, Councillors, local 
businesses and community/voluntary groups. 

27.The full Consultation Report is provided as an Appendix to this Report. 

Officer recommendations

28.That the Cabinet approves the Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026. 

Performance Management/Follow-up
 

29.Progress will be tracked, monitored and supported through the Portfolio Management 
Board comprising a selection of County Council Directors and GFRS Heads of Service. 

30.The Chief Fire Officer will provide updates to the Cabinet Member for Public Protection, 
Parking and Libraries through regular one to one meetings.  

31.The newly formed Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee will scrutinise progress through 
its regular meetings.

32.Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary’s and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 
will scrutinise progress during their inspections of the Service.

Page 144



www.glosfire.gov.uk

"Working Together for a Safer Gloucestershire"

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
Community Risk Management Plan 2022 - 2026P

age 145

http://www.glosfire.gov.uk/


 Contents

2

Foreword………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 3

About our Service Area……………………………………………………….…………………………. 4

Current Response Standards…………………………………………………………………………… 5

What is a Community Risk Management Plan………………………………………………………… 6

How do we Identify Risk…………………..……………………………………………………………... 7

Our Community…………………………..……………………………………………………………..... 8

Mission, Values and Code of Ethics..………………………………………………………………….. 9

Strategic Objectives....................................................................................................................... 10

Prevention ……………...………………………………………………………………………………… 11

Protection …………...……………………………………………………………………………………. 12

Response Standards.……………………………………………………………………………………. 13

Response Arrangements………………………………………………………………………………… 14

People and Social Responsibility….……….......................................................................................... 15

Collaboration……………………………………………………………………….. 16

Digital, Data and Technology……………………………………………………………………………………….. 17

Asset Management………………………….…………………………………………………………………... 18

Timelines…………………............................................................................................................... 19

Consultation……………….............................................................................................................. 20

P
age 146



 Foreword

3

Welcome to Gloucestershire County Council’s Fire and Rescue Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 
covering the 2022 - 26 period.

As the Fire and Rescue Authority, and governing body for the county, Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has 
a legal duty to ensure that we provide a highly effective and efficient Fire and Rescue Service that is also value 
for money. The CRMP is the vision of how we plan to mitigate the risks to our communities over the coming years.

The Service continues to face wide-ranging challenges from a continually evolving risk picture, new legislation and 
national drivers that require it to ‘reform’. This plan will demonstrate to the people of Gloucestershire the dedication 
and commitment made to ensuring their ongoing safety and provides assurance that ‘come what may’ 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) is prepared for every eventuality and able to react accordingly.

“Working together we will provide the highest standard of community safety and emergency response
services to the communities of Gloucestershire”

GCC made a declaration to reach net zero emissions by 2030. GFRS has a part to play in achieving that goal and 
has already taken steps to support this by moving away from diesel powered response vehicles where it can. 
Meanwhile the effects of climate change are all around us and this is reflected in our operational response e.g. 
flooding incidents. This is a frequent and expected event in parts of Gloucestershire but occasionally we see flooding 
in areas previously unaffected and the expectation for us to take action to protect peoples property and possessions 
is naturally high. We have equipment available at our disposal, the necessary training and national memorandum 
of understanding that ensures we can draw on resources far and wide should we need them. 

Overall we continue to seek ethical and sustainable procurement for our consumable items, our Personal Protective 
Clothing and equipment and include the learning from many months of Covid - 19. Our agile working programme 
has been accelerated by the pandemic and evolved to reduce unnecessary journeys for meetings and other events 
by interacting virtually thereby reducing our carbon footprint.

We remain confident that, with the unstinting support of the GCC, GFRS will deliver a high class prevention, 
protection and response service to the communities of Gloucestershire for the foreseeable future living up to the 
Service’s mission statement.

Dave Norman
Lead Cabinet Member 
Gloucestershire County Council

Mark Preece
Interim Chief Fire Officer 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service

P
age 147



 About our Service Area

4

Gloucestershire is a diverse county covering 1,024 square miles and hosting a population of approximately 
640,000. The county is divided into six districts, City of Gloucester, Cheltenham, Forest of Dean, 
Tewkesbury, Cotswold and Stroud.

Over half of Gloucestershire’ County has been designated as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB), including parts of the Cotswold's, the Wye Valley and the Forest of Dean. The main urban centres 
are Gloucester and Cheltenham where approximately half of the county’s population live.

GFRS has 32 fire engines with a further 15 specialist vehicles that ensure we provide a high standard 
emergency response to all incidents in all 
areas. These vehicles are crewed by  on-
call and whole-time firefighters and both 
are supported by a core of flexible duty 
Officers and non operational staff at its 
Quedgeley Headquarters or, due to the 
pandemic, from other premises and home 
addresses.

As a Service, we border six other Fire 
and Rescue Services (South Wales, 
Herefordshire and
Worcestershire, Warwickshire, 
Oxford shire, Dorset & Wiltshire and 
Avon), providing mutual cross-border 
support to one another if and when 
required.

P
age 148



 Current Response Standards

5

How do we measure the time that it takes us to respond to an incident?

A response time is measured from the time the call is received by Fire Control to the time that a fire engine arrives at the incident.

The response time is made up of three elements:-

Current Response Standards

Dwelling fires - We will attend dwelling fires based on an average 
response time of 9 minutes or under.

Commercial fires - We will attend commercial fires based on an 
average response time of 10 minutes or under.

Primary fires - We will attend primary fires based on an average 
response  time of 10 minutes or under.

Proposal for the future

We always aim to get to emergencies as fast as we can, every
time. However, we have to be sophisticated in how we allocate our 
resources based on the level of risk and the severity of an incident. 
We measure our response standards to ensure that our resources 
are in the most appropriate location and that the staffing models 
enable us to achieve the best response for the communities that 
we serve. As part of response arrangements objective, the service 
will look to review its current response standards.

P
age 149



 What is a Community Risk Management Plan?

6

The Fire Authority has a statutory responsibility, under the Fire and Rescue 
Services Act 2004, to produce a CRMP. The plan must cover at least a 
three year period, be reviewed regularly and outline how GFRS will tackle 
and mitigate the risks our communities face. The CRMP is informed by our 
Community Risk Profile (CRP), a document which  assesses in detail the 
risks in our local areas, how likely they are to occur, how extensive the 
impact might be and also takes into account national risks.

As an over-arching plan the CRMP covers all parts of our Service, 
referencing key documents such as our Service Strategies, Annual Service 
Plan and our Team Plans. This helps everyone in our organisation to 
understand risks and how we plan to reduce the impact and respond 
effectively.

The requirements of a CRMP are set out in the ‘Fire and Rescue National 
Framework for England 2018’. This states that each Fire Authority must 
ensure the following five priorities are met: -

1. To be accountable to the communities for the service they provide;

2. To identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue
related risks their areas face;

3. To make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection 
activities and response to fire and rescue related incidents;

4. To develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, 
skilled, flexible and delivers;

5. To collaborate with emergency services and other local and national 
partners to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the service they 
provide.

You will find details of how we address all of the above points throughout 
this plan.

The National Framework also states what CRMP’s must contain and this 
includes an outline of how we allocate our resources to mitigate risks, and 
how we manage and enforce the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
(RRO) 2005 in relation to business fire safety.

The CRMP will also show you how we have consulted with you, our 
communities, on the development of this plan as well as how we sought the 
options of our staff, representative bodies and partner organisations.

This plan covers the period April 2022 to March 2026 and is reviewed on 
an annual basis to ensure our plans are always up to date and reflect 
changes in local risks, national policies or finances.

At the end of every year we are required to publish a Statement of 
Assurance which outlines how we have performed against our plan and the 
targets set out in it. The transparency this provides makes us fully 
accountable to the communities of Gloucestershire for the service we 
provide to them.

P
age 150

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705060/National_Framework_-_final_for_web.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705060/National_Framework_-_final_for_web.pdf


 How do we Identify Risk?

7

Community Risk Profiles

GFRS has conducted a thorough risk 
analysis of previous incidents, fire safety 
audits and safe and well visits and future 
risks that could lead to emergency incidents 
in the future. Our risk information comes from 
a number of sources and helps us to develop 
our Community Risk Profiles (Link to 
CRPs).

The CRP’s inform our decision making 
regarding the most suitable prevention, 
protection and emergency response 
arrangements to manage risk to an 
acceptable level.

The risks we consider include: -

 Fatalities, reflecting the number of 
people killed at an incident.

 Casualties, covering those requiring 
medical intervention resulting from an 
incident and mental health casualties.

 Evacuation and shelter from hazardous 
events

 Behaviour, public perception and  
anxiety.

 Economy, to include property damage,
heritage loss and business disruption.

 Disruption to essential services including 
transport, utilities, finance, 
communications and other Emergency 
Services.

 Environmental risks including all types of 
pollution to the environment.

P
age 151



 Our Community

8

Although Gloucestershire has an affluent and successful economy, which is generally true, it is not evenly shared. There is evidence to show a link between 
social deprivation and the occurrence of fire, and as such our prevention and protection work, as well as our emergency response has to be tailored to the 
differing needs of each community that we serve.

To ensure that we meet the needs of Gloucestershire and our local communities, it is essential that we make sure that we have the right people, with the 
right equipment, in the right place and at the right time. To enable this, we need to understand the diverse risks and impacts within our area.

P
age 152



 Mission, Values and Code of Ethics

9

Code of Ethics:

The National Fire Chiefs Council, with the Local Government Association, have produced a Code of Ethics 
for Fire and Rescue Services, to be adopted by every service in England. The Code of Ethics reflects best 
practice principles and has been designed to underpin the way we serve our communities, carry out our 
role and work together.

Strategic Aims and Mission Statement:

 

Values:

Our commitment to you is that we will always aim to be the best FRS 
we can be. In order to achieve this, there are certain behaviours that 
we expect from our staff. How well our staff are demonstrating these 
as part of their day to day job is assessed within our bespoke 
appraisal system. We aim to live these values every day: -

P
age 153



 Strategic Objectives

10

Our strategic objectives have been drawn from several sources over recent years and 
have been aligned to our strategic aims. Our Cultural Review was conducted 
evidencing need for cultural change within our Service. Whilst much work has been 
done we know we have much more to do.

GCC internal audit were welcomed into the Service to inspect our policies, procedures 
and processes. 18 reports with 118 recommendations were addressed through the 
establishment of an Improvement Board over the successive 2 years and we need to 
continue to reflect on and review our practices.

Our first formal inspection by Her Majesty's Inspectorate for Constabulary's Fire and 
Rescue Service (HMICFRS) highlighted the need for improvements across our 
Service.

All of the above has assisted to make the Service more self-aware. In response we 
have established our Portfolio Management Office (PMO). This is designed to manage 
all projects and tasks, including those identified by our Cultural Review and our 
HMICFRS findings. Building on the success of our Improvement Board,   we have 
established a Portfolio Management Board who scrutinise progress across all areas 
and provide, advice, support and resources where required to ensure we are 
progressing on our continuous improvement journey. In addition, we have learnt many 
new ways of working during Covid - 19 that are an improvement on our usual practices 
and these will become embedded into future ways of workings.

All of the above, coupled with our community risk profiling and our professional 
judgement, have built the foundations for the next 4 years:

Strategic Aim – People “Ensure our services are delivered by a professional, well 
equipped, highly skilled, motivated and well developed workforce which is able to work 
safely and whose composition reflects our diverse community.” 

Objective - People and Social Responsibility
Further improve our inclusive culture to ensure that we attract, retain, support 
and develop a diverse workforce, which is truly representative of our 
communities.

Objective – Workforce ‘Fit for the future’ 
Develop and shape our Workforce to be ‘fit for the future’, strengthening health 
and wellbeing and ensuring that our people are equipped with the knowledge , 
skills and experience to continue building a safe, effective and resilient service 
to the people of Gloucestershire.

Strategic Aim – Prevention and Protection “Work with our local communities to 
reduce risks to life, property and the environment from fire and other emergencies. 

Objective - Prevention
Deliver tailored prevention activities that effectively and efficiently improve the safety, health 
andwellbeing of the diverse people who live, work in or visit Gloucestershire.

Objective - Protection
Deliver protection activities, to include inspections, audits, education and 
enforcement, which continue to reduce the likelihood and impact of fire in commercial 
buildings across Gloucestershire and reduce the risk to both the public and 
firefighters.

Strategic aim – Response and Resilience “Respond promptly and efficiently to deal with 
fires and other emergencies when they occur. 

Objective - Response Arrangements
Review our existing arrangements to ensure that we have the required number of 
resources, with the right people and equipment, at the right time, in the right location.

Objective - Response Standards
Implement National Operational Guidance and approved National Fire Standards to 
assure and support operational competence, learning and preparedness.

Objective - Collaboration
Collaboration is important in every organisation. We will collaborate by 
communicating with partners and building on ideas to innovate or do something 
differently in the public’s interest.

Strategic Aim – Our Performance “Monitor our performance to ensure that we continually 
improve and deliver value for money.”

Objective - Asset Management
Continue to provide best value facilities, vehicles, equipment and personal protective 
equipment (PPE), enabling us to deliver a professional service to our communities.

Objective - Digital, Data and Technology
Increase the use of data and business intelligence tools to ensure that we understand 
our risks and maximise the use of technology to respond appropriately to those risks.

Whilst we know ‘what’ we need to do, we detail the ‘why’ and the ‘how’ over the successive 
pages. Finally, we describe the timelines to ensure we provide assurance that our CRMP is 
providing the desired outcomes.

P
age 154



11

People

P
age 155



12

                             People and Social Responsibility                
Further improve our inclusive culture to ensure that we 
attract, retain, support and develop a diverse workforce, 
which is truly representative of our communities.
Our team is stronger, safer and more effective when each and everyone of us is given the opportunity to contribute our 
best; irrespective of race, sex, gender reassignment, age, sexual orientation , religion and/or belief, marriage & civil 
partnerships, pregnancy & maternity or disability.

We recognise that diversity is what makes our organisation successful and drives a healthy culture, so we are committed 
to attracting new staff by being an employer of choice. We know that by promoting the right values, we will positively impact 
the working life of every member of staff and those living within the communities we serve.

We have both a moral and legal duty to move forward as a modern Fire and Rescue Service by driving equality, diversity 
and inclusivity. We know the views and feelings of our staff regarding inclusion and we are committed to improving our 
culture. We want staff to feel confident that any issues they may have will be listened to and addressed in a positive way.

We are focused and determined to provide equality of opportunity for all staff and demonstrate due regard for the value of 
difference, operating in an environment that encourages innovation and does not tolerate inappropriate behaviour.

 Delivering the objectives contained on the cultural section of our Service Improvement plan.
 Increasing our resources and capacity in the right areas to deliver equality, diversity and inclusion work across the 

organisation.
 Developing and maintaining our training for every member of staff regarding cultural intelligence.
 Working in collaboration with other agencies and partners to access the best support and scrutiny over our future 

plans.
 Continuing to ensure that our values and code of ethics drive everything we do.
 Continuing to enhance and develop our innovative recruitment and progression practices to drive inclusivity.
 Reviewing and improving our work on positive action.
 Developing our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Network to strengthen their influence on the Service.
 Increasing engagement through visible leadership and the use of our EDI Network to ensure staff have a voice in 

shaping the future of our Service.

P
age 156



13

       Workforce – Fit for the future                          
Develop and shape our Workforce to be ‘fit for the future’, strengthening health and 
wellbeing and ensuring that our people are equipped with the knowledge , skills and 
experience to continue building a safe, effective and resilient service to the people 
of Gloucestershire.

Our workforce profile predicts a high number of staff who are expected to retire in the coming years, which presents a significant risk to the 
Service in terms of loss of knowledge, skills and experience. We know that this will be felt most prevalently amongst our operational 
workforce.
Robust succession planning will be crucial to ensure that we rise to these challenges in the future. With an anticipated relatively new 
workforce we must increase our training, development and support to staff at all levels. And, with a changing operational profile, we must find 
new  ways of developing our staff’s operational exposure. 
We know that people are our greatest asset and we must provide a clear vison with opportunity to grow.
The changes expected in our workforce profile also offers us an opportunity to improve and strengthen working practices  and development 
pathways  to shape our own future and ensure the Service we provide to  public is the most effective and efficient as can be. 
We also know that resilience is vital to ensure that we are always there for those that need us … every time they need us. We see supporting  
our people’s physical and mental wellbeing is just as important as training and developing them to carry out their roles. Continually improving 
our working environment will give us highly motivated, engaged and valued staff that can fulfil their full potential. It will also develop a 
workforce whose composition, capacity and competence can deliver best value for the people of Gloucestershire

 · We will deliver the objective’s contained with the Service’s improvement plan.
· By providing strong, values based leaders , who are trusted to the right thing and  lead by example.
· We will Strengthen our succession planning processes and match individuals potential to those needs.
· We will be guided by professional standard to ensure the best quality of service.
· We will improve our development process and pathways to give our staff the best opportunities possible to reach their potential. 
· We will increase, expand and improve our Learning and Development provisions to ensure we have the capacity, flexibility and resources     
to rise to the challenge of our future workforce.
· We will evaluate implement the long term training solution for GFRS at the end of our contract with Severn Park Training centre.
· Make full use of Apprenticeships to offer the highest level of training.
· Develop peoples personal and professional skills and knowledge throughout their careers, providing ongoing support to help them achieve 
their full potential.

P
age 157



14

Prevention and Protection

P
age 158



15

                                    Prevention
Deliver tailored prevention activities that effectively and efficiently 
improve the safety, health and wellbeing of the diverse people who live, 
work in or visit Gloucestershire.

Effective person-centred prevention activities will ensure we maximise our ability to reduce the potential for harm arising from fire and 
other emergencies such as flooding, road traffic collisions, arson and medical crises. To support and enable this we need to further 
develop our understanding of the different ways in which people encounter risk by collecting and analysing data more effectively to ensure 
we maximise our prevention activities.

 Work collaboratively with partners to capture, share and analyse incident data to provide an intelligence led, risk based 
approach to target the vulnerable and most at risk from fire and other emergencies;
 Work collaboratively to maximise capacity and reach, through the use of specialists, firefighters and partners to make every
contact count;
 Collaborate with other Fire & Rescue Services, the voluntary sector, local stakeholders and, where possible, use academic 
research to ensure we develop and deliver effective prevention activities.
 Continue to deliver an effective safe and well Service. 
 Clearly evidence through evaluation, the impact our ongoing activities have on the safety, health and wellbeing of the diverse 
people who live, work in or visit Gloucestershire.
 Actively support the Gloucestershire Road Safety Forum;
 Continue to develop the outstanding work that takes place in SkillZONE and in the community to engage with children and their
families as early as possible to improve their awareness of the risks from fire and other emergencies;
 Continue to actively support, and lead where possible, the work of the adult and child safeguarding partnerships to create a 
fairer and more inclusive society in which people can live healthier and less-isolated lives.

P
age 159



                                       Protection

16

Deliver protection activities, to include inspections, audits, 
education and enforcement, which continue to reduce the likelihood 
and impact of fire in commercial buildings across Gloucestershire 
and reduce the risk to both the public and firefighters.

Targeting our resources through an effective intelligence led, Risk Based Inspection Programme will make the built environment 
across Gloucestershire safer through improving fire safety legislation compliance, in accordance with the Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005, across the business sector in Gloucestershire. This will improve the safety, health and wellbeing of our 
communities; reduce the economic and psychological loss to business owners and reduce a preventable response undertaken by 
firefighters.

 Work collaboratively with partners to capture, share and analyse incident data that informs our Risk Based Inspection 
Programme
 Work with other regulators and stakeholders to actively engage and educate local businesses, supported by fair and
proportionate enforcement to reduce risk;
 Maximise capacity and enhance firefighter safety by training operational crews to support fire safety and develop a robust 
Business Safe and Well inspection programme.
 Continue to embed the recommendations from the ongoing Grenfell enquiry in partnership with our Learning and 
Development  and control departments to ensure compliance across Gloucestershire.
 Ensure we maintain a highly skilled and sustainable specialist fire safety team that hold the recognised qualifications for 
regulators as set out in the Competence framework for Fire Regulators (2020);
 Ensure continuous improvement through effective evaluation of protection activities utilising audit findings, to inform the annual
Risk Based Inspection Programme.
 Work with the NFCC to actively support and respond to learning from the Grenfell Public Inquiry and the Independent Review of 
Building Regulations.

P
age 160



17

Response and Resilience

22

P
age 161



18

                            Response Arrangements                          
Review our existing arrangements to ensure that we have the 
required number of resources, with the right people and 
equipment, at the right time, in the right location.

There is no ‘one size fits all’ approach to managing a Fire and Rescue Services resources, capacity and capability. In addition, 
Gloucestershire and its communities have different needs and risks to other areas within the country. The priority for the Service 
will always be to safeguard our communities, by preventing harm from occurring in the first place, through our Prevention and 
Protection activities. However, we recognise that emergency incidents will still occur. It is for that reason we need to review our 
fire cover arrangements in response to a changing workforce; risks to the public, firefighters and the environment; changing 
technology; demographics, the lasting effects of Covid - 19 and most of all, to meet the expectations of the communities we 
serve.

In an ever changing environment, we must remain flexible in the delivery of our service. Informed by evidence based risk profile, 
further extensive predictive analysis and insights will help to ensure that we have the right skills, equipment, capacity and 
capability at the right time, in the right location. By capacity we mean the ability of staff present at any one time to provide an 
effective and efficient Prevention, Protection and Response service and by capability we mean the skills, experience, knowledge 
and training of those staff present to provide community focused outcomes.

 Perform scenario modelling of our existing fire cover, specialist appliances and emergency medical response 
arrangements.
 Modernise the staffing model for on-call firefighters and attract a more diverse range of applicants by performing an
extensive review of the current system
 Undertake a systematic review of our mobilisation and attendance times, exploring innovative solutions to improve on 
them.
 Explore the use and location of technology to support the command of operational incidents.
 Ensure that we continually learn from incidents. 
 Continue to support National Resilience assets and capabilities, such as, wide area flooding and wildfires. 
 Review our existing response standards.

P
age 162



                                Response Standards

19

Implement National Operational Guidance and approved
       National Fire Standards to assure and support operational 

competence, learning and preparedness.

Fire and Rescue incidents are wide ranging and varied. Historically we have created standard operating procedures to deal with 
them, created from written risk assessments, that inform our training and provide ongoing guidance for our incident commanders. 
Unfortunately, every Fire and Rescue Service in the UK has done the same and there can be some slight differences in approach 
and terminology. As a consequence National Operational Guidance has been written that provides Fire and Rescue Services 
with a clear framework for attending and training for all operational activities. This ensures a more joined up approach when working 
at overborder incidents or at national large scale multi-agency incidents such as flooding events, acts of terrorism and incidents 
that threaten our environment. In addition a raft of National Fire Standards are being written to ensure there is a nationally 
recognised training standard in support of this National Operational Guidance. Finally, where we attend incidents we will debrief 
them and share our learning nationally. Aligning our guidance and training will not only help us to prepare and plan for emergencies, 
but to contribute to improving firefighter safety and the safety of the much wider community.

 Renew and update our operational procedures and guidance to align with National Operational Guidance.
 Refresh and renew the skills of our operational and Fire Control staff through practical and theoretical learning.
 Plan for major incidents through exercising and testing.
 Work with partners to enhance our response to large scale and multi-agency incidents
 Share learning with our neighbouring Fire and Rescue Services and across the wider sector to ensure that National

Operational Guidance remains current.
 Continue to develop how we provide firefighters with relevant and accurate operational risk information. 
 We will regularly review and update our training to ensure we are adhering to best practice.

P
age 163



                                         Collaboration                                    

20

Collaborate by communicating with partners and building on 
ideas to innovate or do something differently in the  public’s 
interest.

GFRS has collaboration arrangements for its prevention, protection and response activities. For example, we share our buildings 
with Gloucestershire Constabulary, the South West Ambulance Service and the Severn Area Rescue Association. Our protection 
teams inspect premises with the Building Control and Housing Teams where applicable and we refer some of our Safe and Well 
clients to Social Services and other partners who can address and support with other issues. Where the law permits, collaborative 
work can include the sharing of information in support of Children and Adult Services in the best interest of those affected. When 
collaboration works well it enables us to achieve more as a collective team and the benefits are tangible, but over time we may 
have arrangements that need reviewing to ensure they best serve the public interest. The Policing and Crime Act 2017 requires 
the Police, Fire and Rescue and Ambulance Services to keep collaboration opportunities    under review and, where it is in the 
mutual interest of efficiency or effectiveness, to put new arrangements into practice.

 A comprehensive collaboration plan with the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC)

 Collaboration with other blue light services, including a rationalisation and sharing of estates as well as looking for joined up 
working practices.

 Continuing to evaluate and improve our campaigns by learning from others.
 Exploring opportunities for collaborative working and partnership development to maximise safety messages and 

campaigns building on what we have learnt throughout the pandemic.
 Building a Collaboration Framework so that we can demonstrate where we are providing added value and to assist us with

ongoing reviews.
 Review our collaboration and partnership agreements to ensure they continue to deliver the best value for our 

communities.

P
age 164



21

Performance

P
age 165



22

                            Asset Management                                      

Continue to provide best value facilities, vehicles, equipment and 
personal protective equipment (PPE), enabling us to deliver a 
professional service to our communities.

We are aware of the changing risks within our communities and recognise there is a need to procure a wide range of assets for 
our staff to deliver a professional service to our communities. When considering the renewal or enhancement of our assets, we 
need to consider the extent to which expenditure increases our effectiveness and efficiency to prevent, protect and respond to 
the significant range of emergency incidents we are called to attend. Overall, we continue to seek ethical and sustainable 
procurement for our consumable items, our PPE and equipment and include the learning from many months of Covid - 19.

 Undertake a review of our current fleet that includes vehicles and specialist assets e.g. boats to ensure we have the right 
resources to meet the current and future needs of the Service;

 Undertake a review of equipment and PPE provided to our specialist rescue teams, for example water rescue and working at
height, to ensure they can respond safely, effectively and efficiently.

 Secure sustainable capital and revenue budgets aligned to our strategic objectives;
 Adopt the whole life cycle approach to asset management, engaging with end users and actively pursuing collaboration 
opportunities with partners;
 Implement effective and sustainable asset management plans and systems providing assurance that our fleet, equipment, 
facilities and training resources support current and future needs;
 Ensure we have compliant and collaborative procurement processes so we purchase the right products and services at the
best price.

P
age 166



23

     Digital, Data and Technology                          

Increase the use of data and business intelligence tools to 
ensure that we understand our risks and maximise the use of 
technology to respond appropriately to those risks.

In a digital world it is import that the Service keeps up to date with the relevant advances in data analytics and technology. The 
service has a long history of investing in its technology, this includes a state of the art Control Room, Mobile Data Terminals on 
fire engines, IPads for safe and well visits and the ability to work with agility using laptops and mobile phones.

The Service is currently Cyber Essentials Plus accredited and has been since June 2017. With the implementation of a more 
agile workforce, driven by the Covid - 19 pandemic, and the arrival of the Emergency Services Network (ESN) for improved joint 
operation working, it is important that the Service continues to invest in technology.

 Introduce a new Management Information System that links the areas of Protection, Firefighter Safety and Prevention activity 
and keeps all our risk information together.

 Develop and embed systems to effectively evaluate our activity to keep our communities safe.
 With the support from the National Fire Chiefs Council, we aim to extend the range of data we use, specifically from the 

Health Service and continue to improve and develop our approach to analysing and understanding community risk thereby 
delivering more effective outcomes for vulnerable people across our communities.

 Implement new emergency mobilising technology into our operational service as well as review current systems to deliver 
improved response times.

 Engage with the Home Office led Emergency Services Mobile Communication Programme (ESMCP) in order to implement 
the Emergency Services Network (ESN) within Gloucestershire.

 Evaluate our IT systems to ensure we are making best use of technology as a key enabler for our service.
 Keep our systems updated to the relevant security requirements to keep our data and systems secure.
 Remain accredited to the relevant codes of connection and security e.g. cyber essentials plus.
 Collect and analyse new data to deepen our understanding of where risk lies in Gloucestershire.
 Design and embed a new risk matrix that prioritises our work so that we are able to deliver tailor-made safe and well visits 

to support individual and household needs.

P
age 167



24

                      Timeline                                                          
Year 1 2022-23

Cultural Improvement Action Plan

Implement National Operational Guidance

Emergency Service Network Programme 

Severn Park Training Centre Review

Front Line Appliance Review

Specialist PPE 

Incident Command Unit Review 

Aerial Appliance Review

Light Fleet Review 

Predictive Analysis and Modelling

Power BI Data Improvements

Fire Ground Radio Upgrade 

Asset Management Systems

Year 2 2023-24

Cultural Improvement Action Plan

Implement National Operational Guidance

Emergency Service Network Programme 

Severn Park Training Centre Review

Front Line Appliance Review

Specialist PPE 

Incident Command Unit Review 

Aerial Appliance Review

Light Fleet Review 

Predictive Analysis and Modelling

Power BI Data Improvements

Collaboration Framework

Year 3 2024-25

Cultural Improvement Action Plan

Implement National Operational Guidance

Emergency Service Network Programme 

Severn Park Training Centre Review

Front Line Appliance Review

Specialist PPE 

Incident Command Unit Review 

Aerial Appliance Review

Year 4 2025-26

Cultural Improvement Action Plan

Implement National Operational Guidance

Emergency Service Network Programme 

Severn Park Training Centre Review

Front Line Appliance Review

“Working together we will provide the highest standard of community safety and emergency response services to the communities of 
Gloucestershire”

P
age 168



25

               Performance Metrics                                                          
HOW WE MONITOR AND EVALUATE OUR OBJECTIVES

All business activities and objectives will be monitored and evaluated using a number of different methods, which include;

 The GFRS Annual Service Plan. 
 The Portfolio Management Office, which is overseen by the Portfolio Management Board. 
 All decision are governed by the GCC decision-making process following GFRS Senior Leadership Team approval. 
 Scrutiny of all plans, projects, programmes and performance is provided by the Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee (FRSC). 
 External Scrutiny is provided by HMICFRS, GCC Audit and Peer Challenge from other Fire and Rescue Services.  

Annual Key Performance Indicators are reviewed, developed and published each year as part of the annual planning cycle. Below are the metrics that we will use 
to monitor and evaluate our business activities and support the objectives within this Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026. 

Community Risk Management Plan Metrics
Average response time to dwelling fires

Average response time to Commercial fires
Average response time to Primary fires

Number of deliberate fires (14% reduction based on 3 year rate each quarter)
Number of accidental dwelling fires - (14% reduction based on 3 year rate each quarter)

% of Safe and Well visits undertaken to those in high risk groups
Rate of Safe and Well visits undertaken per 1,000 population

% of 7.2D premises within required frequency
% of higher risk premises inspected within required time frame

% of operational Incident Commanders (in role) within 2 yearly requalification target
% of operational staff (In role -FF to WM) within 2 yearly requalification target for Breathing 

Apparatus
% of staff in GFRS from Black and Minority Ethnic groups - (as a % of the total workforce)

% of staff in GFRS that are female - (as a % of the total workforce)
Days lost to Sickness per FTE
Number of RIDDOR injuries

% forecast spend against budget

P
age 169



                               Further Information                               

26

HOW TO CONTACT US

If you require further copies of this document or an alternative 
format, please contact us via:

Email fire@glosfire.gov.uk

 

Write to us at:-

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
Fire Service HQ
Waterwells Drive
Quedgeley
Gloucester GL2 2AX

Or by telephone: 01452 888777

P
age 170

mailto:fire@glosfire.gov.uk


27

P
age 171



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Project Report
13 April 2021 - 07 December 2021

Have Your Say Gloucestershire
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Draft Community Risk

Management Plan 2022-2025 Public Consultation

Highlights

TOTAL
VISITS

1.3 k  

MAX VISITORS PER
DAY

287
NEW
REGISTRATI
ONS

17

ENGAGED
VISITORS

247  

INFORMED
VISITORS

363  

AWARE
VISITORS

1.2 k

Aware Participants 1,158

Aware Actions Performed Participants

Visited a Project or Tool Page 1,158

Informed Participants 363

Informed Actions Performed Participants

Viewed a video 2

Viewed a photo 0

Downloaded a document 31

Visited the Key Dates page 8

Visited an FAQ list Page 31

Visited Instagram Page 0

Visited Multiple Project Pages 99

Contributed to a tool (engaged) 247

Engaged Participants 247

Engaged Actions Performed
Registered Unverified Anonymous

Contributed on Forums 0 0 0

Participated in Surveys 8 0 238

Contributed to Newsfeeds 0 0 0

Participated in Quick Polls 0 0 0

Posted on Guestbooks 0 0 0

Contributed to Stories 0 0 0

Asked Questions 1 0 0

Placed Pins on Places 0 0 0

Contributed to Ideas 0 0 0

Visitors Summary

Pageviews Visitors

1 Oct '21 1 Nov '21 1 Dec '21

250

500

750

 

Page 173



Tool Type
Engagement Tool Name Tool Status Visitors

Registered Unverified Anonymous

Contributors

Qanda Contacting us via the Q&amp;A tool at the

bottom of this page
Published 26 1 0 0

Survey Tool Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Draft

Community R...
Archived 287 8 0 238

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

ENGAGEMENT TOOLS SUMMARY

0
FORUM TOPICS  

1
SURVEYS  

0
NEWS FEEDS  

0
QUICK POLLS  

0
GUEST BOOKS

0
STORIES  

1
Q&A S  

0
PLACES

Page 2 of 32

Page 174



Widget Type
Engagement Tool Name Visitors Views/Downloads

Faqs
faqs 31 32

Document
Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2025 27 33

Document
Printable Survey.pdf 7 7

Key Dates
Key Date 8 9

Video
Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue 2 2

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

INFORMATION WIDGET SUMMARY

2
DOCUMENTS  

0
PHOTOS  

1
VIDEOS  

1
FAQS  

0
KEY DATES

Page 3 of 32

Page 175



Visitors 26 Contributors 1 CONTRIBUTIONS 1

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

QANDA

Contacting us via the Q&amp;A tool at the bottom of this page

No Responses

Page 4 of 32

Page 176



Visitors 287 Contributors 246 CONTRIBUTIONS 247

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

ENGAGEMENT TOOL: SURVEY TOOL

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Draft Community Risk
Management Plan 2022-2025 Public Consultation

Respondent type:

23 (9.4%)

23 (9.4%)

18 (7.3%)

18 (7.3%)

6 (2.4%)

6 (2.4%)

7 (2.9%)

7 (2.9%)

182 (74.3%)

182 (74.3%)

4 (1.6%)

4 (1.6%) 5 (2.0%)

5 (2.0%)

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue employee Gloucestershire County Council employee Councillor

Local business Local resident Local community / volunteer group Other (please specify)

Question options

Page 5 of 32

Optional question (245 response(s), 2 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 177



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Do you currently live in Gloucestershire?

235 (96.7%)

235 (96.7%)

8 (3.3%)

8 (3.3%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 6 of 32

Optional question (243 response(s), 4 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 178



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Looking at the eight proposed objective that we have identified for as the priorities
for the next three year, to what extent do you agree with each of them?Proposed

objective 1 – PreventionWe will deliver intelligence informed person-centred and i...

141 (59.0%)

141 (59.0%)

84 (35.1%)

84 (35.1%)

8 (3.3%)

8 (3.3%) 6 (2.5%)

6 (2.5%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 7 of 32

Optional question (239 response(s), 8 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 179



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

How important is this priority for you?

125 (51.7%)

125 (51.7%)

100 (41.3%)

100 (41.3%)

8 (3.3%)

8 (3.3%) 4 (1.7%)

4 (1.7%) 5 (2.1%)

5 (2.1%)

Very important Important Not important Not important at all Don’t know

Question options

Page 8 of 32

Optional question (242 response(s), 5 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 180



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Proposed objective 2 – ProtectionWe will deliver intelligence informed and impactful
protection activities, to include inspections, audits, education and enforcement,

which continue to reduce the likelihood and impact of fire in commercial building...

133 (57.1%)

133 (57.1%)

93 (39.9%)

93 (39.9%)

4 (1.7%)

4 (1.7%) 3 (1.3%)

3 (1.3%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 9 of 32

Optional question (233 response(s), 14 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 181



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

How important is this priority for you?

126 (52.5%)

126 (52.5%)

99 (41.3%)

99 (41.3%)

9 (3.8%)

9 (3.8%) 6 (2.5%)

6 (2.5%)

Very important Important Not important Don’t know

Question options

Page 10 of 32

Optional question (240 response(s), 7 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 182



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Proposed objective 3 - Response StandardsWe will implement National Operational
Guidance and approved National Fire Standards to assure and support operational

competence, learning and preparedness.

153 (64.8%)

153 (64.8%)

81 (34.3%)

81 (34.3%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%) 1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 11 of 32

Optional question (236 response(s), 11 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 183



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

How important is this priority for you?

137 (56.8%)

137 (56.8%)

90 (37.3%)

90 (37.3%)

7 (2.9%)

7 (2.9%) 1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%) 6 (2.5%)

6 (2.5%)

Very important Important Not important Not important at all Don’t know

Question options

Page 12 of 32

Optional question (241 response(s), 6 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 184



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Proposed objective 4 - Response ArrangementsWe will review our existing
arrangements to ensure that we have the required number of resources, with the right

people and equipment, at the right time, in the right location.

172 (73.8%)

172 (73.8%)

53 (22.7%)

53 (22.7%)

4 (1.7%)

4 (1.7%) 4 (1.7%)

4 (1.7%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 13 of 32

Optional question (233 response(s), 14 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 185



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

How important is this priority for you?

173 (71.5%)

173 (71.5%)

61 (25.2%)

61 (25.2%)

5 (2.1%)

5 (2.1%) 1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%) 2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)

Very important Important Not important Not important at all Don’t know

Question options

Page 14 of 32

Optional question (242 response(s), 5 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 186



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Proposed objective 5 - People and Social ResponsibilityWe will further, improve our
inclusive culture to ensure that we attract, retain, support and develop a diverse

workforce, which is truly representative of our communities.

95 (40.3%)

95 (40.3%)

109 (46.2%)

109 (46.2%)

17 (7.2%)

17 (7.2%)
15 (6.4%)

15 (6.4%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 15 of 32

Optional question (236 response(s), 11 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 187



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

How important is this priority for you?

87 (35.7%)

87 (35.7%)

98 (40.2%)

98 (40.2%)

32 (13.1%)

32 (13.1%)

26 (10.7%)

26 (10.7%) 1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

Very important Important Not important Not important at all Don’t know

Question options

Page 16 of 32

Optional question (244 response(s), 3 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 188



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Proposed objective 6 – CollaborationCollaboration is important in every organisation.
We will collaborate by communicating with partners and building on ideas to

innovate or do something differently in the public’s interest

106 (44.0%)

106 (44.0%)

125 (51.9%)

125 (51.9%)

8 (3.3%)

8 (3.3%) 2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 17 of 32

Optional question (241 response(s), 6 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 189



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

How important is this priority for you?

87 (35.8%)

87 (35.8%)

126 (51.9%)

126 (51.9%)

26 (10.7%)

26 (10.7%) 2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%) 2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)

Very important Important Not important Not important at all Don’t know

Question options

Page 18 of 32

Optional question (243 response(s), 4 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 190



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Proposed objective 7 - Digital, Data and TechnologyWe will increase the use of data
and business intelligence tools to ensure that we understand our risks and maximise

the use of technology to respond appropriately to those risks.

88 (36.8%)

88 (36.8%)

143 (59.8%)

143 (59.8%)

4 (1.7%)

4 (1.7%) 4 (1.7%)

4 (1.7%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 19 of 32

Optional question (239 response(s), 8 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 191



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

How important is this priority for you?

74 (30.3%)

74 (30.3%)

142 (58.2%)

142 (58.2%)

20 (8.2%)

20 (8.2%)4 (1.6%)

4 (1.6%) 4 (1.6%)

4 (1.6%)

Very important Important Not important Not important at all Don’t know

Question options

Page 20 of 32

Optional question (244 response(s), 3 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 192



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Proposed objective 8 - Asset ManagementWe will continue to provide the best
facilities, vehicles, equipment and personal protective equipment (PPE) we can

afford, enabling us to deliver a professional service to our communities.

164 (68.6%)

164 (68.6%)

65 (27.2%)

65 (27.2%)

6 (2.5%)

6 (2.5%) 4 (1.7%)

4 (1.7%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 21 of 32

Optional question (239 response(s), 8 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 193



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

How important is this priority for you?

169 (69.3%)

169 (69.3%)

67 (27.5%)

67 (27.5%)

4 (1.6%)

4 (1.6%) 3 (1.2%)

3 (1.2%) 1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

Very important Important Not important Not important at all Don’t know

Question options

Page 22 of 32

Optional question (244 response(s), 3 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 194



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

What gender do you identify as?

101 (43.2%)

101 (43.2%)

109 (46.6%)

109 (46.6%)

23 (9.8%)

23 (9.8%) 1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

Male Female Prefer not to say Another gender – please identify

Question options

Page 23 of 32

Optional question (234 response(s), 13 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 195



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Is the gender you identify with the same as your sex registered at birth?

220 (90.5%)

220 (90.5%)

2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)
21 (8.6%)

21 (8.6%)

Yes No Prefer not to say

Question options

Page 24 of 32

Optional question (243 response(s), 4 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 196



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

How old are you?

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

3 (1.2%)

3 (1.2%)

15 (6.1%)

15 (6.1%)

22 (9.0%)

22 (9.0%)

44 (18.0%)

44 (18.0%)

55 (22.5%)

55 (22.5%)

55 (22.5%)

55 (22.5%)

23 (9.4%)

23 (9.4%)

26 (10.7%)

26 (10.7%)

16-17 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75 or older Prefer not to say

Question options

Page 25 of 32

Optional question (244 response(s), 3 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 197



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Which race or ethnicity best describes you?

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

4 (1.6%)

4 (1.6%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

184 (75.7%)

184 (75.7%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)
11 (4.5%)

11 (4.5%)

31 (12.8%)

31 (12.8%) 3 (1.2%)

3 (1.2%)

Asian/British Asian: Bangladeshi Asian/British Asian: Indian Asian/British Asian: Pakistani

Asian/British Asian: Other Black/British Black: African Black/British Black: Caribbean

Mixed Race: Black & White Mixed Race: Other White: British White: Irish White: European

Prefer not to say Another race or ethnicity – please identify:

Question options

Page 26 of 32

Optional question (243 response(s), 4 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 198



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Do you have a disability, long-term illness, or health condition?

49 (20.2%)

49 (20.2%)

170 (70.0%)

170 (70.0%)

24 (9.9%)

24 (9.9%)

Yes No Prefer not to say

Question options

Page 27 of 32

Optional question (243 response(s), 4 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 199



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Which of the following terms best describes your sexual orientation?

3 (1.2%)

3 (1.2%)

6 (2.5%)

6 (2.5%)

2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)

183 (75.0%)

183 (75.0%)

45 (18.4%)

45 (18.4%)

5 (2.0%)

5 (2.0%)

Asexual Bisexual Gay man Heterosexual or straight Prefer not to say Other – please identify:

Question options

Page 28 of 32

Optional question (244 response(s), 3 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 200



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

What do you consider your religion to be?

109 (44.7%)

109 (44.7%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

4 (1.6%)

4 (1.6%)

86 (35.2%)

86 (35.2%)

40 (16.4%)

40 (16.4%)
4 (1.6%)

4 (1.6%)

Christian Hindu Muslim No religion Prefer not to say Other religion – please identify:

Question options

Page 29 of 32

Optional question (244 response(s), 3 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 201



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Is there anything about what is being proposed that you feel will either positively or
negatively affect you more than other people?

29 (12.2%)

29 (12.2%)

208 (87.8%)

208 (87.8%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 30 of 32

Optional question (237 response(s), 10 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 202



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

Further information can be found in our privacy notice, available at:
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/data-protection/service-
specific-privacy-notices/  Would you like to be kept informed about this consultation

and/or be ...

95 (41.1%)

95 (41.1%)

136 (58.9%)

136 (58.9%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 31 of 32

Optional question (231 response(s), 16 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 203



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 07 December 2021

If you answered 'yes' to the previous question, please select your preference:

3 (60.0%)

3 (60.0%)

2 (40.0%)

2 (40.0%)

Yes, I would like to be kept informed Yes, I would like to be further involved

Question options

Page 32 of 32

Optional question (5 response(s), 242 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 204



REPORT TITLE: SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED DISPOSALS

Cabinet Date 30th March 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To approve the proposed Schedule of Disposals in order to meet capital 
receipts targets.

Recommendations

 In relation to both Appendices listed below, that Cabinet:

1. confirms that those sites described at Appendix A (Exempt) which have 
previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in September 2021 and not 
yet disposed of, continue to be declared surplus to requirements.

2. declares the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of Disposals 
Appendix B (Exempt) surplus to the Council’s land and property 
requirements.

3. Delegates authority to the Assistant Director – Asset Management and 
Property Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader/Cabinet Member for Finance and Change and Council’s 
Chief Financial Officer.

Reasons for 
recommendations

Through the approval of the Schedule of Disposals, and the declaration of 
these sites as surplus to requirements, Officers will be well placed to 
achieve best value for the Council in the disposal of these sites, thus 
contributing towards capital receipt targets. 

Resource 
Implications

The disposal of these sites in accordance with the Policy for the Disposal of 
Property will generate capital receipts for the Council that will be used for 
overall financing of the capital programme. 

Capital receipts will continue to be closely monitored by Asset Management 
and Property Services (AMPS) and Finance to ensure we have sufficient 
resources to deliver the councils capital programme. 

Page 205

Agenda Item 13



Background 
Documents

Cabinet decision on Schedule of Proposed Disposals September 2021

Statutory Authority Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Neil Corbett, Assistant Director – Asset Management and Property 
Services
Tel. no: 01452 328813
Email: neil.corbett@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Timeline On-going

Page 206

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=36017
mailto:neil.corbett@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1. As part of the council’s savings programme, the council is undertaking a challenging 
disposals programme by seeking to achieve £47m in capital receipts over a four year 
period, April 2021 to March 2025. 

2. The programme has been developed across the organisation, led by AMPS in 
consultation with the Property Board who challenges the use of property across the 
council, in order to ensure the council’s property portfolio is being effectively used to meet 
the future needs of the business.  Property and land are recommended to Cabinet to be 
declared surplus prior to disposal to contribute towards the savings programme.  

3. A schedule of sites was declared surplus by Cabinet in September 2021 and it was 
agreed that an update on these sales and any further sites which Property Board 
recommend should be declared surplus would be submitted to Cabinet early 2022.  In line 
with the Policy for the Disposal of Property the approval given by Cabinet is valid for 6 
months or until next update report is submitted, therefore a new decision confirming 
approval to dispose must be given in order to progress activity in achieving these capital 
receipts.

Schedule of Disposals 

4. The attached Schedule of Disposals at Appendix A (Exempt) was approved by Cabinet in 
September 2021.  In accordance with the Policy for the Disposal of Property, AMPS are 
now seeking confirmation of the decision to dispose of previously approved sites that have 
not yet been sold.  The schedule has been updated to show completed sales and sales 
agreed and any changes to previously agreed disposal strategies.  

5. The attached Schedule of Disposals at Appendix B (Exempt) outlines new proposed 
disposals for 2022 onwards.  The sites listed have been recommended as surplus by 
service areas and AMPS to Property Board, and Officers from the Development and 
Disposals team within AMPS have recommended the most appropriate disposal strategy 
to deliver best value for the Council.  Property Board has approved the recommended 
disposal strategies.

6. One Gloucestershire Estate partners have been consulted about potential asset sales as 
part of the One Public Estate Programme.

7. Capital receipts received and sales agreed to date for 2021/22 currently totals £6.529m 
with further sales being negotiated.  Approval of the appended Schedules of Disposals will 
enable new sites to be programmed for disposal to help achieve capital receipt targets.

8. Officers will provide an updated schedule to Cabinet in late 2022, delivering an update on 
sales to date and any further sites which Property Board recommend should be declared 
surplus by Cabinet. 

Page 207



Completed Sales

9. Since the last report to Cabinet in September 2021, the following land has been sold by 
Gloucestershire County Council:

ADDRESS VALUE PURCHASER
Land on Paygrove Lane (west), Longlevens, 
Gloucester

£880,000 JBRT Developments Ltd

33 Paygrove Lane, Longlevens, Gloucester £300,000 JBRT Developments Ltd
Land at The Berry House, Nailsworth (overage 
payment relating to land sold in March 2020)

£72,800 Private Individual

Land adjacent Dover House, Northleach £22,500 Private Individual
Land fronting Oakdale Cottage, Broad Street, 
Littledean

£700 Private Individual

Options

10. Cabinet are asked to confirm that the properties and land described at Appendix A 
(Exempt) which have previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in September 2021 and 
not yet disposed of, continue to be surplus to requirements.

11. Cabinet are asked to declare all sites on the Schedule of Disposals Appendix B (Exempt) 
as surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements.  Should Cabinet choose to 
identify any specific sites which they do not wish to declare surplus at this point, Officers 
will remove them from the Schedule and return them to Cabinet for decision at a future 
date.

Risks 

12. Should Cabinet elect to remove any specific site from the Schedule of Disposals, this 
could cause a delay in the disposal process for these specific sites – which could have an 
overall impact on the delivery of future capital receipts targets. The Council is best able to 
respond to the market and opportunities if sites are already declared surplus to 
requirements by Cabinet – enabling the achievement of best value. There is a significant 
risk that short delays in decision making can lead to long delays in the disposal. 

Financial implications

13. Capital receipts generated from the disposal of property will be used for overall financing 
of the capital programme.

Climate change implications

14. The proposed disposal of the properties listed in the schedule will provide an opportunity 
for the Council to divest itself of property which, in some cases, does not meet modern 
day design standards and whose heating systems need to be replaced to meet the 
Council’s climate change strategy.

Equality implications

Page 208



15. In recommending sites as surplus to Council requirements, and in compiling the Schedule 
of Disposals officers across the Council have paid due regard to the impact on groups with 
protected characteristics. Some sites on the Schedule are surplus to requirements due to 
changing plans for office accommodation used by the Council, and where these buildings 
are currently occupied by our employees, or those of our partners, the impact of the 
closure of the building and the relocation of their place of work will be taken into 
consideration. Information on the impact will be gathered through the collection of data 
concerning the individual members of staff who will need to be relocated. Where required, 
due regard will be paid to the needs of staff to ensure that any issues relating to the new 
workplace are considered (eg specific chair requirements, disabled parking spaces etc) in 
order to mitigate any negative impact.  Where buildings have been providing a service 
those users have been catered for in other buildings. 

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

16. A DPIA is not required for this decision.

Social value implications

17. There are no social value implications regarding the disposal of council property.

Consultation feedback

18. Consultation has taken place with the Lead Cabinet Member, Property Board, service 
areas and other organisations where appropriate in the development of this Schedule of 
Disposals.

19. Local members are consulted prior to land and property being marketed.

20. As each site is disposed of, the Development and Disposals team will do so in accordance 
with the Council’s ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’ which contains clear consultation 
requirements.  

Officer recommendations

21. Officers recommend that Cabinet declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of 
Disposals surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements, and delegates 
authority to the Assistant Director – Asset Management and Property Services to dispose 
of these sites in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change and the 
Council’s Chief Financial Officer.

Performance management/follow-up 

22. In accordance with the ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’, Officers will provide an update 
to Cabinet late 2022 on the progress against the Schedule of Disposals and developing 
plans for future disposals. This will be monitored by the Property Board at regular 
meetings and by the Senior Management Team in AMPS.

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 211

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 215

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22
	6 Southfield House Semi-independent Accommodation and Support Services for Young People
	7 Market Shaping and Review of the Estates & Commissioning Strategies
	V5 Market engagement review  analysis of the Gloucestershire care market maps embedded

	8 Adult Social Care Technology Strategy 2022 - 2025
	Adult Social Care Technology Strategy FINAL

	9 Concessionary fare system procurement
	10 Bus Back Better - Gloucestershire's Enhanced Partnership
	11 Social Value – sustaining the recovery and levelling up.
	12 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk Management  Plan 2022-2026
	GFRS CRMP 2022-2026 Cabinet Version
	1_Project_Detailed_Report_Gloucestershire_Fire_And_Rescue_Service_Draft_Community_Risk_Management_Plan_2022-2025_Public_Consul_13_April_21_To_07_December_21
	Project Report
	13 April 2021 - 07 December 2021

	Have Your Say Gloucestershire
	Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Draft Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2025 Public Consultation
	Highlights



	13 Schedule of Proposed Disposals
	Appendix A Exempt Schedule of Disposals v3
	Appendix B Exempt Schedule of Disposals


